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ABOUT
THIS REPORT AND
SCOPE OF REPORTING

By reporti ng on the fi nancial and non-fi nancial performance of 
the Group, SacOil Holdings Limited’s integrated report aims to 
provide an understandable and complete view of the business for 
the Group’s shareholders, potenti al investors and stakeholders.

SacOil Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in South Africa in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and complies with the 

principles of King III, unless otherwise stated, the Companies Act and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and other legislative requirements. The 

Company subscribes to high ethical standards and principles of corporate governance. In addition, the Company also adheres to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) in compiling its annual financial statements. Accordingly, we will report not only on our financial performance for the year 

under review but also on all other non-financial indicators, including sustainability by disclosing information on safety, social, environmental and 

economic impacts and influences, both positive and negative, internal and external on all our stakeholders.

Considerable effort has been expended on presenting concise, focused information – the content of this integrated report is deemed to be useful and 

relevant to our stakeholders, enabling them to evaluate the ability of SacOil Holdings Limited to create and sustain stakeholder value. A combined 

Chairman and CEO’s report is provided, offering the reader a comprehensive, integrated, high level overview of the Group’s performance and outlook.

SCOPE OF REPORTING
This integrated report covers the financial year  ended 
29 February 2012 and is released within 2012. It 
provides an overview of the operations, financial 
performance and integrated sustainability across all 
operating subsidiaries.

More detailed additi onal informati on is provided on the Group’s website: www.sacoilholdings.com.

Photo: “Basket full of sunshine” – Sol Malope

INTEGRATED BUSINESS
SacOil Holdings’ commitment to an integrated and sustainable business 
approach is illustrated by its vision and mission as well as the deepening  
management resources in health, safety, environment, transformation 
and risk, aiding economic, social and environmental sustainability.
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VISION
SacOil’s vision is to build a balanced portf olio upstream oil and gas business with 
interests in all phases of the cycle “High Impact” explorati on, appraisal and producti on 
coupled with a uniquely African footprint.

MISSION
To be a fi rst-class contender in the African oil and gas arena while leveraging our 
heritage through assets with signifi cant upside potenti al and uti lising our access to 
European capital markets.

DEFINITIONS

A vision is an arti culated picture of the Company in the future that serves as a reminder of what the Company is trying to 

achieve.

A mission is the purpose of the Company. The mission statement guides the acti ons of the Company, spells out its overall 

goal, provides a path, and guides decision-making. It provides a framework within which the Company’s strategies are 

formulated.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT
The integrated report contains forward-looking statements that, unless otherwise indicated, refl ect the Group and Company’s expectati ons as at 
23 August 2012. Actual results may diff er materially from the Group and Company’s expectati ons if known and unknown risks or uncertainti es aff ect 
its business or if esti mates or assumpti ons prove inaccurate. The Group and Company cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will 
materialise and accordingly, readers are cauti oned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Group and Company disclaims 
any intenti on and assumes no obligati on to update or revise any forward-looking statement even if new informati on becomes available as a result of 
future events or for any other reason.

This report may contain forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements as to the Group and Company’s business, results of 
operati ons, fi nancial conditi on, liquidity, performance and prospects, and trends and developments in the markets in which the Group and Company 
operates. Forward-looking statements include all statements other than statements of historical fact and in some cases may be identi fi ed by terms 
such as “targets”, “believes”, “expects”, “anti cipates”, “esti mates”, “aims”, “intends”, “will”, “may”, “would”, “could” or, in each case, their negati ve or 
comparable terms. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances that 
may or may not occur. A number of factors, which may be beyond the control of the Group and Company, its affi  liates, agents and advisers, could cause 
actual results and developments to diff er materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements in this report refl ect the Group and Company’s view with respect to future events as at the date hereof and are subject to 
known and unknown risks, uncertainti es and assumpti ons relati ng to the Group and Company’s operati ons, results of operati ons, fi nancial conditi on, 
growth, strategy, liquidity and the markets in which the Group and Company operates. No assurances can be given that the forward-looking statements 
in this report will be realised. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. The Group and Company, its affi  liates, agents and 
advisers undertake no obligati on and do not intend to update any forward-looking statements in this report to refl ect events or circumstances aft er the 
date of this report.
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With Africa predicted to contribute 20% of the 
world’s oil by 2020, SacOil is intent on being a 
leading African independent upstream oil and 
gas company, with a balanced portfolio of 
African assets.
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TECHNICAL:
“BOE”   Barrels of Oil Equivalents, a metric used by oil production companies and oil transportation 

companies to measure both the rate of oil production or transportation (i.e. in barrel of oil 

equivalents per day) as well as total proven reserves in the ground 

“E & P”  Exploration & Production

“EWT”  Extended well test

“GIIP”  Gas Initially In Place

“MBOE”  One Thousand Barrels of Oil Equivalents, i.e. one thousand BOE

“MMBOE”  Million Barrels of Oil Equivalents, i.e. one million BOE

“MMBOED”  Million Barrels of Oil Equivalents per Day and measures a daily rate of oil production

“OBC”  Ocean Bottom Cable Survey

“STOIIP”  Stock Tank Oil Initially In Place

“Sustainability”   A strategy that drives long-term corporate growth and profitability by mandating the inclusion of 

environmental and social issues in the business model. Unlike corporate social responsibility which 

retroactively addresses issues, sustainability implies a forward trajectory, not looking to the past 

actions of a Company, but looking forward by adapting the nature of the Company

FINANCIAL:
DEFINITIONS AND TERMS USED IN THE INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

“Admission”  Admission of all the SacOil Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM on or about 8 April 2011

“AIM”  Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange

“Block III”  Block III, Albertine Graben in the DRC

“CGU”  Cash generating unit

“CSDP”  A Central Securities Depository Participant, appointed by individual SacOil shareholders for the 

purpose of and in regard to Dematerialisation in terms of the Security Services Act, No. 36 of 2004, 

as amended

“Dematerialise” or 

“Dematerialisation”   The process whereby physical share certificates are replaced with electronic records evidencing 

ownership of SacOil ordinary shares for the purposes of Strate, as contemplated in the Securities 

Services Act, No. 36 of 2004, as amended

“DIG”  DIG Oil (Proprietary) Limited (Registration number: 2007/003931/07), a private company 

incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa, which is controlled by Andrea Brown

“DRC”  Democratic Republic of the Congo

“EER”   Energy Equity Resources Limited (Registration number: 5308516), a company duly incorporated in 

accordance with the laws of England and Wales

“IAS” International Accounting Standards

“IFRS”  International Financial Reporting Standards

“IT”  Information Technology

“JSE”  JSE Limited (Registration number: 2005/022839/06), a company duly registered and incorporated 

with limited liability under the Company laws of South Africa and licensed as an exchange under the 

Securities Services Act No. 36 of 2004, as amended

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
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“LR” or “Listings Requirements”  Listings Requirements of the JSE

“LSE”  London Stock Exchange

“NCI”  Non-Controlling Interest

“OPL 233”  Oil prospecting licence No. 233 over concession block 233 in Nigeria

“OPL 281” Oil prospecting licence No. 281 over concession block 281 in Nigeria

“Principal Risk”  The risk of losing the amount invested due to bankruptcy or default. There is always the possibility 

that through some set of circumstances, invested money will decrease or completely disappear 

In this case, full principal value is lost, not just profits

“PSC” Production Sharing Contract

“Q1 2012”  Quarter 1 – 2012 (January 2012  – March 2012)

“Q3 2012”  Quarter 3 – 2012 (July 2012  – September 2012) 

“Rencap”  Renaissance BJM Securities (Proprietary) Limited (South Africa), a company duly incorporated in 

accordance with the laws of the Republic of South Africa with registration number: 1987/000175/07

“RSA” or

“South Africa” The Republic of South Africa

“Ordinary Shares” or 

“SacOil Ordinary Shares” Ordinary shares in the issued capital of SacOil

“SacOil (Proprietary) Limited”   South Africa Congo Oil Company (Proprietary) Limited (Registration number: 2007/024617/07), a 

private company incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa and which company’s 

shares are held 50 per cent by SacOil and 50 per cent by DIG

“Semliki”  Semliki Energy SPRL (Registration number: KG8779/M), a company incorporated in the DRC and 

which company’s shares are held 50 per cent by SacOil and 50 per cent by DIG

“S&EC”  Social & Ethics Committee

“SENS”  The Securities Exchange News Service of the JSE

“Shareholders” SacOil shareholders

“Total”   Total E&P RDC (Registration number: 712 081 382 RCS), a company incorporated in accordance with 

the laws of France

“UK”  United Kingdom

“VWAP”  Volume Weighted Average Price

“ZAR”  South African Rand

“External Hope” – Sol Malope
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CORPORATE

STRATEGY

THE RESULT IS A 
STRONG GROWTH 
IN SHAREHOLDER

VALUE

OCT/NOV 2010
OPL 281/OPL 233
Farm-in for 20% 

parti cipati ng interest

FEB 2011
Public Investment 

Corporati on  
(South Africa) takes  

a stake in SacOil
OCT 2010

Announcement of 
intenti on to list on AIM

SEPT 2010
Completi on Block III, 

further equity 
investment from 

Metropolitan Asset
 Managers and 

STANLIB

JUNE 2010
Presidenti al decree 

Block III

•   Build an African footprint with a balanced portf olio of assets
 – The opportunity to moneti se assets

•   Explore early stage opportuniti es in Africa with low entry costs 
 – Established credibility and support to advance projects 

•   Seek partnerships with major oil and gas companies with extensive 
experience in Africa

 – Low/manageable funding requirements

•   Target discovered, but undeveloped, or near-term producing 
assets 

 – Leverage the value curve by bringing assets in to account



CORPORATE

MILESTONES
DEFINITION 
A Corporate Milestone is a significant event or stage in the progress and development of the Company

•   A well-structured independent emerging 
upstream oil and gas company;

•   South African-based with a strong 
entrepreneurial management team;

• Assets with signifi cant upside potenti al;

•  Aggressive organic and acquisiti ve growth 
plans; and

•  Access to European Capital Markets through 
April 2011 AIM listi ng.

T H E  C A S E  F O R

INVESTMENT
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JAN 2012 
Appointment of 
J Fouche as Vice 

President – Technical and New 
Business and W de Meyer as 
Vice President – Commercial

APR 2011
Listi ng on AIM and 

appointment of
J Bentley and

 B Guest as 
Non-Executi ve 

Directors

MAR 2011
Farm-in agreement 
for Total to acquire

60% interest
in Block III

MAY 2011
Appointment of
B Cerff  as Vice

President – Operati ons

MAR 2012 
Total increases
its interest in

Block III to
66,6%
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW

DEFINITION
Corporate Overview is  a brief synopsis of the Group’s operations comprising elements drawn from the 
Group’s Strategy, Vision and Mission noting important future-dated and already accomplished deliverables

SacOil is a dual listed JSE and AIM company whose remit is to build an African 
independent upstream oil and gas business with a balanced portf olio of assets 
in Africa.

SacOil focuses on opportuniti es within proven hydrocarbon basins, across the 
E&P spectrum from producti on, appraisal/near-term producti on through to 
potenti ally “High Impact” explorati on opportuniti es. 

SacOil’s interests and prospecti ve interests include opportuniti es in Nigeria 
and the DRC.

SacOil has a highly experienced 
Board and executi ve management 
team with proven experti se in 
African oil and gas explorati on and 
development as well as in project 
management and fi nance.

SacOil is willing and able to operate 
through the explorati on phase, but 
will focus on the establishment 
of strategic industry partnerships 
through the appraisal and 
development phase to manage 
portf olio risk and to ensure 
that the opti mum technical and 
operati ng skills are applied to each 
opportunity.

“Swazi Women” – Sol Malope
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SEMLIKI

DIG OIL

SACOIL 281 NIGERIA

Core 
assets NIGERIA: OPL 281

SACOIL 233 NIGERIA

NIGERIA: OPL 233

SacOil Holdings Limited

68%32% 100% 100%

TOTAL E&P EER

20% 20%66,66% 20%18,34% 20%

DRC: BLOCK  III

Non-core 
assets

South Africa:
Manganese Plant

100%

CORPORATE INTERESTS AS AT 17 AUGUST 2012
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

DEFINITION
Capital Structure is the make-up of the liabilities and shareholders’ equity side of the statement of financial position, 
specifically the debt-to-equity ratio and the mixture of short and long-term maturities. 

AS AT 17 AUGUST 2012

SHARES IN ISSUE 918 268 379

KEY SHAREHOLDERS

ENCHA GROUP AND ASSOCIATES 24,89%
PUBLIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION 1  17,27%
METROPOLITAN ASSET MANAGERS 1 9,94%
PEREGRINE EQUITIES PTY  LIMITED 1 4,58%
INVESTEC PRIVATE BANK 1 3,00%
MANAGEMENT  2,27%

SA INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS1

OPTIONS IN ISSUE 51 817 666

TICKERS SAC AIM , SCL JSE , SCL SJ BLOOMBERG

CURRENT
SHARE PRICE ** ZAR 0,38 GBP 0,03

CURRENT MARKET
CAPITALISATION ** ZAR 349m GBP 28m)

AVERAGE DAILY
TRADING VOLUME
(for 3 months***)

2 466m

* as of 17 August 2012
** as of 17 August 2012 Source: Sharenet
*** as of 17 August 2012 Source: I-net



9
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

SOCIAL & 
ETHICS COMMITTEE

The Board appointed two Directors 
and one prescribed offi  cer to SacOil’s 
S&EC as per regulatory requirements.

The Chairman of the S&EC reports 
formally to the Board on its proceedings 
aft er each meeti ng on all matt ers 
within its duti es and responsibiliti es.

A member of the S&EC att ends Annual 
General Meeti ngs to report on the 
Committ ee’s acti viti es to Shareholders 
so as to ensure transparency.

The role of the Social & Ethics 
Committ ee (S&EC) is to monitor the 
company’s acti viti es with regards 
to any relevant legislati on, legal 
requirement or prevailing code of best 
practi ce relati ng to:
• social and economic development;
• good corporate citizenship;
•  the environment, health and public 

safety;
• consumer relationships; and
• labour and employment.

“Life” – Sol Malope
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DEFINITION
Sustainability is a strategy that drives long-term corporate growth and profitability by mandating the inclusion of 
environmental and social issues in the business model. Unlike corporate social responsibility, which retroactively addresses 
issues, sustainability implies a forward trajectory, not looking to the past actions of a company, but looking forward by 
adapting the nature of the Company. 

PURPOSE 

To generate a maximum increase in Group and Company, consumer and employee value by embracing opportunities and 
managing risks derived from environmental and social developments.

ENVIRONMENT
SacOil’s policy is for its operati ons to have as litt le impact on the environment as possible. Where operati ons impact 
communiti es, it is determined to protect what communiti es already have and, where possible, improve the living conditi ons 
if required. This will extend to protecti ng water courses, minimising polluti on and noise abatement programmes.

At the outset of any explorati on operati on baseline conditi ons, will be established and changes thereaft er monitored. 
These programmes will be directed to water and air quality programmes primarily with adverse trends being identi fi ed, 
sourced and remedied.

Bush land, vegetati on and trees will be protected as far as possible during any road constructi on or camp creati on; where 
damage is incurred new appropriate vegetati on will be rehabilitated or new appropriate vegetati on will be planted.

The aforementi oned is at the explorati on phase and should development and producti on operati ons ensue then 
environmental programmes will be developed and implemented commensurate with the scale of the operati on.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
SacOil will require that, wherever possible, indigenous people will be employed and parti cipate in its operati ons. SacOil 
and its contractors will conduct safety training programmes immediately aft er engagement and before commencement 
of work. This will be followed up by refresher courses to maintain acceptable levels of safety. All teaching will be based 
on the premise that every person is responsible for his own safety, and awareness of potenti al danger will be stressed.

Accident monitoring and preventi on programmes will be implemented and stati sti cs produced. The intenti on of SacOil 
is that any explorati on, development or producti on site has a nil accident frequency rate. However, close surveillance will 
be maintained to ensure that the accident frequency rates compare favourably with internati onal oil and gas best practi ce.

It is envisaged that when SacOil moves into the producti on phase of operati ons, safety standards will be commensurate 
with industry norms and safety programmes and will be operated by industry safety specialists and outsourced, where 
applicable.

COMMUNITY
SacOil will however, where possible, aim to improve the lives of local communiti es with the provision of appropriate 
community support, with a focus on educati on and medical needs.

Should explorati on be successful and producti on commences, programmes and systems will be developed that will be 
aligned with good oil fi eld practi ce and management. These programmes and systems will be consistent with any existi ng 
oil producti on operati ons in the area and may extend to schools, farms and general community development.

SUSTAINABILITY

“Togetherness” – Sol Malope
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SacOil ARTIST
PROFILE

Solly Malope was born in 1953 in Lady 
Selbourne, Pretoria. His father, himself a 
creati ve man, encouraged his young son to 
produce some drawings. With ti me, Malope 
mastered the art which became his life. When 
Malope was at secondary school (1971), he won 
an art exhibiti on ahead of other black students 
in Pretoria. Malope found himself a market at 
an early age as his fi nal products were oft en sold 
through a curio shop in Pretoria.

“I AM VERY CLOSE TO HUMAN BEINGS; I LIKE 
HUMAN BEINGS…IT IS THROUGH MY MESSAGE 
ON PAPER THAT I WOULD LIKE TO BRING PEOPLE 
TOGETHER.” – SOLLY MALOPE

Malope trained as a teacher at the Hebron Training Insti tute 
where the principal of the school, Mr Holtz, became very 
supporti ve of Malope’s passion for art. Mr Holtz, a Swiss 
nati onal, inspired and encouraged Malope and they became 
very close, spending many Saturdays at his home looking 
through his art books and at his art works, all of which were 
originals. Eventually Malope received a bursary to study at 
Ndaleni Art School  in Richmond, KwaZulu-Natal.
 
While at Ndaleni Art School, he admired the work of European 
arti sts – in parti cular Van Gogh, Mati sse and Picasso. But he 
was very much infl uenced by the African mask and used its 
traditi onal styles and designs as moti fs in his work. Malope was 
one of the many arti sts exhibiti ng their work in the backyards 
of sympatheti c diplomats, the Canadian embassy buying much 
of his work around 1978. However, he sti ll needed to earn a 
steady income, and in 1979 he went to teach at Patogeng Higher 
Primary School.
 
Malope, who eventually used various media – pastel, coloured 
pencils and charcoal for his portraits and abstract works – 
presented his fi rst solo exhibiti on in 1979 at the Volkskas 
Building in Pretoria. At the ti me he was a member of the South 
African Associati on of Arts. He was also the fi rst black arti st to 
exhibit his work at the Montmarte Café in the Burlington Arcade 
of Pretoria. In 1982 Malope was awarded a scholarship by the 
Italian embassy to pursue his art studies in Florence.

Malope explains what inspired him in his work, “I am very close 
to human beings; I like human beings…it is through my message 
on paper that I would like to bring people together”. His works 
include, Mother Earth, 1978 (Pencil on Paper), Shadows of Life, 
1978 (Pastel), Man Hiding, 1978 (Pastel), You and Your Shadow, 
1979 (Pastel), Creati on, 1978 (Pastel), Imaginati on, 1978 
(Pastel), In Your Own Mirror, 1979 (Pastel), A Face Not Familiar, 
1979 (Pastel), Solitude in the Moon, 1978 (Pastel) and Playing 
Time, 1978 (Pencil).
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“Xhosa Women” – Sol Malope
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DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT

DEFINITION
Directors’ Responsibility Statement is a written assurance from the Board of Directors that all Company policies are 
followed: 
i] in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable Accounting Standards and there are no material departures; 
ii]  selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgements and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the 
financial year and of the profit of the Company for that period.

The directors of SacOil acknowledge their responsibility to ensure the integrity of the report and have collecti vely assessed 
the content of this integrated annual report and believe it addresses the material issues and is a fair representati on of the 
integrated performance of the Group and Company, based on the recommendati ons of the Audit and Risk Committ ee. 

The Audit and Risk Committ ee and the Board have applied their minds to the report and believe that it addresses all 
material issues and represents fairly the integrated performance of the organisati on.

The material issues defi ned and set out below are dealt with throughout this integrated report.

CATEGORY ISSUE DESCRIPTION
ECONOMIC GROWTH DELIVERY OF SUSTAINABLE

VALUE TO STAKEHOLDERS

LIQUIDITY ENSURING SUFFICIENT LIQUIDITY 
AND CAPITAL TO MEET BUSINESS 
OBJECTIVES

PROJECT EXECUTION EFFICIENT RISK-CONTROLLED 
DELIVERY OF QUALITY PROJECTS

FINANCIAL INTEGRATED REPORTING PROVIDE A CONCISE OVERVIEW 
OF THE GROUP AND COMPANY 
THROUGH INTEGRATING SOCIAL, 
ENVIRONMENTAL, ECONOMIC AND 
FINANCIAL ISSUES THAT IMPACT ITS 
BUSINESS OPERATIONS

SOCIAL
PEOPLE EMPOWERMENT AND UPSKILLING 

EMPLOYEES

SAFETY SAFETY AS A PRIORITY

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF OPERATIONS ACROSS THE BOARD COMMITMENT 
TO ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

MAIN COMPONENTS OF INTEGRATED REPORTING

“Venda Women” – Sol Malope
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“Someone’s sitting in the shade today because 
someone planted a tree a long time ago.”
Warren Buffett
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

DEFINITION
Principal Risk is the risk of losing the amount invested due to bankruptcy or default. There is always the possibility 
that through some set of circumstances, invested money will decrease or completely disappear. In this case, full 
principal value is lost not just profits.

SacOil’s Board of Directors is charged with ensuring 
that the Group and Company have and maintain 
an eff ecti ve, effi  cient and transparent system of 
fi nancial and risk management and internal controls.

An investment in SacOil is suited to investors who are capable of evaluati ng 
the risks and merits of such investment and who have suffi  cient resources 
to bear any loss that might result from such investment. 

SacOil’s business and operati ons may be aff ected by a number of risks and uncertainti es 
in its day-to-day acti viti es. The principal risks can be categorised as strategic, 
operati onal and fi nancial risks. Risk management plans have been developed to pro-
acti vely miti gate the identi fi ed risks.

Strategic risk relates to the possibility that implementati on of the strategy may not 
deliver the results expected by management, the Directors and Shareholders. The 
implementati on of strategy is closely monitored by the Board taking into account 
both internal and external factors. Strategy is modifi ed as necessary based on changes 
in circumstances, operati ons and results.

Operati onal risk results from the diverse nature of the Group and Company’s 
operati ng acti viti es which are carried out in a number of diff erent countries. The oil 
and gas industry is inherently risky. The Group and Company’s operati ng expenses 
and capital expenditures will increase in subsequent years as personnel and equipment 
associated with advancing explorati on, development and commercial producti on of 
its properti es are added. 

“Looking to the future” – Sol Malope
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The amounts and timing of expenditures will depend on the progress of on-going 
exploration and development, the results of consultants’ analysis and recommendations, 
the rate at which operating losses are incurred, the execution of any joint venture 
agreements with strategic partners, the Group and Company’s acquisition of additional 
projects and other factors, many of which are beyond the Group and Company’s 
control.

There are operational risks associated with:

• oil and gas exploration and production;

• the estimation of reserves and resources;

• decline rates experienced on oil and gas wells;

• the estimation of the costs of developing and producing oil and gas; and

•  Health, Safety, Environment and Security (HSES) risk in countries where SacOil and 
its subsidiaries operate.

Financial risk includes forecasts which are dependent on judgements and 
assumptions made by the Board and management. Assumptions include but are not 
limited to the oil price, capital cost, operating cost, country fiscal and tax regimes. 
Negative movements in any or all of these assumptions could cause a project to 
become uneconomic. This could negatively impact on the value of the Group and 
Company and thus SacOil’s share price.

Taking into account factors such as the cost of operations, costs of processing 
equipment, quality of management, quality and availability of geological expertise 
and such other factors as government regulations, it may not always be possible for 
the Group and Company to accurately forecast cash flow, operating costs and 
economic returns.

External factors include political activities in Africa, changes in political leadership, 
fiscal terms and legislative and regulatory delays and amendments.

The Board’s objective is to have appropriate systems and internal controls in place in 
order to identify and, to the extent possible, pro-actively mitigate against the foregoing 
risks and uncertainties. This is achieved by having in place, in each area of operation, 
an experienced country manager along with suitably qualified staff.
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DEFINITION
Board of Directors is a body of elected or appointed members who jointly oversee the activities of the Company. The 
Board’s activities are determined by the powers, duties and responsibilities delegated to it or conferred on it by an 
authority outside itself (by-laws) and shareholders.

RICHARD JOHN LINNELL 68
Independent Non-Executi ve Chairman
Appointed 19 September 2002

MEMBER OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Richard Linnell is an experienced geologist, who has worked with various companies which now form part 
of the BHP Billiton (SA) Group, culminating in running the Samancor manganese operations and Billiton’s 
exploration and development activities in South Africa. Richard is a former non-executive director of 
BHP Billiton (SA) Limited is also Chairman of Independent Power South Africa.

BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

JOHN BENTLEY 64
Independent Non-Executi ve Director
Appointed 1 May 2011

CHAIRMAN OF NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND MEMBER OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

John has over 40 years’ experience in the natural resources sector. He was Managing Director of Gencor’s 
Brazilian mining company, Sao Bento Mineracao, from 1988 to 1993 when he became Chief Executive of 
Engen’s Exploration and Production division. In 1996 he was instrumental in floating Energy Africa Ltd 
on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and became Chief Executive for the following five years, building 
it into one of the leading African independent oil and gas companies. More recently, John was Executive 
Chairman of FirstAfrica Oil plc. and a Non-Executive Director of Adastra Minerals Ltd. He currently 
serves on the Boards of a number of resource companies including as Chairman of Faroe Petroleum plc., 
Chairman of Scotgold Resources Ltd, Deputy Chairman of Wentworth Resources Ltd and Non-Executive 
Director of Resaca Exploitation Inc. and Kea Petroleum plc. John holds a degree in Metallurgy from Brunel 
University.

COLIN BIRD 68
Non-Executi ve Director
Appointed 9 April 2008

Colin has a Diploma in Mining Engineering, is a Fellow of the Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining, 
and is a certified Mine Manager both in the UK and South Africa. In the past, Colin was Technical 
and Operations Director of Costain Mining, which involved responsibility for operations in Argentina, 
Venezuela and Spain. Besides that Colin has been involved in the management of nickel, copper, gold and 
other diverse mineral operations. Colin has founded and floated several public companies in the resource 
sector and served on resource company Boards in UK, Canada and South Africa. Colin was also appointed 
to Executive Director in October 2010 and then back to Non-Executive in October 2011.



17
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

JAMES WILLIAM (BILL) GUEST 59
Independent Non-Executi ve Director
Appointed 1 May 2011

CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE AND MEMBER OF SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Bill has over 35 years of international exploration and production experience within the oil industry, in 
technical business development and senior management functions. He has 14 years of experience as a 
main Board director of London-listed oil and gas exploration and production companies with front line 
involvement in corporate and strategic development, PR/IR and fundraising. Recent roles included being 
the Managing Director of Endeavour Norway and President of Gulf Keystone Petroleum. Currently Bill 
is a Non-Executive Director of Hurricane Exploration plc. and Matra Petroleum. He holds a BSc Honours 
degree in Geology from Leicester University, UK and is a Fellow of the United Kingdom Energy Institute.

GONTSE SAMUEL MOSENEKE 31
Non-Executi ve Director
Appointed 31 August 2009

CHAIRMAN OF SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE AND MEMBER OF NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Gontse has a background in financial management and investment banking. He is part of the executive 
team at Encha Group Limited, a diversified investment holding company. He has also been involved in 
a project by the South African Oil and Gas Alliance to develop and market South Africa’s engineering 
and related services capability. Gontse holds a BSc degree in Statistics and Actuarial Sciences from the 
University of Cape Town, and a Diploma in Actuarial Techniques from the Institute of Actuaries (London, 
United Kingdom).

“Miners: The Long Wait” – Sol Malope
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DEFINITION
Management is a team of individuals at the highest level of organisational management who have the day-to-day 
responsibilities of managing the Company. They hold specific executive powers conferred onto them with and by 
authority of the Board of Directors and/or the Shareholders.

BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

ROBIN VELA 41
Chief Executi ve Offi  cer
Appointed 25 February 2008

Robin is the founding Chief Executive Officer of SacOil. He is a professionally qualified and experienced 
Investment Executive as well as a UK-qualified Chartered Accountant and Fellow of the UK Chartered 
Securities Institute. Robin is also an appointed consultant to the World Bank and International Finance 
Corporation. Robin has a verifiable track record of leading and closing corporate and investment-related 
transactions in the SADC region and London. He graduated with an Honours degree in Economics and 
Accounting from Bristol University.

BRADLEY ROBERT CERFF 39
Vice President – Operati ons
Appointed 9 May 2011

Bradley has over 15 years’ experience in the Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Industry. Bradley 
joined SacOil from PetroSA where he held the position of Regional Manager for East and West Africa. 
He was responsible for upstream assets and business development in East and West Africa, also for 
maintaining and developing a sustainable portfolio of exploration and production assets in West Africa. 
Bradley has experience in executing work programmes and budgets associated with upstream exploration 
assets in East and West Africa. He also has experience in identifying, evaluating and closing upstream 
exploration business development opportunities. Bradley has a Masters degree in Science and Business 
Administration focused on Foreign Direct Investment in the African oil and gas industries. He is also a 
member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
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WILLEM DE MEYER 56
Vice President – Commercial
Appointed 10 January 2012

Willem obtained a BSc Honours degree in Geophysics at the University of Pretoria and an MCom degree in 
Mineral Economics at the Rand Afrikaans University. His 25 years of technical and operational experience 
in the O&G industry with PetroSA, the National Oil Company of South Africa and SOEKOR, which he joined 
in 1982 and subsequently became part of PetroSA. Willem held a variety of senior managerial roles, 
including General Manager of E&P, Vice President of New Business and Chief Economist. A geophysicist 
by training, he is a member of the South African Geophysical Association and registered as a Professional 
Natural Scientist with the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions. Willem will, on a part-
time basis, retain his responsibilities as an Investment Analyst to the Earth Resource Investment Group.

JORDAAN FOUCHE 52
Vice President – Technical and New Business 
Appointed 10 January 2012

Jordaan holds an Honours degree in Geology and an MBA, both from the University of Stellenbosch. He 
has over 25 years’ experience in the O&G industry primarily as an investor in O&G companies and assets. 
Jordaan developed his operational and technical skills set as a geophysicist at SOEKOR/PetroSA, where he 
was a Project Leader and International Portfolio Manager and was extensively involved in both technical 
and commercial work, including seismic acquisition and interpretation, and the commercial analysis of 
O&G reservoirs. Jordaan was a founding member of the Earth Resource Investment Group, a leading and 
award-winning energy resource investment fund. Prior to that, he spent time as an Investment Analyst 
at Craton Capital and a Senior Project Manager at Industrial Development Corporation, a South African 
development finance institution.

CARINA DE BEER 41
Finance Director
Appointed 10 August 2010

Carina heads the financial division of SacOil. Carina is a Chartered Accountant (SA) and completed her 
articles with PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Carina has 13 years’ experience in corporate financial management and reporting, company secretarial 
practice, compliance and corporate governance. Carina has served as an executive member of a number 
of JSE listed entities. She is a member of the Institute of Directors as well as the South African Institute 
for Chartered Accountants.

“Women in the Market” – Sol Malope



20
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

COMPANY
ASSETS

a
b

c

d

ASSET UNDER ACQUISITION 
OPL281
Discovery Oil interest, 
Nigeria (onshore)

a b
2725
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MANGANESE PLANT 
Graskop, South Africa 
(non-core asset)

c d
22 23
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DRC

SOURCE:
Bayphase CPR 2012
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BLOCK III

REGIONAL SUMMARY AND ASSET LOCATION
The Alberti ne Graben has proven resources discovered to date, esti mated at approximately 1 200 MMbbls (P50 Conti ngent Resources). 
With Total as operator we are looking forward to positi ve explorati on results. The address is said to have +2 500 MMbbls overall 
potenti al. The largest discovery in the escarpment play is the Kingfi sher at 200 MMbbl and the largest discovery in the Victoria 
Nile Delta play is the Giraff e-Buff alo at 300 MMbbls – Block III is expected to contain both types of plays. 

The licence area is 3 177 square kilometres and SacOil has unencumbered, uncontested ti tle to the Block which is located on the 
DRC side of the Alberti ne Graben Basin, part of the East African Rift  System. The presence of a Petroleum System is envisaged 
to be likely in Block III as the play is on-trend with Lake Albert discoveries in Uganda, indicati ng high potenti al prospecti vity of 
the Block.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW:
•  The initiation of the work programme followed extensive work undertaken by Total over the past six months. An Airborne 

Gravity and Magnetic Feasibility study as well as satellite imagery of the topography, physiography and vegetation of the Block 
was completed in order to provide a geo-referenced numerical model for future operations in the Block.

•  A budget fully carried by Total, to the end of 2012, of $30 million has been approved by the Operating Committee which will fund 
the exploration work programme. 

•  An Airborne Gravity and Magnetic Survey as well as the acquisition of a 2D seismic data on the northern area of the Block III 
located outside the Virunga National Park will be done during late 2012. This seismic survey will enhance our understanding of 
the basin, sub-surface and will be used to map the potential oil and gas prospects. Subject to positively identifying enhance 
structures that may contain oil and gas, Total intends to drill at least two exploration wells, which will determine the oil and gas 
potential and commercial viability of Block III.

•  Following the farm-out of Block III to Total in March 2011, SacOil is carried for the entire work programme and will not be 
required to contribute any further capital into this project until final investment decision, which is when a development plan is 
put in place 

•  The granting of the ordinance is a significant step for progressing the asset in that the required testing and evaluation of the oil 
and gas prospects can begin in earnest. 

•  SacOil believes that there is huge potential in Block III due to the neighbouring oil and gas discoveries in Uganda which suggest 
that Block III is in an attractive and a hydrocarbon prospective address.

ESTIMATE
UNRISKED GROSS

STOIIP
UNRISKED GROSS

GIIP

MILLION STOCK TANK BARRELS
ASSOCIATED GAS  

MILLION STANDARD CUBIC FEET

Low Estimate 853,87 256,16
Best Estimate 1 940,71 582,21
High Estimate 3 731,29 1 119,39

GROSS STOIIP 
(UNRISKED)

RECOVERY 
FACTOR 

(%)

GROSS UNRISKED 
PROSPECTIVE 
RESOURCES 
(MMBOE)

RISK 
FACTOR

(%)

GROSS RISKED 
PROSPECTIVE 
RESOURCES 
(MMBOE)

SACOIL 
EQUITY

(%)

RISKED 
PROSPECTIVE 
RESOURCES 

NET TO SACOIL 
(MMBOE)

1 940,71 33 642,91 21 134,67 12,5 16,83

The Alberti ne Graben has proven resources discovered to date, 
esti mated at approximately 1 200 MMbbls (P50 Conti ngent 
Resources). With Total as operator we are looking forward to positi ve 
explorati on results.

 READ MORE IN THIS REPORT
ON THE FOLLOWING PAGESWWW

SOURCE: Bayphase Limited: Competent Person’s Report dated February 2012

FIND MORE ON THE WEB AT
WWW.SACOILHOLDINGS.COM/
OPERATIONS/DRC

29 30
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NIGERIA

SOURCE :
Energy Equity Resources

and Sacoil: 2012
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GROSS
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES
(MMBOE)1

RISK FACTOR 
(%)

GROSS RISKED
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES
(MMBOE)

SACOIL EQUITY
(%)

RISKED
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES NET 
TO SACOIL
(MMBOE)

19 40 7,6 20 1,42

 Source: TRACS CPR February 2012
 1 Best esti mate
 2 Equivalent net economic reserve

REGIONAL SUMMARY AND ASSET LOCATION:
OPL 233 is an off shore oil block that is located in the core shallow Marine area of the prolifi c Niger Delta region, Nigeria. It 
encompasses an area of approximately 126 square kilometres and is located in water depths ranging from 10 to 30 feet. 

Although much of the block remains unevaluated, interpretati on and assessments completed to date have mapped additi onal 
leads and prospects using the existi ng 2D seismic data and esti mate an explorati on upside, with prospecti ve resources, which 
can be further evaluated with a 3D OBC seismic survey.

Due to the block’s locati on in the core area of the prolifi c Niger Delta play, close neighbours are oil majors such as Shell, Chevron 
and AGIP.

SALIENT INFORMATION OF THE ASSET
•  126 square kilometre block.

•  Water depth of less than 30 feet.

•  Adjacent to Apoi fi eld (600 MMbbls).

•  103 feet of net oil pay discovered in the Olobia-1 well.

• Signifi cant potenti al upside exists > 200 MMbbls1 of resources.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
• Completed interpretati on of the existi ng seismic and well data.

• Completed modelling and planning of the 3D G&T seismic survey.

• In the process of fi nalising 3D OBC seismic contractor assessments and engagements.

• Completed the feasibility study of an extended well test. 

OPL 233

Signifi cant potenti al upside of more than 200 MMbbls of resources. 
SacOil successfully posted a performance bond and the feasibility study 
for an extended well test has been completed.

WWW

FIND MORE ON THE WEB AT
HTTP://WWW.SACOILHOLDINGS.COM/
OPERATIONS/Nigeria
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SOURCE: 
AGR-TRACS OPL 233 CPR 2012

NIGERIA
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OPL 281

REGIONAL OVERVIEW AND ASSET LOCATION

OPL 281 is an onshore block situated in one of Nigeria’s oil rich states in the community of the Obotebe Kingdom known simply 
as Delta. Delta is further sub divided into three senatorial districts – Delta North, Delta South and Delta Central. OPL 281 is 
located in the Delta South area, approximately 20 kilometres from Warri, the economic nerve centre of the region.

In close proximity to OPL 281 are the renowned Forcados Crude Export Terminal and the Odidi Platf orm (the regional gas 
condensate processing plant) located approximately 25 kilometres away.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

• Completed interpretati on and evaluati on of existi ng 3D seismic and well data.
• Evidence of the existence of amplitude anomalies on seismic data, which is envisaged to be indicati ve of direct 

hydrocarbon indicators.
• Completed modelling and planning of the 3D seismic reprocessing.
• Evidence of potenti al deeper prospects and drillable targets, have been evaluated on the seismic data.
• Completed the feasibility study of an extended well test. 

GROSS
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES
(MMBOE)1

RISK FACTOR
(%)

GROSS RISKED
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES
(MMBOE)

SACOIL EQUITY
(%)

RISKED
CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES NET 
TO SACOIL
(MMBOE)

99,2 60 59,52 20 8,402

Evidence of potenti al deeper prospects and targets on existi ng 
3D seismic data.

WWW

FIND MORE ON THE WEB AT
HTTP://WWW.SACOILHOLDINGS.COM/
OPERATIONS/Nigeria

 Source: TRACS CPR February 2012
 1 Most likely case
 2 Equivalent net economic reserve
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CHAIRMAN’S

REPORT

Richard Linnel
Chairman
Richard Linnell
Chairman

“SacOil conti nues to focus on opportuniti es within proven hydrocarbon basins, across 

the E&P spectrum from producti on, appraisal/near-term producti on through to 

potenti ally “High Impact” explorati on opportuniti es.” 

The global economy continued to be extremely volatile and 
fragile during the past year, with its effects felt both in South 
Africa and in London where SacOil is listed. During the second 
half of the year, SacOil’s share price performed relatively in line 
with those of its peer group, as approximated by the FTSE AIM 
All-Share Supersector Index – Oil and Gas.

The strengthening of the Company’s technical team with the 
appointment of Bradley Cerff, Willem de Meyer and Jordaan 
Fouche, contributed to the acceleration of SacOil’s growth plans 
and maturing its current assets. These appointments, combined 
with the appointments of John Bentley and Bill Guest to the 
Board, were important steps towards deepening and widening 
the technical management capability of SacOil as we look to 
grow aggressively.

Through the acquisition of acreage in the DRC and entering into 
joint venture partnerships in Nigeria during the latter part of 
2010, SacOil has demonstrated that it is a highly dynamic 
company that has secured quality acreage with significant 
potential. SacOil’s ability to access assets and to acquire further 
acreage in parts of Africa that are not only highly prospective, 
but also contain world class assets, gives it a competitive 
advantage on the African continent.          

For more info go to: www.sacoilholdings.com/operations

In the current uncertain economic environment and risk averse 
capital markets, SacOil is focused on acquiring productive or 
near productive assets in Africa, aimed at securing immediate 
cash flow and a base for medium and longer term growth of the 
Company.

In closing I would like to extend my thanks to our CEO, Robin 
Vela, all our hardworking employees, our suppliers and our 
customers for their ongoing contribution, commitment and 
support.  Thank you also to all our stakeholders and shareholders 
for their guidance and encouragement to achieve our vision to 
become a successful African independent upstream oil and gas 
company. 

R LINNELL
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
24 August 2012

“We do not view the Company itself as the ulti mate owner of our 
business assets but instead view the Company as a conduit through 
which our shareholders own assets.”

Warren Buff ett 
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“There is huge potential in Congo due to 
neighbouring oil and gas discoveries in 
Uganda, and SacOil is looking forward to 
positive results.”
Robin Vela
CEO

FULFILLING OUR POTENTIAL



30
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REPORT

“We conti nue to focus on building a balanced portf olio business and bringing 
our current assets to account. We will do so through an acquisiti on-led 
growth strategy and by strengthening our positi oning to exploit our foothold 
in Africa, albeit in challenging ti mes in capital markets.”

With Africa predicted to contribute 20% of the world’s oil by 
2020, SacOil is intent on being a leading African independent 
upstream oil and gas company with a balanced portfolio of 
African assets. SacOil’s vision is to build a balanced portfolio 
upstream oil and gas business with interests in all phases of the 
cycle (high impact exploration, appraisal and production) 
coupled with a uniquely African footprint. The Company is 
driving an aggressive growth strategy to fulfil this vision. With 
our competitive advantage at the point of entry, we are 
positioning ourselves to be a key contributor to bringing this 
prediction to reality. 

Our current world-class exploration acreage in the DRC and near 
production acreage in Nigeria is a testimony to our efforts 
towards building a sustainable and significant oil and gas 
business. SacOil is capable of operating through the exploration 
phase, but will remain focused on the establishment of strategic 
industry partnerships through the appraisal and development 
phases to manage portfolio risk and ensure that the optimum 
technical and operating skills are applied to each opportunity. 

Complementing these efforts, and alongside our primary listing 
on the JSE, is our listing on the AIM market of the LSE. The main 
purpose for this is to have our acreage properly analysed 
alongside our peers, in markets that understand oil and gas, 
particularly African oil and gas operations. 

Driving SacOil’s business is a competent Board and executive 
team that possess extensive entrepreneurial skills and 
experience backed by first class oil and gas industry credentials. 
The talent we have within SacOil is a critical component 
necessary to underpin the Company’s vision of not just becoming 
an exploration company, but a distinguished oil producing player 
in Africa with its roots in southern Africa. The skills set within 
SacOil is geared towards ensuring that our stakeholders and 
shareholders’ investments are invested competently, and that 
the execution of ongoing projects yields value accretive returns.

Our immediate goal is to strive to bring assets to production and 
in the medium-term to expand SacOil’s portfolio in Africa. 

CURRENT ASSETS  OPERATIONAL UPDATE
Despite difficult trading conditions, milestones for SacOil were 
the announcement of Total’s presidential decree for their 60 per 
cent interest in Block III in the DRC in January 2012 and the 
potential initiation of geophysical surveys in Block III in the third 
quarter of 2012. In OPL 233 SacOil took a step forward by 
successfully posting a US$25 million performance bond at the 
end of Q1 2012. The announcement of revised farm-in terms 
with Transcorp on OPL 281 in Nigeria further enhanced 
shareholder value. 

For more info go to:
www.sacoilholdings.com/investors-and-media/company-announcements/2012

Robin Vela
Chief Executi ve Offi  cer

“The criti cal investment factor is determining the intrinsic value of a 
business and paying a fair or bargain price.”

Warren Buff ett 
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BLOCK III, DRC
At the end of 2011, Total, the Block III operator, completed the 
acquisition and interpretation of a satellite imagery survey over 
the entire concession. The processing of the satellite imagery 
reaffirmed the exploration potential of Block III and it was 
decided to commit to an airborne geophysical survey over the 
north-eastern part of the concession. In preparation for the 
exploration programme, environmental and social studies were 
also successfully completed.

For 2012, a budget of US$30 million was approved by the 
operations and management committees, of which US$6 million 
had already been spent up to February 2012. The budget 
includes the acquisition of the airborne gravity and magnetic 
survey by Q3 2012, following which a 2D seismic survey will be 
designed and planned. Total’s current intention is to use a similar 
exploration approach to that of the immediately adjacent 
concessions in Uganda (the prolific Blocks I, 2 and 3 in the 
Ugandan territory of Lake Albert), which proved highly 
successful. 

In Q1 2012, Total increased its equity interest by acquiring a 
further 6,66 per cent interest in Block III from Semliki, resulting 
in Total now holding an effective 66,66 per cent interest in Block 
III. SacOil’s effective interest of 12,5 per cent, its entitlement to 
contingent cash bonuses of US$54 million (net to SacOil) and a 
carry on all exploration expenses up to final investment decision 
(when a development plan is approved) remain unchanged. 
For more info go to: www.sacoilholdings.com/DRC
and also www.sacoilholdings.com/investors-and-media/competent-
persons-report

OPL 233, NIGERIA
SacOil took a step forward by successfully posting a US$25 
million performance bond at the end of Q1 2012 as part of 
fulfilling SacOil and EER’s obligations under the joint venture and 
PSA for OPL 233. This allowed the partners to proceed with the 
acquisition of up to 100 square kilometres 3D Ocean Bottom 
Cable (OBC) seismic survey. In preparation for the 3D seismic 
acquisition, the joint venture partners are in the process of 
finalising the seismic contractor assessments and engagements 
for this acquisition. Immediately after this contract award, which 
the Company expects imminently, acquisition and processing 
will commence. The US$10 million cash collateral provided by 
SacOil (including EER’s portion) as part of the performance bond 
will partially fund the 3D seismic acquisition and interpretation. 
Results of this survey are expected to enable the optimum 
placement of an appraisal well following the Olobia-1 oil 
discovery which, if successful, will be placed on an extended well 
test, subject to NNPC and DPR approvals. Production data 
obtained from the extended well test should enable a better 

estimate of recoverable resources and the optimal design of a 
full field development. This would not only provide SacOil with 
the ability to book proved reserves, it would also provide cash 
flow to SacOil and its partners. Results from the OBC survey are 
furthermore expected to provide information on additional 
prospective resources in the concession which may enhance the 
value of the acreage and support continued exploration and 
appraisal activities.

The joint venture is in the process of finalising and updating its 
interpretation and evaluation of all the existing seismic and well 
data on the block. In addition, the modelling and planning of a 
3D OBC seismic survey was completed and finalised in Q1 2012. 
For more info go to:
www.sacoilholdings.com/investors-and-media/competent-persons-report

OPL 281, NIGERIA
The execution of revised farm-in terms between the joint venture 
partners of the concession enhanced value for SacOil shareholders 
as the Company will no longer be required to provide Transcorp 
with a carry on capital costs from the point of entry to first oil. In 
terms of the revised terms, all costs will be borne proportionately 
to the equity owned by Transcorp, EER and SacOil. SacOil and EER 
will be actively involved in the operations through the operations 
and management committees in terms of the joint operating 
agreement between the partners. 

SacOil and its joint venture partners, EER and Transcorp, are 
awaiting the final award of the OPL 281 PSC and perfection of 
title. Following perfection of title, the intention is that modelling 
and planning of the reprocessing of the existing 3D seismic data 
will commence.
For more info go to: www.sacoilholdings.com/nigeria

FUTURE PROSPECTS
SacOil continues to be presented with value accretive 
opportunities on a bilateral basis, many of which are being 
carefully considered with our determination being to ensure any 
new asset acquisition moves SacOil up the value curve, derisks 
the existing business (through stage in the upstream cycle or 
indeed geographic location) and offers more optionality to our 
stakeholders. To realise value we continue to focus current and 
potential future projects on production assets. 

Robin Vela
Chief Executive Officer

24 August 2012
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board of SacOil is pleased to present the integrated annual report 

for the year ended 29 February 2012.

21st century reporting is evolving with a foundation of financial, 

management commentary, governance and remuneration, and 

sustainability reporting in a way that reflects their interdependence, yet 

their inter-relation also. The world has changed and reporting needs to 

follow the pace. The Board is committed to constantly improving 

reporting to stakeholders and shareholders by bringing together material 

and important information about the Group and Company’s strategy, 

governance, performance and prospects in a way that reflects the 

commercial, social and environmental context within which it operates. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The results of the Group and the state of its affairs are set out in the 

Group annual financial statements and accompanying notes for the year 

ended 29 February 2012.

OVERVIEW AND INTERESTS
SacOil is a dual listed JSE and AIM company whose remit is to build an 

African independent upstream oil and gas business with a balanced 

portfolio of assets in Africa. SacOil focuses on opportunities within 

proven hydrocarbon basins, across the E&P spectrum from production, 

appraisal/near-term production through to potentially “High Impact” 

exploration opportunities. SacOil’s interests and prospective interests 

include low risk oil discoveries and potentially high impact exploration 

opportunities in Nigeria, and the DRC. 

SacOil is willing and able to operate through the exploration phase but 

will focus on the establishment of strategic industry partnerships 

through the appraisal and development to manage portfolio risk and 

ensure that the optimum technical and operating skills are applied to 

each opportunity.

 

Refer to pages 20 to 27 for an overview of the Group’s current assets. 

DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been proposed or declared for the year ended 29 February 2012.

STATED CAPITAL
The Company has issued the following ordinary shares during the period under review and up to the date of signature of this annual report: 

Date Beneficial shareholder Ordinary shares Cents per ordinary share In terms of

09/07/2012 Yorkville Advisers 24 578 863 34 Specific issue for cash

04/05/2012 Yorkville Advisers 32 135 560 49 Specific issue for cash

04/04/2012 Yorkville Advisers 29 328 257 43 Specific issue for cash

09/02/2012 Yorkville Advisers 10 926 906 43 Specific issue for cash

30/01/2012 Peregrine Securities 11 111 112 45 General issue for cash

13/12/2011 Yorkville Advisers 14 318 181 44 Specific issue for cash

22/11/2011 Timtex Investments (Proprietary) Limited 111 940 298 67 Specific issue for cash

08/05/2011 R Vela 6 489 605 214 AIM admission bonus

08/05/2011 C Bird 2 552 610 214 AIM admission bonus

04/04/2011 Rencap 796 577 216 Specific issue in lieu of fee

Refer to note 20 of the Group financial statements for a reconciliation of the number of shares in issue for the period under review.

NIGERIA
Abuja

Kinshasa

Pretoria

DRC

SOUTH
AFRICA
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DIRECTORS
Details of the Company’s directors can be found on pages 16 to 19 of this report. 

DIRECTORS’ AND MANAGEMENT’S INTERESTS IN SHARES
Directors’ shareholdings are set out in the shareholder information section on page 84 of this annual report and details of options granted to directors 

are set out in note 8 of the annual report.

Directors’ and management’s interests in the issued capital of the Company as at the date of this report are as follows:

2012 2011

Direct 
beneficial

 % of issued
capital

Direct 
beneficial

 % of issued
capital

Robin Vela 11 939 196 1,30% 11 939 196 1,75%

Colin Bird 8 502 610 0,93% 8 502 610 1,24%

Carina de Beer 200 000 0,02% 200 000 0,03%

Bradley Cerff 150 000 0,02% 150 000 0,02%

20 791 806 2,27% 20 791 806 3,04%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Refer to note 33 for details of events after the reporting period.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS PASSED
During the period under review the Company passed the following special resolutions:

1. To authorise the Company or its directors or any of its subsidiaries to, by way of general authority, repurchase shares issued by the Company; and

2.  To approve the remuneration of non-executive directors for the year ending 29 February 2012 in compliance with section 66 (8) – (9) of the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008.

LITIGATION UPDATE
MR MODIBANE

The Company previously reported on two actions instituted by Joseph Modibane (“Modibane”) in the North Gauteng High Court. In his first action, 

Modibane alleges that he was entitled to receive 105 000 000 SacOil Shares at an issue price of 30 cents per Share but that the Company unlawfully 

declined to deliver the SacOil Ordinary Shares to him. Modibane further alleges that in consequence of the Company’s alleged unlawful conduct he is 

entitled to claim damages from the Company in the amount of R67,2 million.

In a second action, Modibane alleges that the content of the announcement made by the Company on 15 September 2010 in relation to the first action, 

was defamatory to him and claims payment from the Company of damages in the amount of R80 million.

Having regard to the information in its possession at the date of this Report, the Board is of the view that each of the aforementioned claims are without 

factual foundation and have no substance. The Company has instructed its South African legal representatives, Norton Rose South Africa, to defend the 

actions. Pleadings closed many months ago but Modibane has not applied for a trial date. Even though the Company’s legal representatives have called 

upon Modibane to make discovery so that they can ensure that the matter can be progressed for trial, he has yet to do so.  The Company has therefore 

not received a notice of set down for trial from him. The directors conclude that the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote.
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The Board, its committees and employees are committed to the principles of transparency, fairness, integrity and accountability in its dealings with all 

stakeholders and Shareholders. 

The Board supports the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as recommended by the King III Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009 

(“King III”). In this report the application of King III within the Group and Company as required by the JSE Listing Requirements, is explained as well as 

the reasons for not applying certain principles set forth in King III. The Board endorses the fundamental principles of good financial, social, ethical and 

environmental practice as set out in the King III report, QCA Corporate Governance Guidelines for AIM companies and UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Group and Company comply with the main provisions of the QCA Corporate Governance Guidelines for AIM companies and the UK Corporate 

Governance Code insofar as they are appropriate given the Company’s size and stage of development. 

Following last year’s reporting, the Social and Ethics Committee’s terms of reference were drafted in line with the Companies Act, King III, the QCA 

Corporate Governance Guidelines for AIM companies and the UK Corporate Governance Code and was adopted by the Board.

Recommendations of King III that were not applied are listed and explained below. The Board continues to consider the recommendations of King III with 

reference to the Group and Company’s size and stages of development.

No. King III Principle & Recommended practice Explanation 

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its committees 

and the individual directors should be 

performed every year

Following the appointment of a remuneration committee during 2011, a matrix for the 

evaluation and review of performance of directors is in the process of being finalised for 

consideration and approval. 

3.2.3 The Chairman of the Board should not be the 

chairman or a member of the Audit Committee

The Chairman of the Board remains a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Board considered the size of the Company as well as the requirements of the 

Companies Act on the constitution of the Audit Committee. It was resolved that the 

Non-Executive Independent Chairman of the Board also serve as a member of the Audit 

and Risk Committee until such time as suitable independent non-executive directors 

are appointed to the Board to serve as members of the Audit and Risk Committee.

It is anticipated that appointments of another independent non-executive director will 

be made within the 2013 financial year.

 7 Internal Audit The Company does not have an independent internal audit function. The Audit and Risk 

Committee together with the external auditors fulfils this function as the size of the 

Company does not justify the cost of developing and maintaining an internal audit 

function. The Board remains ultimately responsible to oversee internal financial 

processes.

5.3.2 The Board may appoint an IT steering 

committee or similar function to assist with 

its governance of IT 

The executive committee of the Company is responsible for IT governance supported by 

a skilled IT specialist. The Board will give further consideration to the recommendations 

of King III in this regard once the size of the Company justifies the cost to do so.

6.4.6 An independent suitably skilled compliance 

officer may be appointed 

The Board with assistance from its sub-committees is responsible for governance and 

compliance. There is no independent compliance position within the Company at 

present, but this is being considered by the Board.

9.3 Sustainability reporting and disclosure should 

be independently assured

There was no external assurance on the integrated report. The Board will consider 

obtaining external assurance on the integrated report including the cost implications 

thereof going forward.

JSE AND AIM

The Group and Company complied with the Listing Requirements of the JSE as well as with the AIM Rules for Companies (“AIM Rules”). The directors are 

responsible for ensuring compliance by the Group and Company with its obligations under the AIM Rules: “An AIM Company must ensure that each of 

its Directors accepts full responsibility, collectively and individually, for its compliance with the AIM Rules” (Rule 31 of the AIM Rules).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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COMPANIES ACT, NO 71 OF 2008

The Companies Act of 2008 came into effect on 1 May 2011 and SacOil 

has aligned itself with the new legislation. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board gives strategic direction to the Group and Company under the 

chairmanship of Mr R Linnell. The Board retains full and effective control 

over the Group and Company and monitors executive management in 

implementing plans and strategies.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for implementing practices of 

good governance and that companies no longer act independently from 

the societies and the environment in which they operate.

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance in 

order to facilitate an environment where the Group and Company’s 

assets are safeguarded and the interests of all stakeholders and 

shareholders are protected.

BOARD CHARTER

The scope of authority, responsibility, composition and functioning of 

the Board is contained in a formal charter which is reviewed regularly to 

ensure that it remains relevant.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently consists of five non-executive directors and two 

executive directors. The said composition is in line with the 

recommendations of King III. Background information of directors 

appears on pages 16 to 19 of this report.

A division of responsibilities ensures a balance of authority and power, 

with no one individual having unrestricted decision-making powers.

As at 29 February 2012 the composition of the Board was as follows:

Richard Linnell:  Independent Non-Executive Chairman

John Bentley:  Independent Non-Executive Director 

Colin Bird:   Non-Executive Director 

Carina de Beer:  Finance Director

Bill Guest:   Independent Non-Executive Director

Gontse Moseneke:  Non-Executive Director 

Robin Vela:   Chief Executive Officer

There were no resignations during the period under review. Carina de 

Beer resigned as Finance Director, effective 30 July 2012.

BOARD MEETINGS

A minimum of four Board meetings are scheduled per financial year and 

additional meetings can be convened to consider specific business 

issues which may arise between scheduled meetings. A special Board 

meeting was held during the period under review to consider specific 

issues. Attendance of Board meetings is available on page 42.

In addition to Board meetings, the Board convenes quarterly strategy 

meetings with executive management in order to consider, develop and 

grow the Group and Company’s strategic direction and to formulate a 

road map to achieve the Group and Company’s strategic goals and 

vision. Progress against the strategic plan is monitored by the Board 

after each strategy meeting. For details of strategy meetings held refer 

page 42 of this report.  

MAIN DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

Directors’ duties and responsibilities are prescribed by law. The Board 

discharges the following duties and responsibilities, which list is not 

limited, in the interests of good governance:

The Board:

•  Acts as focal point for and custodian of corporate governance in line 

with the Board charter which sets out their responsibilities and 

monitors the relationship between management and the 

stakeholders of the Group and Company;

•  Seeks the optimum balance for the Group and Company between 

conformance with the dictates of good governance and performance;

•  Appreciates that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are 

inseparable;

• Informs and approves the strategy;

•  Ensures that the Group and Company’s strategic direction is in line 

with the Group and Company’s purpose, the value drivers of its 

business and legitimate interests and expectations of its shareholders;

•  Provides effective leadership based on an ethical foundation and by 

so doing actively promotes an ethical culture within the Group and 

Company;

•  Ensures that the Group and Company are seen to be a responsible 

corporate citizen;

•  Ensures that the Group and Company’s ethics are managed 

effectively;

• Monitors the implementation of the strategy by management;

• Ensures full, timely and transparent disclosure of all material matters;

•  Ensured that the Group and Company have an effective and 

independent audit committee;

•  Reviews the size and composition of the Board in terms of the mix of 

skills-diversity and the requirements for the appropriate constitution 

of Board committees;

•  Agrees on the procedure to allow directors to obtain independent 

professional advice, where necessary;

• Always acts in the best interests of the Group and Company;

• Agrees upon procedures to manage conflicts of interest;

•  Delegates the necessary authority to management for the day-to-day 

operations of the Group and Company;

• Is responsible for the governance of risk;

• Is responsible for IT governance;

•  Ensures that the solvency and liquidity of the Group and Company 

are continuously monitored;

•  Ensures that the Group and Company comply with applicable laws 

and considers adherence to non-binding rules, codes and standards;
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• Ensures that there is an effective risk-based internal audit;

•  Appreciates that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the Group and 

Company’s reputation;

•  Ensures the integrity of the Group and Company’s integrated report; and

•  Reports on the effectiveness of the Group and Company’s system of 

internal controls.

THE CHAIRMAN

The Chairman, so elected by the Board, is an Independent Non-Executive 

Director. The roles of the Chairman and CEO are separate.

The core functions of the Chairman are highlighted as follows:

• Sets the ethical standards for the Board, the Group and the Company;

•  Provides overall leadership to the Board without limiting the principle 

of collective responsibility for Board decisions, while at the same time 

being aware of the individual duties of Board members;

•  Considers and oversees a formal succession plan for the Board and 

CEO;

• Identifies and participates in the selection of Board members;

•  Formulates, with the CEO and Company Secretary, the yearly work 

plan for the Board against agreed objectives;

•  Plays an active part in setting the agenda for Board meetings and 

presides over Board meetings;

•  Acts as the link between the Board and management and particularly 

between the Board and the CEO;

•  Maintains an arm’s length relationship with Board members and 

management;

•  Monitors how the Board works together and how individual directors 

perform and interact at meetings; 

•  Meets with individual directors once a year to evaluate their 

performance;

•  Ensures that good relations are maintained with the Group and 

Company’s major shareholders and its strategic stakeholders; and

• Presides over shareholders’ meetings.

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive directors are individuals of high calibre and 

credibility. They have the necessary skills and experience to bring 

judgement to bear, independent of management, on issues of strategy, 

performance, resources, transformation, diversity and employment 

equity, standards of conduct and evaluation of performance.

The non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day 

management of the business and not encumbered with specific 

management responsibility. These directors are not full-time salaried 

employees of the Group and Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. 

None of the non-executive directors have been employed by the Group 

and Company and are accordingly not predisposed for or against some 

parts of the business. None of the non-executive directors are retained 

professional advisers. The non-executive directors have unfettered access 

to management.

All non-executive directors’ appointments are formalised through letters of 

appointment. The non-executive directors enjoy benefits from the Group 

for their services as directors. They receive fees for their services as 

directors. They can also earn dividends on their interests in ordinary shares.

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

No independent non-executive director has served for a period of nine 

years. The Board will measure their independence in line with the policy 

on measuring independence.

The Company Secretary confirms that, as far as she knows, the 

non-executive directors:

•  Were not representatives of any shareholder who has the ability to 

control or materially influence management or the Board;

•  Were not employed by the Group or Company in any executive 

capacity in the preceding three financial years;

•  Were not members of the immediate family of an individual who is, or 

has been in any of the past three financial years, employed by the 

Group or Company in an executive capacity;

•  Were not professional advisers to the Group or Company, other than 

in the capacity as a director;

•  Were not suppliers or material suppliers to the Group or Company, or 

to clients of the Group;

•  Had no material contractual relationship with the Group or Company; 

and

•  Were free from any business or other relationship which could be 

seen to materially interfere with the individual’s capacity to act in an 

independent manner.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at 29 February 2012 the Company had two executive directors. 

Executive directors are involved in the day-to-day management of the 

Group and Company and are full-time employees. The executive directors 

carefully manage the conflict between their management responsibilities 

and their fiduciary duties as directors in the best interest of the Group 

and Company.

All executive directors have entered into service contracts with the Group 

and Company, which contracts are reviewed annually. 

The Board determines the remuneration of executive directors in 

accordance with the remuneration policy put to shareholder’s vote.

The executive directors are individually mandated and held accountable 

for:

•  The implementation of the strategies and key policies determined by 

the Board; 

•  Managing and monitoring the business and affairs of the Group and 

Company in accordance with approved business plans and budgets;

• Prioritising the allocation of capital and other resources; and

• Establishing the best management and other operating practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The ultimate responsibility for the Group and the Company rest with the 

Board. The Board retains effective control through a well-developed 

governance structure of Board committees. The role and function of the 

CEO is formalised and his performance is evaluated against set criteria. 

Certain authorities have been delegated to the CEO to manage the day-

to-day business affairs of the Group and the Company. However, in 

terms of statute and the Group and Company’s constitution, together 

with the revised delegation of authority, certain matters are still reserved 

for Board and/or shareholder approval.

The CEO is tasked with the running of the business and the 

implementation of the policies and strategies approved and adopted by 

the Board. The Board’s governance and management functions are 

aligned through the CEO. All the authority conferred on management is 

delegated through the CEO. The accountability of management is 

considered to be the authority and the accountability of the CEO.

BOARD SELECTION, APPOINTMENT AND ROTATION

The collective knowledge, skills, experience and resources required for 

conducting the business of the Board are considered when determining 

the number of directors to serve on the Board.

Factors considered by the Board include the:

• Evolving circumstances and needs of the Group and Company;

•  Appropriate mix of executive and independent non-executive 

directors;

•  Need to have sufficient directors to structure Board committees 

appropriately;

•  Requirement for skills and knowledge to make business judgement 

calls on behalf of the Group and Company; and 

• Regulatory requirements.

A formal and transparent procedure is in place for the appointment of 

new directors. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 

responsible for selecting and recommending the appointment of 

competent, qualified and experienced directors to the Board. The Board 

as a whole, after receiving recommendations from the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, appoints directors. All newly appointed 

directors are subject to an induction programme.

Re-appointment to the Board is not automatic and directors may offer 

themselves for re-election.

In terms of section 13.2 of the Articles of Association, any person appointed 

during the year shall retain office only until the next annual general meeting 

of the Company and shall then retire and be eligible for re-election.

The rotation of directors is more fully governed in terms of section 15 of 

the Articles of Association. One-third of the directors, or if their number 

is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than 

one-third, shall retire from office at each annual general meeting. The 

directors so to retire shall be firstly those retiring in terms of article 13.2 

of the Company’s Articles of Association and secondly those referred to 

in terms of article 13.16 (not applicable in this regard) and lastly those 

who have been longest in office since their last election or appointment. 

Provided that, notwithstanding anything herein contained, if at the date 

of any annual general meeting any director will have held office for a 

period of three years since his last election or appointment he shall 

retire at such meeting, either as one of the directors to retire or in 

addition thereto. The names of the directors eligible for re-election are 

submitted at the annual general meeting, accompanied by appropriate 

biographical details set out in the annual report. The Company has not 

adopted a retirement age for directors.

TRAINING AND UPDATING THE KNOWLEDGE OF DIRECTORS

The Board and each individual director have a working understanding of 

the effect of the business, applicable laws, rules, codes and standards of 

the Group and Company. Directors receive regular briefings on changes 

in risks, laws and the environment. The induction and ongoing training 

of directors are conducted through a formal process.

The Group and Company are committed to providing continuing 

professional development training opportunities to its directors and 

officers.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The services and advice of the Company Secretary are available to all 

directors. The Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial 

Services (Proprietary) Limited, represented by Melinda Gous. The 

Company Secretary is responsible for the functions specified in the 

Companies Act of 2008. The appointment and removal of the Company 

Secretary is a matter to be dealt with by the Board. 

The Board empowers the Company Secretary to enable her to properly 

fulfil her duties.

The Company Secretary:

• Has an arm’s-length relationship with the Board;

• Is not a director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

•  Assists the Nomination and Remuneration Committee with the 

nomination and appointment of directors;

•  Provides guidance to the Board regarding the duties of the directors 

and good governance;

• Ensures that the Board and committee charters are kept up to date;

• Prepares and circulates Board and committee papers; 

•  Elicits responses, input and feedback for Board and Board committee 

meetings;

• Assists in drafting yearly plans;

•  Prepares and circulates minutes of the Board and committee 

meetings; and

•  Assists with evaluating the Board, committees and individual 

directors.
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COMMITTEE STRUCTURE
The directors have delegated specific functions to committees to assist 
them in executing their responsibilities.

The Board has established standing committees in this regard. The 
committees were reconstituted in July 2011 following the appointment 
of more independent non-executive directors on 1 May 2011. The Board 
committees are subject to regular evaluation by the Board to ascertain 
their level of performance and effectiveness.

The committees act in accordance with approved terms of reference 
which are reviewed annually. 

The Board has the following sub-committees:
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
• Social and Ethics Committee; and
• Audit and Risk Committee. 

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Members: John Bentley (Chairman); Richard Linnell and Gontse Moseneke.

Robin Vela and Carina de Beer attend the meetings by invitation.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee meets at least twice a 
year. The committee was reconstituted in July 2011. Refer to page 42 for 
details of meeting attendances.

The Chairman of the committee reports to the Board after every 
committee meeting held. 

No executive director participates in discussions of their own 
remuneration and benefits and neither do they have a vote at meetings. 

Further details of attendance of the committee meetings are available on 
page 42.

ROLE OF THE NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s role and responsibilities 
include, but are not limited to:
•  Identifying and evaluating suitable candidates for appointment to 

the Board, and performing background checks on the identified 
individuals;

•  Assessing new directors according to the basic requirements for 
directorship in the Companies Act; 

•  Advising on the composition of the Board (structure, size and balance 
between non-executive and executive directors);

•  Evaluation of the directors and reviewing the evaluation procedures 
and results;

•  Evaluating with the Board whether collectively (but not necessarily 
individually) the Audit Committee has the necessary skills to perform 
its function and responsibilities;

•  Determining, agreeing and developing the Group and Company’s 
competitive remuneration policy to retain and regard skilled and 
quality staff;

•  Ensuring that the remuneration policy is aligned with the Group and 
Company’s strategy;

•  Determining and agreeing to the remuneration packages for the 
executive directors, to ensure that directors and senior executives are 
fairly rewarded for their individual contributions to the overall 
performance of the Group and Company. The committee consults 
from time to time with the CEO where the remuneration of other 
executives is concerned; 

•  Assessing and reviewing employee long-term incentive schemes and 
performance bonuses;

•  Determining and recommending to the Board the level of fees for 
non-executive directors which are tabled for shareholder approval at 
the annual general meeting; and

•  Succession planning, particularly in respect of the CEO and executive 
management.

REMUNERATION STRUCTURE
The remuneration structure is delegated as follows:
•  The committee approves executive directors’ fees;
•  The committee approves executive committee members’ fees as 

proposed by management; and
• Management approves employees’ remuneration.

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY
SacOil strives to create a performance-orientated remuneration 
philosophy which fairly rewards executives and employees for their 
respective contributions to achieving the Group and Company’s strategic, 
financial and operational objectives. The remuneration structures are to 
encourage sustainable, long-term wealth creation.

The following factors regarding the remuneration structures are 
highlighted:
•  The remuneration philosophy is supportive of the Group and 

Company’s strategy;
•  Cost of employment is managed while employees at the same time 

are rewarded in order to retain and motivate talented, skilled and 
high calibre executives and employees;

• The Group and Company promote a performance-based culture; and
•  The Group and Company strive to align executive rewards in the 

interest of shareholders.

The Board acknowledges the importance of motivating individual and 
team performances and therefore applies the remuneration philosophy 
equitably, fairly and consistently in relation to job responsibilities, the 
markets in which the Group and Company operate and personal 
performance.

The Group and Company rewards executive directors and employees as 
follows:
•  Market-related fair annual packages (base salary and benefits) which 

are competitive owing to the portability of skills;
•  Market information is sourced from industry and executive 

remuneration surveys to benchmark;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
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•  Executive remuneration in comparable positions; 
• Annual performance bonus; and
•  Participation in the SacOil Share Option Scheme (refer to note 8 of 

this integrated report for details of options granted).

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
Members: Gontse Moseneke (Chairman) and Bill Guest (member). 
Sian Peters (Prescribed Officer – to be confirmed)

On 27 July 2011 the Company constituted a Social and Ethics Committee 
in accordance with section 72(4) of the Companies Act 2008 and 
regulation 43(2).

FUNCTION
The Social and Ethics Committee will monitor the Group and Company’s 
activities, having regard for any relevant legislation, other legal 
requirements or prevailing codes of best practice with regard to matters 
relating to:
•   Social and economic development, including the Group and 

Company’s standing in terms of goals and purposes of:
 o  The 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact 

Principles;
 o The OECD recommendations regarding corruption; 
 o The Employment Equity Act; and
 o The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act;
• Good corporate citizenship, including the Group and Company’s:
 o  Promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, and 

reduction of corruption;
 o  Contribution to development of the communities in which its 

activities are predominantly conducted or within which its 
products or services are predominantly marketed; and

 o Record of sponsorships, donations and charitable giving;
•  The environment, health and public safety, including the impact of 

the Company’s activities and of its products or services;
•  Consumer relationships including the Group and Company’s 

advertising, public relations and compliance with consumer 
protection laws; and

• Labour and employment, including:
 o  The Group and Company’s standing in terms of the International 

Labour Organisation Protocol on decent work and working 
conditions;

 o  The Group and Company’s employment relationships, and its 
contribution toward the educational development of its 
employees;

•  To draw matters within its mandate to the attention of the Board as 
occasion requires; and

•  To report, through one of its members, to shareholders at the 
Company’s annual general meeting on the matters within its 
mandate.

The Social and Ethics Committee Term of Reference was approved on 
1 August 2012. No meetings were held during the year under review.

SHARE DEALINGS
All directors, officers and employees of the Group and Company are 
advised of closed and prohibited periods in terms of the requirements of 
the JSE Limited and the AIM Rules. Directors, employees, consultants 
and agents are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities 
during closed and prohibited periods.

Directors are required to obtain written clearance from the Chairman 
prior to dealing in the Company’s shares. The Chairman is required to 
obtain approval from the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 
before undertaking any share dealings. It is also mandatory for directors 
to notify the Company Secretary of any dealings in the Company’s 
shares. This information is then disclosed on the Securities Exchange 
News Service (“SENS”) of the JSE as well as on the Regulatory News 
Service (“RNS”) of the LSE within 48 hours of the trade being affected. 
The Company maintains a record of any share dealings throughout the 
year.

Directors’ interests are disclosed on page 84 of this annual report.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING
An analysis of the Company’s shareholding at 29 February 2012 can be 
found on page 84 of this annual report.

GOING CONCERN
The Board is satisfied that the Group and Company have adequate 
resources to continue operating for the next 12 months. The Group and 
separate financial statements presented have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The Board is apprised of the Group and Company’s going 
concern status at each Board meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company is committed to an ongoing interactive relationship with 
shareholders, investors, analysts and regulators.

Investor relations activities include interim and final results presentations 
to investors which are available on the website: www.sacoilholdings.com.

SPONSOR SOUTH AFRICA
Nedbank Capital is the appointed sponsor of the Company.

NOMINATED ADVISER UNITED KINGDOM
finn Cap Limited is the appointed nominated adviser of the Company. 

TRANSFER SECRETARY
Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited, is the appointed 
Transfer Secretary to the Group. They assist all our shareholders with 
enquiries pertaining to shareholdings. Shareholders can address 
shareholding related queries to PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000 or 
visit them at 13th Floor, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, 
Braamfontein, 2001.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 

29 February 2012. This report of the Audit and Risk Committee is 

presented to Shareholders in compliance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

As detailed earlier in the Corporate Governance Report, the Audit and 

Risk Committee acts in accordance with an approved term of reference.

MEMBERS

Bill Guest (Chairman); Richard Linnell and John Bentley. The independent 

external auditors attend the meetings as standing invitees.

Robin Vela, Carina de Beer and Gontse Moseneke attend the meetings by 

invitation.

ELECTION OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS

In terms of the Companies Act 2008, No. 71 of 2008, Shareholders are 

required to elect the members of this committee at each annual general 

meeting. The Board confirms that the Audit and Risk Committee members 

are suitably skilled and experienced independent non-executive directors. 

The appointment of Richard Linnell, Bill Guest and John Bentley is subject 

to shareholders re-electing them as members of the committee at the 

annual general meeting to be held on 30 November 2012.

Biographical details of the committee members appear on pages 16 to 19.

MEETINGS

The committee meets at least twice per annum. The Chairman of the 

committee reports to the Board after every Audit and Risk Committee 

meeting held. 

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee is a statutory committee constituted 

under the Companies Act and in terms of the recommendations set out 

in King III. The committee has an independent role with accountability to 

the Board. The committee’s responsibilities include the statutory duties 

prescribed by the Companies Act, activities recommended by King III and 

the responsibilities assigned by the Board.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

The committee has to consider the independence of the external auditors 

and also to nominate for appointment such registered auditor of the 

Group and Company.

The Board was satisfied with the independence of the external auditors 

and recommended the appointment of Ernst & Young Assurance as the 

independent registered audit firm and the individual registered auditor, 

Iwan Grobler. 

The audit firm and designated auditor are accredited to appear on the 

JSE’s list of accredited auditors.

FEES PAID TO EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT

The committee determines the fees to be paid to the auditor and also the 

auditor’s terms of engagement. The proposed annual audit fee for the 

financial period under review amounted to R600 000 excluding any 

disbursements or additional fees and was approved by the Board.

NON AUDIT SERVICES

The committee determines the nature and extent of any non-audit 

services that the auditor may provide to the Group and Company. There 

were no non-audit services approved for the period under review.

EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board as a whole considered and commented on the consolidated 

and separate financial statements, the accounting practices and the 

internal financial controls of the Group and Company.

The Board considered, reviewed and discussed the annual group financial 

statements with the independent external auditors and Finance Director. 

The Board is satisfied that the consolidated and separate financial 

statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The external auditor had unrestricted access to the Group and Company’s  

records and management. There were no limitations imposed on the 

scope of the external audit. The auditor furnished a written report to the 

Board on significant findings arising from the annual audit and did not 

raise any matters of concern.

After agreeing that the going concern premise was appropriate the Board 

approved the provisional consolidated annual group financial statements 

on 30 May 2012. The audited group and separate financial statements 

will be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

The Chairman of the committee, and in the instance of his absence, the 

other members of the committee, will attend the annual general meeting 

to answer questions falling under the mandate of the committee.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF THE FINANCE DIRECTOR AND FINANCE 

FUNCTION

The Board executed the responsibility in terms of paragraph 3.84(h) of 

the JSE Listings Requirements and confirmed that they are satisfied with 

the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Finance 

Director, Carina de Beer, for the period under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The primary goal of internal audit is to evaluate the Group and Company’s 

risk management, internal control and corporate governance processes 

and ensure that they are adequate and are functioning correctly. The 

internal audit function is performed by the Group finance department 

internally on group companies. The Board as a whole is also considering 

the internal controls. While considering the information and explanations 

given by management plus discussions held with the external auditor on 

the results of their audit, the committee is of the opinion that the system 

of internal financial controls is effective and forms a basis for the 

preparation of reliable financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the risk management process and 

management is accountable to the Board for designing, implementing 

and monitoring the process of risk management in the day-to-day 

activities of the Group.

The committee has a duty to:

•  Identify areas of governance non-compliance and propose remedial 

action;

•  Review risk management policies, processes, risk philosophy and 

strategies;

•  Ensure risk management is integrated into business operations and 

ensure that management implements the appropriate risk responses;

• Oversee integrated reporting;

• Evaluate the basis and adequacy of insurance cover; 

• Ensure internal audit is aligned with risk management processes;

• Identify emerging areas of risk; and

•  Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, 

including King lll.

APPROVAL OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board as a whole, being responsible for the Audit and Risk 

Committee’s report, confirms that this report has been approved.

Bill Guest

Chairman – Audit Committee
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED

24 August 2012

24 August 2012

SUMMARY OF MEETING ATTENDANCES:

Key

Present P

Not Appointed Yet NA

Absent X

Apology A

Alternate AP

Meeting Cancelled MC

Board 10 Oct 11 01 Nov 11 10 Jan 12 16 Feb 12 26 Mar 12 22 May 12

Richard Linnell P P P P P P

Colin Bird P P P P P A

Robin Vela P P P P P P

Gontse Moseneke P P P P P P

Carina de Beer P P P P P P

Bill Guest P P P P P P

John Bentley P P P P P P

Company Secretary P P P P P p

Strategy 15 Feb 12

Richard Linnell P

Gontse Moseneke P

Colin Bird P

Robin Vela P

Carina de Beer P

John Bentley P

Bill Guest P

Company Secretary P

Remuneration and Nomination Committee 1 Nov 11 3 Nov 11 16 Feb 12

John Bentley P P P

Richard Linnell P P P

Gontse Moseneke P P P

Company Secretary P P P

Audit and Risk Committee 1 Nov 11 25 May 12 15 Aug 12

Bill Guest P P P

Richard Linnell P P P

John Bentley P P P

Company Secretary P P P
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY

COMPANY SECRETARY CERTIFICATION 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance of accounting records 

and for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual 

financial statements and group annual financial statements of SacOil 

Holdings Limited. The annual financial statements of the group for the 

year ended 29 February 2012 have been prepared in accordance with the 

group’s accounting policies, which comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the presentation and disclosure requirements 

of International Accounting Standards statements and the requirements 

of the Companies Act of South Africa as well as the AC500 standards as 

issued by the Accounting Practices Board or its successor and the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE Limited and are consistent with those of the 

previous year. They have been prepared on a going concern basis and 

include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by 

management. Based on forecasts, the directors have no reason to believe 

that the Group or Company will not be a going concern in the foreseeable 

future.

The directors have also prepared the other information included in this 

annual report and are responsible for both its accuracy and consistency 

with the financial statements.

The directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as 

are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and 

prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

There has been no material change in the affairs and trading position of 

the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit 

report and the date of the notice of annual general meeting.

The directors are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings active, 

pending or threatened against or being brought by the Group or 

Company, which may have a material effect on the group’s financial 

position or which have had a material effect during the 12 months 

preceding the date of this notice of annual general meeting.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent 

accounting firm, Ernst & Young Inc. , which was given unrestricted access 

to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all 

Shareholders, directors and committee meetings of the Board. The 

directors believe that all representations made to the independent 

auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. The independent 

auditors’ report is presented on page 44.

The financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of 

the Group’s finance director, Carina de Beer. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 

24 August 2012 and are signed in its behalf by:

Richard Linnell

Chairman

Robin Vela

Chief Executive Officer

24 August 2012

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, SacOil Holdings Limited has 

lodged with the Commissioner all such returns and notices as are required by the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, and that all such returns and notices 

are true, correct and up to date.

Melinda Gous

Company Secretary

24 August 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Shareholders of SacOil Holdings Limited
REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of 

SacOil Holdings Limited set out on pages 46 to 84, which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at 29 February 2012, and the 

statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 

and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 

of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and 

separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to 

obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 

financial position of SacOil Holdings Limited as at 29 February 2012, and 

its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated 

and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 

Companies Act of South Africa.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE COMPANIES ACT

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

for the year ended 29 February 2012, we have read the Directors’ 

Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s 

Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 

inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and 

separate financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the 

respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not 

identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the 

audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we 

have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an 

opinion on these reports.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections 44(2) and 

44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we report that we have identified 

certain unlawful acts or omissions committed by persons responsible for 

the management of SacOil Holdings Limited, which constitute reportable 

irregularities in terms of the Auditing Profession Act, and have reported 

such matters to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. The 

matters pertaining to the reportable irregularities have been described 

in the note 35 of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

Ernst & Young Inc.

Iwan Hermanus Grobler

Director

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountant South Africa

24 August 2012

Wanderers Office Park

52 Corlett Drive

Illovo

Johannesburg

South Africa



45
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

SacOil’s efforts are concentrated on African oil 
opportunities with a key focus on short-term 
production situations. The exploration assets 
should be in proven areas of discovery with 
above average upside potential. 

EFFORTS YIELD RESULTS
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2012

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

Restated

Sales 37 172 586 35 143 119 37 172 586 35 143 119

Cost of sales (26 569 161) (23 615 391) (26 569 161) (23 615 391)

Gross profit 10 603 425 11 527 728 10 603 425 11 527 728

Other income 248 612 642 551 150 13 481 039 –

Other operating costs (169 802 981) (38 704 054) (82 043 271) (179 519 002)

Profit/(loss) from operations 89 413 086 (26 625 176) (57 958 807) (167 991 274)

Share-based payment expense 8 (8 891 216) (4 178 928) (8 891 216) (4 178 928)

Operating profit/(loss) 3 80 521 870 (30 804 104) (66 850 023) (172 170 202)

Investment income 4 29 455 933 1 166 618 67 268 547 1 166 618

Finance costs 5 (44 402 672) (17 309) (44 402 672) (17 309)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 65 575 131 (29 654 795) (43 984 148) (171 020 893)

Taxation 9 (155 308 763) (95 200) (10 342 750) (95 200)

Loss for the year (89 733 632) (29 749 995) (54 326 898) (171 116 093)

Other comprehensive loss:

Release of depreciation on property revaluation (340 000) (340 000) (340 000) (340 000)

Taxation related to components of other comprehensive 

income 9 95 200 95 200 95 200 95 200

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of taxation 10 (244 800) (244 800) (244 800) (244 800)

Total comprehensive loss (89 978 432) (29 994 795) (54 571 698) (171 360 893)

Loss attributable to :

Equity holders of the parent (95 506 424) (29 749 995) (54 326 898) (171 116 093)

Non-controlling interest 5 772 792 – – –

(89 733 632) (29 749 995) (54 326 898) (171 116 093)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (95 751 224) (29 994 795) (54 571 698) (171 360 893)

Non-controlling interest 5 772 792 – – –

(89 978 432) (29 994 795) (54 571 698) (171 360 893)

Loss per share

Per share information

Basic loss per share (cents) 25 (13,35) (6,67)

Diluted loss per share (cents) 25 (13,24) (6,21)
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2012

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

Restated

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 6 148 362 6 644 269 6 148 362 6 644 269

Exploration and evaluation assets 12 181 995 823 394 641 967 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 13 – – 20 155 777 20 155 777

Loans to Group companies 14 – – 76 674 172 70 611 483

Other financial assets 15 331 430 863 45 086 969 68 170 715 45 086 969

Total non-current assets 519 575 048 446 373 205 171 149 026 142 498 498

Current assets

Inventories 17 2 540 131 2 408 474 2 540 131 2 408 474

Other financial assets 15 – 11 413 375 – 11 413 375

Trade and other receivables 18 85 219 043 6 317 846 85 200 462 6 308 577

Cash and cash equivalents 19 10 774 298 17 898 834 10 590 140 17 733 464

Total current assets 98 533 472 38 038 529 98 330 733 37 863 890

Total assets 618 108 520 484 411 735 269 479 759 180 362 388

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Stated capital 20 486 184 423 374 029 488 486 184 423 374 029 488

Reserves 29 743 531 29 988 331 29 743 531 29 988 331

Accumulated loss (182 814 593) (96 199 385) (283 114 660) (237 678 978)

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent 333 113 361 307 818 434 232 813 294 166 338 841

Non-controlling interest 115 731 731 161 760 089 – –

Total shareholders’ equity 448 845 092 469 578 523 232 813 294 166 338 841

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 21 28 939 490 – – –

Deferred tax liability 16 93 728 263 – – –

Provisions 23 1 065 972 945 972 1 065 972 945 972

Total non-current liabilities 123 733 725 945 972 1 065 972 945 972

Current liabilities

Other financial liabilities 21 12 496 195 – 12 496 195 –

Current tax payable 20 495 100 – 10 247 550 –

Finance lease obligation 22 – 90 508 – 90 508

Trade and other payables 24 12 538 408 13 796 733 12 856 748 12 987 067

Total current liabilities 45 529 703 13 887 241 35 600 493 13 077 575

Total liabilities 169 263 428 14 833 213 36 666 465 14 023 547

Total equity and liabilities 618 108 520 484 411 735 269 479 759 180 362 388

Number of shares in issue 20 832 225 699 674 090 410

Net asset value per share (cents) 53,93 69,57

Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 32,06 11,03
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Figures in Rand

Stated
capital

(Note 20)

Revaluation
reserve

(Note 10)

Share-based
payment

reserve
(Note 8)

Total
reserves

Accumulated
loss

Total equity
attributable

to equity
holders of
the parent

Non-
controlling

interest (NCI)
Total

equity

Group
Balance at 1 March 2010 83 725 538 2 300 547 23 753 656 26 054 203 (66 449 390) 43 330 351 – 43 330 351
Changes in equity
Loss for the year – – – – (29 749 995) (29 749 995) – (29 749 995)
Other comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800)

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) (29 749 995) (29 994 795) – (29 994 795)
Issue of shares 290 303 950 – – – – 290 303 950 – 290 303 950
Share options issued – – 4 178 928 4 178 928 – 4 178 928 – 4 178 928
NCI’s share in assets acquired – – – – – – 161 760 089 161 760 089

Total changes 290 303 950 (244 800) 4 178 928 3 934 128 (29 749 995) 264 488 083 161 760 089 426 248 172

Balance at 1 March 2011 374 029 488 2 055 747 27 932 584 29 988 331 (96 199 385) 307 818 434 161 760 089 469 578 523
Changes in equity
(Loss)/profit for the year – – – – (95 506 424) (95 506 424) 5 772 791 (89 733 633)
Other comprehensive loss for 
the year – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800)

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit 
for the year – (244 800) – (244 800) (95 506 424) (95 751 224) 5 772 792 (89 978 433)
Issue of shares 112 154 935 – – – – 112 154 935 – 112 154 935
Share options issued – – 8 891 216 8 891 216 – 8 891 216 – 8 891 216
Share options lapsed – – (8 891 216) (8 891 216) 8 891 216 – – –
Dividends – – – – – – (51 801 149) (51 801 149)

Total changes 112 154 935 (244 800) – (244 800) (86 615 208) 25 294 927 (46 028 358) (20 733 431)

Balance at 29 February 2012 486 184 423 1 810 947 27 932 584 29 743 531 (182 814 593) 333 113 361 115 731 731 448 845 092

Company
Balance at 1 March 2010 83 725 538 2 300 547 23 753 656 26 054 203 (66 562 885) 43 216 856 – 43 216 856
Changes in equity
Loss for the year – – – – (171 116 093) (171 116 093) – (171 116 093)
Other comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800)

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) – (171 116 093) – (171 360 893)
Issue of shares 290 303 950 – – – – – 290 303 950
Share options issued – – 4 178 928 4 178 928 – 4 178 928 – 4 178 928

Total changes 290 303 950 (244 800) 4 178 928 3 934 128 (171 116 093) 123 121 985 – 123 121 985

Balance at 1 March 2011 374 029 488 2 055 747 27 932 584 29 988 331 (237 678 978) 166 338 841 – 166 338 841
Changes in equity
Loss for the year – – – – (54 326 898) (54 326 898) – (54 326 898)
Other comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800) – (244 800)

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – (244 800) – (244 800) (54 326 898) (54 571 698) – (54 571 698)
Issue of shares 112 154 935 – – – – 112 154 935 112 154 935
Share options issued – – 8 891 216 8 891 216 – 8 891 216 – 8 891 216
Share options lapsed – – (8 891 216) (8 891 216) 8 891 216 – – –

Total changes 112 154 935 (244 800) – (244 800) (45 435 682) 66 474 453 – 66 474 453

Balance at 29 February 2012 486 184 423 1 810 947 27 932 584 29 743 531 (283 114 660) 232 813 294 – 232 813 294

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2012
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 26 (133 918 365) (22 412 960) (126 818 932) (22 417 920)

Interest income 4 (1 447 623) 1 166 618 (1 467 738) 1 166 618

Dividends received 4 – – 51 237 750 –

Finance costs 5 (44 402 672) (17 309) (44 402 672) (17 309)

Tax paid 9 (40 990 200) – – –

Net cash from operating activities (220 758 860) (21 263 651) (121 451 592) (21 268 611)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (504 209) – (504 209) –

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets 12 (508 907) (54 474 700) – –

Sale of exploration and evaluation assets 12 143 465 700 – – –

Loans advanced to Group companies – – (6 062 689) –

Decrease/(increase) in loans and receivables 19 493 215 (46 009 244) 17 385 490 (100 478 982)

Net cash from investing activities 161 945 799 (100 483 944) 10 818 592  (100 478 982)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds on share issue 20 80 000 000 132 803 546 80 000 000 132 803 546

Proceeds from other financial liabilities 23 580 182 – 23 580 182 –

Finance lease payments (90 508) (154 980) (90 508) (154 980)

Dividends paid to NCI (51 801 149) – – –

Net cash from financing activities 51 688 525 132 648 566 103 489 674 132 648 566

Total movement in cash and cash equivalents for the year (7 124 536) 10 900 971 (7 143 326) 10 900 971

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17 898 834 6 997 863 17 733 464 6 832 493

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 19 10 774 298 17 898 834 10 590 140 17 733 464
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION AND BASIS OF 
PREPARATION

  The consolidated financial statements of the Group and Company 

for the year ended 29 February 2012 were authorised for issue in 

accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 24 August 2012. 

The Company is listed on both the JSE Limited and the AIM market 

of the London Stock Exchange and its securities are publicly 

traded. The registered office is located in Bryanston, South Africa. 

The principal activities of the Group and Company are described 

on pages 20 to 27.

  The consolidated annual financial statements of SacOil Holdings 

Limited (Company) and all of its subsidiaries (Group) for the year 

ended 29 February 2012 have been prepared in accordance with 

the Group and Company’s accounting policies, which comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as well as the AC500 

standards as issued by the Accounting Practices Board or its 

successor, the listings requirements of the JSE Limited and the 

Companies Act of South Africa, and are consistent with those of 

the previous year except for changes in accounting policies as 

detailed in note 1.19.

  These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost 

basis except for property, plant and equipment that have been 

measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in 

Rands.

1.1 CONSOLIDATION
 Basis of consolidation
  The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements of the 

Company and all entities which are controlled by the Company.

  Control exists when the Company has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities.

  The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated and 

separate annual financial statements from the effective date of 

acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, to 

the effective date of disposal.

  The subsidiaries have the same reporting periods as that of the 

holding Company.

  Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated annual 

financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with those of the Group.

  All intra Group transactions, balances, income and expense items 

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

  Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated 

subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the 

Group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses 

of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are 

allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a 

debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.

  Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where 

the Group has control of the subsidiary both before and after the 

transaction, are regarded as equity transaction and are recognised 

directly in the statement of changes in equity. The difference 

between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the 

movement in non-controlling interest for such transactions is 

recognised in equity attributable to the equity holders of the 

parent.

  Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling 

shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured at 

fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or 

loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the controlling 

interest.

 Business combinations
  The Group and Company account for business combinations using 

the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business 

combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of 

assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 

instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business 

combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue 

debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and 

costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

  Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination 

at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes to 

the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the 

contingent consideration are not affected against goodwill, but 

taken to profit or loss.

  The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3 Business 

combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition 

date, except for non-current assets (or disposal Group) that are 

classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 

assets held for sale and discontinued operations, which are 

recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

  Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets 

and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a present obligation 

at acquisition date.
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  On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the 

acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassify them where the 

classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes 

lease agreements and insurance contracts, whose classification 

remains as per their inception date.

  Non-controlling interests arising from a business combination are 

measured either at their share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 

assets or at its acquisition date fair value. The treatment is not an 

accounting policy choice but is selected for each individual 

business combination, and disclosed in the note for business 

combinations.

  In cases where the Group and Company held a non-controlling 

shareholding in the acquiree prior to obtaining control, that 

interest is measured to fair value as at acquisition date. The 

measurement to fair value is included in profit or loss for the year.

  Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair 

value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control, plus 

non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

  Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for 

impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired, that 

impairment is not subsequently reversed.

  Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign entities is considered an 

asset of the foreign entity. In such cases the goodwill is translated 

to the functional currency of the Group and Company at the end 

of each reporting period with the adjustment recognised in equity 

through to other comprehensive income.

1.2 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
  Company separate annual financial statements
  In the Company’s annual financial statements, investments in 

subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses and are classified as available for sale.

  The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of the 

fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 

incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 

Company.

1.3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS

  In preparing the consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements in conformity with IFRS, management is required to 

make accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the amounts represented in the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of 

available information and the application of judgement are 

inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future 

could differ from these estimates which may be material to the 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements. Significant 

estimates and judgements include:

 Share options granted
  Management used the Black Scholes model to determine the 

value of the share options at issue date. Additional details 

regarding the estimates are included in note 8 – Share-based 

payments.

 Exploration and evaluation expenditures
  The application of the Group and Company’s accounting policy for 

exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement in 

determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are 

either from future exploitation or sale or where activities have not 

reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 

existence of reserves. The determination of reserves and resources is 

itself an estimation process that requires varying degrees of uncertainty 

depending on sub-classification and these estimates directly impact 

the point of deferral of exploration and evaluation expenditure. The 

deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and 

assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular 

whether an economically viable extraction operation can be 

established. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new 

information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, 

information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 

expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount is written off 

in profit or loss in the period when the new information becomes 

available.

 Decommissioning estimates
  An obligation to incur decommissioning costs occurs when 

environmental disturbance is caused by exploration, evaluation, 

development or ongoing production. Costs are estimated on the 

basis of a formal closure plan and are subject to regular review.

  Decommissioning costs arising from the installation of plant and 

other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, 

are provided when the obligation to incur such costs arises and 

are capitalised into the cost of the related asset. These costs are 

charged against profits through depreciation of the asset and 

unwinding of the discount on the provision. Depreciation is 

included in operating costs while the unwinding of the discount is 

included as a financing cost. Changes in the measurement of a 

liability relating to the decommissioning of plant and other site 

preparation work are added to, or deducted from, the cost of the 

related asset.

  The provision recognised represents management’s best estimate 

of the costs that will be incurred, but significant estimation is 

required as many of these costs will not crystallise until the end of 

the life of the mine. Estimates are reviewed annually and are 

based on current regulatory requirements and the estimated 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

useful life of mines. Engineering and feasibility studies are 

undertaken periodically; however, significant changes in the 

estimates of contamination, restoration standards and techniques 

will result in changes to provisions from period to period.

  Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate 

based on the information available. Additional disclosure of the 

estimates included in the value of provisions is included in note 23 

– Provisions.

  Initial fair values, and re-estimation of cash flows relating 
to financial assets and liabilities

  Where the initial fair value of financial assets and liabilities recorded 

in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active 

markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques 

including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these 

models are taken from observable markets where possible, but 

where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in 

establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of 

inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, volatility, commodity prices 

and foreign currency risk. Estimates and assumptions are taken into 

account in the re-estimation of cash flows relating to financial 

instruments, including determination of geological chances of 

success to make a commercial discovery, existing information on 

resources as well as success rates of discoveries in the vicinity of the 

location of the Group and Company’s assets. Changes in these 

judgements, estimates and assumptions as a result of further 

production history and additional information could materially 

affect the reported fair value of financial assets and liabilities. Refer 

to note 15.

  The Group and Company make use of independent competent 

persons to evaluate and value its existing resources and reserves. 

Reports are prepared in accordance with standard geological and 

engineering methods generally accepted by the oil and gas 

industry, in particular the 2007 SPE Petroleum Resource 

Management System Guide.

 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
  The Group and Company measures property, plant and equipment 

at fair value with any changes in fair value being recognised in other 

comprehensive income. For more detail on the revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment refer to note 11.

 Taxation
  Judgement is required in determining the provision for income 

taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

  The Group and Company recognise the net future tax benefit 

related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is 

probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in 

the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 

income tax assets requires the Group and Company to make 

significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable 

income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast 

cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws 

in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and 

taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of 

the Group and Company to realise the net deferred tax assets 

recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
 1.4.1 Financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

  The Group and Company classify financial instruments within the 

scope of IAS39 – Financial instruments recognition and 

measurement, or their component parts, on initial recognition as 

a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group and 

Company’s statement of financial position when it becomes party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument and recognised 

initially at fair value. In the case of financial assets or liabilities not 

classified as at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 

financial instrument are added to the initial fair value.

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 

reported in the statement of financial position when the Group 

and Company have a legal right to set off the recognised amounts 

and intend to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 

the liability simultaneously.

  The Group and Company’s financial assets include cash and short-

term deposits, trade and other receivables, loans and other 

receivables and other financial assets. Cash and cash equivalents 

comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-

term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 

known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value. These are initially recognised at fair value and 

subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

 Subsequent measurement

  After initial recognition, financial assets are measured as follows:

 Loans and receivables

  These include loans to holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and 

subsidiaries, trade and other receivables and other financial 

assets.

  After initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any 

impairment which is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
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income in finance costs for loans and in other operating expenses 

for receivables.

 Derecognition of financial assets

  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 

flows from the investments have expired or have been 

transferred, and the Group and Company have transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

 1.4.2 Impairment of financial assets

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group and 

Company assess whether objective evidence of impairment exists 

either individually or collectively for financial assets that are not 

individually significant. If there is objective evidence that an 

impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 

future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). 

The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

  If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 

loss is increased or reduced through profit or loss. If an existing 

write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance 

costs in profit or loss.

 1.4.3 Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 – Financial 

instruments recognition and measurement are classified as 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

borrowings or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in 

an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group and Company 

determine the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 

recognition.

  All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus, in 

the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction 

costs.

  The Group and Company’s financial liabilities include trade and 

other payables, bank overdrafts and loans to Group companies.

 Subsequent measurement

  The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 

classification as described below:

 Loans and borrowings

  After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 

loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

effective interest rate method amortisation process. Amortised 

cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 

on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate 

amortisation is included in finance cost in profit or loss.

 Trade and other payables

  Trade payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 

liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing 

financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms or the terms of an existing liability are 

substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 

recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 

 1.4.4 Fair value of financial instruments

  The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active 

markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations, without any 

deduction for transaction costs.

  For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair 

value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such 

techniques may include:

 • Using recent arm’s length market transactions;

 •  Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that 

is substantially the same; and/or

 •  A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

  An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further 

details as to how they are measured are provided in note 30.

1.5 INVENTORIES
  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is determined by means of the First In, First Out basis or 

weighted average cost basis. Costs, including an appropriate 

portion of fixed and variable overhead costs, are assigned to 

inventories using the method most appropriate to the particular 

class of inventory.

  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated 

costs of completion and marketing, selling and distribution costs. 

Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective items 

where appropriate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

1.6 SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY
  Stated capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 

received by the Group and Company. Ordinary shares are classified 

as equity and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends are 

recognised as distributions within equity in the period in which 

they are declared.

1.7 REVENUE
  Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable to the extent that it is probable that 

economic benefits will flow to the Group and Company, and it can 

be reliably measured and excludes discounts and taxes.

 Sale of goods
  The sale of mining products is recognised when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the products are transferred to 

the buyer, which is considered to occur when title passes to the 

customer.

 Interest income
  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes 

into account the effective yield on the asset. Interest income is 

included in finance income in profit or loss.

 Dividend Income
  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment 

is established.

1.8 BORROWING COSTS
  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 

their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets 

until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that the Group and Company incur in connection with the 

borrowing of funds.

  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 

specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets 

is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.

1.9 TAX
 1.9.1 Current income tax

  Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, 

recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of 

current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 

periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

  

Current tax liabilities/assets for the current and prior periods are 

measured at the amount expected to be paid to/recovered from the tax 

authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 1.9.2 Deferred income tax

  Deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 

the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on 

temporary differences between the tax bases of the assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes at the reporting date.

  Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences, except where the deferred income tax 

liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset 

or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 

at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 

the taxable profit or loss.

  Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses to the extent that it is probably that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 

and unused tax losses can be utilised except where the deferred 

income tax asset arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting nor the taxable profit or loss.

 1.9.3 Production-sharing contracts

  Production sharing contracts (PSC) regulate and encourage the 

exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons in zones that are 

open to exploration. In order to back up this initiative, the different 

governments have the intention of granting to companies specific 

financial, economic and tax conditions for the exercise of the 

activities referred to in the contract.

  Any gains made on the transfer of an interest are taxable in 

accordance with the tax regimes of the different countries.

1.10 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
 Provisions are recognised when:
 •  The Group and Company have a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event;

 •  It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

 •  A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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 The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure 

expected to be required to settle the obligation.

  Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies 

are disclosed in note 34.

  The Group and Company have long-term decommissioning 

liabilities in relation to their environmental management plans, in 

compliance with current environmental and regulatory 

requirements.

 Decommissioning costs

  The provision for decommissioning represents the cost that will be 

incurred to rectify environmental damage. Accordingly, an asset is 

recognised and included in property, plant and equipment. 

Decommissioning costs are provided at the present value of the 

costs estimated to settle the obligation. Expert evaluation is used 

to estimate the quantum of such costs. Estimated future costs of 

decommissioning are reviewed regularly and adjusted as 

appropriate for new evidence or changes in legislation or 

technology. Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed 

against the relevant assets. Gains or losses on the expected 

disposal of mining assets are not taken into account when 

estimating the costs.

  

  The costs for the restoration of site damage, which arises during 

production, are provided at their net present values and charged 

against operating profits as extraction progresses. Changes in the 

measurement of a liability which arises during production are 

charged against operating profit.

  The discount rate used to measure the net present value of the 

obligations is the pre-tax rate that reflects the current market 

assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the obligation.

1.11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 

as an asset when:

 •  It is probable that future economic benefits associated with 

the item will flow to the Group and Company; and

 • The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

  Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost 

includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of 

property, plant and equipment, the estimate of the dismantling 

costs and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of or 

service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

  Items of property, plant and equipment are subsequently stated at 

revaluation value, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Assets forming part of the long-term 

infrastructure of mining operations including buildings, plant and 

equipment, roads and dams are depreciated evenly over the 

remaining useful life of the mining operation. Depreciation on 

mining assets begins when it is available for use. An asset becomes 

available for use when it is in the location and condition necessary 

for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management.

  The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of 

property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained 

earnings when the asset is derecognised.

  The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of 

property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained 

earnings when the asset is used. The amount transferred is equal 

to the difference between depreciation based on the revalued 

carrying amount and depreciation based on the original cost of 

the asset.

  Mining claims which are not exploited are valued at historical cost 

and are amortised over their estimated useful lives using the unit 

of production method. Mining claims which are not being 

exploited are not amortised.

  Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off 

the cost of each asset, or the revalued amounts, to their residual 

values over their estimated useful lives. The depreciation rates 

applicable to each category of property, plant and equipment are 

as follows:

 Item  Average useful life

 Buildings 10 years

 Motor vehicles 5 years

 Office equipment 3 years

 Plant and equipment 10 years

  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each 

asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the 

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 

accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

  The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or 

loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

  The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 

property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when 

the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the 

derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, 

if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

1.12  OIL AND NATURAL GAS EXPLORATION AND 
EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

  Exploration and evaluation assets consist of oil and natural gas 

exploration, evaluation and development expenditure. Pre-licence 

costs are recognised in profit and loss.

  Exploration licence costs are capitalised and reviewed at each 

reporting period to confirm that there are no indications that the 

carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. This review 

includes confirming that exploration drilling is still under way or 

firmly planned, or that it has been determined, or work is under 

way to determine that the discovery is economically viable based 

on a range of technical and commercial considerations, and 

sufficient progress is being made on establishing development 

plans and timing. If no future activity is planned, the carrying value 

of the licence and property acquisition is written off through profit 

or loss.

  Upon recognition of proved reserves and internal approval for the 

development, the relevant costs are transferred to oil and gas 

properties.

  Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral 

resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the 

assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

  Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an 

existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over the 

term of the permit. Capitalised costs include costs directly related 

to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant area of 

interest and include employee remuneration, materials and fuel 

used, rig costs and payments made to contractors. General and 

administrative costs are allocated to an exploration or evaluation 

asset only to the extent that those costs are directly related to 

operational activities in the relevant area of interest.

  Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off 

when the exploration licence expires or if the exploration and 

evaluation of the relevant area indicated no technical feasibility 

and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource.

  Each individual mineral lease, concession or production sharing 

contract is considered as a separate exploration and evaluation 

asset. Costs incurred to acquire undeveloped mineral rights are 

capitalised if an inflow of future economic benefits is expected. 

Prospecting costs incurred before the exploration and evaluation 

phase, when economic benefits are highly uncertain, will be 

expensed as incurred. If it is uncertain that economic benefits will 

flow, the costs are expensed.

  

  Once commercial viability is demonstrated and a development 

decision has been taken, the carrying amount of the exploration 

and evaluation expenditure in respect of the exploration and 

evaluation asset is reclassified as an oil and gas property. Further 

exploration and evaluation costs incurred are either classified 

under exploration and evaluation assets or property, plant and 

equipment depending on the nature of the expenses.

1.13 OIL AND GAS: DEVELOPMENT/PRODUCING ASSETS
  All field development costs are classified under property, plant 

and equipment and are stated at cost, less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The initial cost 

of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any 

costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the 

initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation, and for 

qualifying assets (where applicable), borrowing costs. The 

purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid 

and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire 

the asset.

  Development costs incurred by or on behalf of the Group or 

Company are accumulated separately for each area of interest in 

which economically recoverable resources have been identified. 

They include those costs that lead directly to the discovery, 

acquisition or development of specific discrete mineral reserves, 

as well as costs related to unsuccessful development wells. Once 

capitalised, these costs become part of the capitalised costs of the 

exploration and evaluation asset. Costs that are known at the time 

of incurrence and which costs fail to meet this recognition criterion 

are generally charged to profit or loss as an expense in the period 

in which they are incurred.

  When a development project moves into the production stage, 

the capitalisation of certain construction/development costs 

ceases and costs are either regarded as part of the cost of 

inventory or expensed, except for costs which qualify for 

capitalisation relating to oil and gas property asset additions, 

improvements or new developments.

  All expenditure carried within each field is depreciated/amortised 

on a unit-of-production basis over the total proved, developed 

and undeveloped reserves of the field concerned, except in the 

case of assets which have useful lives shorter than the lifetime of 

the field, in which case the straight line method is applied, with 

separate calculations being made for each cost centre.

  Rights and concessions are depleted on the unit-of-production 

basis over the total proved developed and undeveloped reserves 

of the relevant cost centre.

  Where there has been a change in economic conditions that 

indicates a possible impairment in a discovery field, the 

recoverability of the net book value relating to that field is 

assessed by comparison with the estimated discounted future 

cash flows based on management’s expectations of future oil and 

gas prices and future costs. Where there is evidence of economic 
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interdependency between fields, the fields are grouped as a single 

cash generating unit for impairment purposes. Refer note 1.17 for 

further detail.

  The useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment 

is reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively, if 

appropriate.

 

  In accounting for farm-out arrangements in both the exploration 

and evaluation and the production phases, the Group and 

Company:

 •  Derecognise the proportion of the asset sold to the farmee;

 •  Recognise the consideration received or receivable from the 

farmee, which represents the farmee’s obligation to fund the 

capital expenditure in relation to the interest retained by the 

farmor;

 •  Recognise a gain or loss on the transaction for the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 

the asset disposed of. A gain is only recognised when the value 

of the consideration can be determined reliably. If not, the 

Group and Company account for the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

disposed of. A gain is only recognised when the value of the 

consideration can be determined reliably. If not, then the 

Group and Company account for the consideration received as 

a reduction in the carrying amount of the underlying assets; 

and

 •  Test the retained interest for impairment if the terms of the 

arrangement indicate that the retained interest may be 

impaired.

  The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of property, 

plant and equipment or an exploration and evaluation asset is 

recognised initially at its fair value by the Group and Company. 

However, if the payment or part payment for the item is deferred, 

the consideration received is recognised initially at the cash price 

equivalent. The difference between the nominal amount of the 

consideration and the cash price equivalent is recognised as 

interest revenue. Any part of the consideration that is receivable 

in the form of cash is treated as a definition of a financial asset and 

is accounted for at amortised cost.

1.14 SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
  Employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive 

remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions 

whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 

instruments (equity-settled transactions).

 Equity-settled transactions
  Equity-settled transactions include share options granted to 

employees and also include transactions that are equity-settled by 

the Group or Company. The cost of equity-settled transactions is 

recognised on the grant date, together with a corresponding 

increase in other capital reserves in equity, over the period during 

which the performance and/or services are fulfilled. The 

cumulative expense recognised in employee benefit expenses for 

equity-settled transactions at each reporting period, reflects the 

extent to which the vesting period has expired, and the Group and 

Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 

that will ultimately vest. The initial valuation of the expense at the 

grant date is not revalued and is credited to equity through profit 

or loss. Refer to note 8 for details of equity-settled transactions 

and valuations.

  The Group and Company measure cost of equity-settled 

transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instruments at the grant date. In estimating fair value, the 

Group and Company use the most appropriate valuation model 

which is dependent on the terms and conditions of each grant. 

The estimate also requires determining of the most appropriate 

inputs to the valuation model, including the expected life of the 

share option, volatility and dividend yielding and making 

assumptions about them. These are disclosed in note 8. The 

dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional 

share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings and headline 

earnings per share. Refer to note 25 for further details.

  The Company also enters into equity-settled share-based 

payments with non-employees for goods and services received. 

The cost of these transactions is recognised on the effective date 

of the transaction, with a corresponding increase to equity 

(stated capital). The cost is measured by reference to the fair 

value of the goods or services received, unless this cannot be 

reliably measured, in which case it is measured by reference to 

the fair value of the equity instruments given up. Refer to note 8 

for further details.

1.15 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
 Short-term employee benefits
  The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 

12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 

leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such 

as medical care) are recognised in the period in which the service 

is rendered and are not discounted.

  The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is 

recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 

obligation to make such payments as a result of past 

performance.

 Defined contribution plans
  The Company contributes towards a defined contribution plan 

under which contributions are paid to a third party. Once 

contributions have been made, the Company has no further 

payment obligations. The contributions are recognised in profit 

or loss when they are due.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

1.16 LEASES
  A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 

classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

 Finance leases – lessee
  Assets leased under finance leases are recognised as assets at 

amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if 

lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement 

of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

  The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the 

minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

  The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge 

and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is 

allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the liability.

 Operating leases – lessee
  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 

straight line basis over the lease term. The difference between 

the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 

payments is recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

  Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are 

incurred.

1.17 IMPAIRMENT OF NON FINANCIAL ASSETS
  The Group and Company assess at the end of the reporting 

period whether there is any objective indication that a non-

financial asset (excluding exploration and evaluation assets) may 

be impaired.

  If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 

recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual 

asset, the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) 

to which the asset belongs is determined. The recoverable 

amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less 

costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs to sell 

calculation is based on available data from binding sales 

transactions in arm’s length transactions of similar assets or 

observable market prices less incremental cost for disposing of 

the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted 

cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for 

the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that 

the Group is not yet committed to or significant future 

investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the 

CGU being tested.

  An impairment loss is recognised for CGUs if the recoverable 

amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. 

The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount 

of the assets of the unit in the following order: first, to reduce 

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash 

generating unit; and then, to the other assets of the unit pro rata 

on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

  The Group and Company assess at each reporting date whether 

there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 

prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist 

or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 

recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

  The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill 

attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss must not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

1.18 TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES
 Functional and presentation currency
  Items included in the consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

entity operates (functional currency).

  The consolidated and separate annual financial statements are 

presented in Rand which is the Group and Company’s functional 

and presentation currency.

 Foreign currency transactions
  A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition 

in Rand, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot 

exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign 

currency at the date of the transaction.

 At the end of the reporting period:

 •  Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the 

closing rate;

 •  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction; and

 •  Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 

the date when the fair value was determined.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 

items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 

those at which they were translated on initial recognition during 

the period or in previous consolidated and separate annual 

financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period 

in which they arise.
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  When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain 

or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or 

loss.

  Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are 

recorded in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount 

the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at 

the date of the cash flow.

1.19  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
DISCLOSURES

 New and amended standards and interpretations
  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 

previous financial year, except for the following new and 

amended standards and interpretations which are applicable to 

the Group and Company effective as of 1 March 2011:

  New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 

1 March 2011

 •  IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (amendment) effective 

1 January 2011

 •  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amendment) 

effective 1 July 2011

 •  IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments effective 1 July 2010

 •  Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010):

  o  IFRS 3 Business Combinations – measurement options 

available for non-controlling interest (NCI)

  o  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – collateral and 

qualitative disclosures

  o  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Clarification of 

statement of changes in equity

  o  IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

– Transition requirements for amendments

  o  IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting – Significant events and 

transactions

  The impact of the adoption of these standards or interpretations 

is described below.

 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (amendment)
  The amended standard clarified the definition of a related party 

to simplify the identification of such relationships and to 

eliminate inconsistencies in its application. Early adoption is 

permitted for either the partial exemption for government-

related entities or for the entire standard. The effects of the 

revised IAS 24 did not affect the financial performance and 

position of the Company or the Group.

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
  The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial 

assets that have been transferred but not derecognised to enable 

the user of the Company and Group’s financial statements to 

understand the relationship with those assets that have not been 

derecognised and their associated liabilities. In addition, the 

amendment requires disclosures about continuing involvement 

in derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature 

of, and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement 

in those derecognised assets. The adoption of the amendment 

did not have any impact on the financial position or performance 

of the Company or the Group.

  IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments

  IFRIC 19 clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to 

extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The 

equity instruments issued are measures at their fair value. In case 

that this cannot be reliably measured, the instruments are 

measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. Any gain 

or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

  The adoption of this interpretation did not affect the financial 

statements of the Company or the Group.

 Improvements to IFRS (issued in May 2010)
  In May 2010, the IASB issued its third omnibus of amendments to 

its standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies 

and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions 

for each amendment. The adoption of the following amendments 

resulted in changes to the stated accounting policies of the 

Company and the Group, but did not have any impact on the 

financial position or performance of the Company and the Group 

on initial application.

•  IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The measurement options available 

for non-controlling interest (NCI) were amended. Only components 

of NCI that constitute a present ownership interest that entitles 

their holder to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in 

the event of liquidation, should be measured at either fair value or 

at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components are to be 

measured at their acquisition date fair value.

•  IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures: The amendment was 

intended to simplify the disclosures provided by reducing the 

volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving 

disclosures by requiring qualitative information to put the 

quantitative information in context.

•  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment 

clarifies that an entity may present an analysis of each component 

of other comprehensive income, maybe either in the statement of 

changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

  The following interpretation and amendments to interpretations 

did not have any impact on the accounting policies, financial 

position or performance of the Company and the Group:

 • IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

 • IAS 34 Interim Financial Statements

2.  IMPACT OF NEW STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS

  Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of 

the financial statements are listed below. This listing of standards 

and interpretations issued are those that the Company and the 

Group reasonably expect will have an impact on disclosures, 

financial position and/or financial performance, when applied at a 

future date. The Company and the Group intend to adopt those 

standards when they become effective.

  The adoption of these standards is not expected to have a material 

impact on the results of the Group and Company.

 IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation:
  Presentation of items of other comprehensive income: The 

amendments to IAS 1 change the Grouping of items presented in 

OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss 

at a future point in time would be presented separately from 

items that will never be reclassified. The amendment affects 

presentation only. The amendment becomes effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

 IAS 12 Income Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets:
  The amendment clarified the determination of deferred tax on 

investment property measured at fair value. This should be 

determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered 

through sale. It introduces the requirement that deferred tax on 

non-depreciable assets that are measured using the revaluation 

model in IAS 16 be measured on a sale basis of the asset. The 

amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2012.

 IAS 19 Employee Benefits (amendment):
  The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19. These 

range from fundamental changes such as removing the corridor 

mechanism and the concept of expected returns on plan assets to 

simple clarifications and re-wording. The amendment becomes 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

The effects of this amendment are not considered significant to 

the Company or the Group.

 IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011):
  As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, what remains of 

IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled 

entities, and associates in separate financial statements. The 

amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013.

  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as 
revised in 2011):

  As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, IAS 28 has been 

renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and 

describes the application of the equity method to investments in 

joint ventures in addition to associates. The amendment becomes 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amendment):
  The IASB issued an amendment to clarify the meaning of “currently 

has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts” 

(IAS 32.42(a)). The amendment is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
  The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial 

assets that have been transferred but not derecognised to enable 

the user of the Company and the Group’s financial statements to 

understand the relationship with those assets that have not been 

derecognised and their associated liabilities. In addition, the 

amendment requires disclosures about continuing involvement in 

derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, 

and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in 

those derecognised assets. The amendment becomes effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
  IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements that addressed the accounting for 

consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues 

raised in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 

establishes a single control model that applies to all entities 

including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 

10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to 

determine which entities are controlled, band therefore, are 

required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the 

requirements that were in IAS 27. This standard becomes effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements:
  IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 

Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by 

Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly 

controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. 

Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint venture must be 

accounted for using the equity method. This standard becomes 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities:
  IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in 

IAS 27, related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all 

of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and 

IAS 28. These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in 
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subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured 

entities. A number of new disclosures are also required. This 

standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013.

 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement:
  IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all 

fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity 

is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how 

to measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or 

permitted. This standard becomes effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and 
Measurement:

  IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the 

replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and 

measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined 

in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2015. In subsequent phases, the IASB will 

address hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The 

completion of this project is expected over the course of 2011 or 

the first half of 2012. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will 

have no effect on the classification and measurement of the 

Company and Group’s financial assets or financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

Restated

3. OPERATING PROFIT/ LOSS
Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after 
accounting for the following income and (expense) 
items:

Operating lease charges

Premises

• Straight line amounts (564 101) (124 479) (564 101) (124 479)

Gain on re-estimation of cash flows of financial assets 12 219 138 297 – – –

Loss on sale of exploration and evaluation assets 12 (83 446 480) – – –

Impairment of investment in subsidiary 3.1 – – – (141 361 141)

Gains/(losses) on foreign exchange differences 6 179 190 (531 963) 1 923 714 –

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (660 117) (655 778) (660 117) (655 778)

Employee costs excluding directors’ emoluments   6 (7 677 979) (4 813 140) (7 677 979) (4 813 140)

3.1 Impairment of investment in subsidiary
  During the prior year the Group transferred the 

underlying assets in SacOil (Proprietary) Limited 
to Semliki by statute of DRC laws related to its 
share in Block III. As a result of the transfer, 
SacOil’s investment in SacOil (Proprietary) 
Limited was impaired as a prior period 
restatement, and a corresponding impairment 
loss was recognised in profit or loss. Refer to 
Note 27 for further information.

4. INVESTMENT INCOME
Dividend revenue

Subsidiaries – Foreign  – – 51 237 750 –

Interest revenue

Interest received – loans 15 574 822 – 15 574 822 –

Interest received – cash and cash equivalents 455 975 1 166 618 455 975 1 166 618

Imputed interest on financial assets  13 411 635 –

29 455 933 1 166 618 67 268 547 1 166 618

5. FINANCE COSTS
Trade and other payables – 460 – 460

Cash and cash equivalents 2 837 154 2 837 154

South African Revenue Services 279 041 – 279 041 –

Finance leases 3 008 16 695 3 008 16 695

Cash settlement of equity conversion 5.1 44 025 981 – 44 025 981 –

Other finance costs 91 805 – 91 805 –

44 402 672 17 309 44 402 672 17 309
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5. FINANCE COSTS CONTINUED

5.1 On 3 March 2011 SacOil entered into a facility agreement with Rencap to raise a maximum of US$30,9 million. The facility was granted in 

three tranches, as follows:

• Tranche A: the amount of US$12,9 million;

• Tranche B: a maximum of the Rand equivalent of US$12,0 million; and

• Tranche C: a maximum of the Rand equivalent of US$6,0 million. Tranche C may only be drawn down upon 30 days’ notice to Rencap.

In terms of the facility agreement, Rencap had the right to convert any amount repaid by SacOil under the agreement into Ordinary Shares 

in accordance with the following calculation (conversion issue): the Rand value of the amount being repaid, converted from US$ into Rand 

by Rencap at the spot rate on the date of any advance divided by the conversion price calculated as a 10% discount to the 30-day VWAP on 

the advance date. The agreement also provided for Rencap to elect to cash settle the conversion issue. 

At 1 March 2011, Tranche A had already been drawn down by SacOil and an amount of US$12 million was repaid in cash on 10 March 2012. 

In terms of the agreement Rencap elected to cash settle the conversion issue that arose in connection with the repayment of Tranche A.

On 25 May 2012, the total outstanding balance of the facility was settled as follows:

•  In relation to Tranche A, a conversion amount of US$1,8 million, interest of US$0,3 million, facility fees of US$0,8 million (R20,3 million); 

and

• In relation to Tranche B, a conversion amount of US$3,1 million and interest of US$0,3 (R23,7 million).

Company

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Executive

2012
Robin Vela 21 141 921

• Fees for services as director 2 404 166
• Annual bonus 2 350 000
• Once-off contractual bonus for successful admission to AIM 2 500 000

Total cash 7 254 166
• Once-off contractual bonus for successful admission to AIM
Total shares (6 489 605 shares at R2,14 fully paid and locked in for one year from admission) (Note 8.2.3) 13 887 755

Colin Bird 5 712 645

• Fees for services as executive director (from March 2011 to October 2011) 250 060

Total cash 287 590
• Once-off contractual bonus for successful admission to AIM 
Total shares (2 552 610 shares at R2,14 fully paid and locked in for one year from admission) (Note 8.2.3) 5 462 585

Carina de Beer  2 912 500

• Fees for services as director 1 412 500
• Annual bonus 1 500 000

29 767 066

2011
Robin Vela – Fees for services as director 1 695 000
Colin Bird (non-executive from October 2010 to February 2011) – Fees for services as director 151 249
Carina de Beer – Fees for services as director 562 500

2 408 749
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company
6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS CONTINUED

Non-executive
2012
Richard Linnell (Chairman) 282 767
John Bentley 277 383
Bill Guest 277 372
Colin Bird
– For services as non-executive director (from October 2011 to 28 February 2012) 188 558
Gontse Moseneke 133 755

1 159 835

2011
Richard Linnell (Chairman) 236 667

Gontse Moseneke 130 000
Colin Bird (from 1 March 2010 to October 2010) 105 000

471 667

Executive management
2012
Bradley Cerff – Vice President Operations (Appointed May 2011) 1 016 651

There were no executive management members during the 2011 reporting period. The directors and management did not earn any fees from 
Group companies for the period under review.
Details of service contracts
Refer to the director’s report for details on directors’ interests and note 8 for other share-based payments. No post employment, long-term or 
termination benefits were paid to any director or member of executive management.

Group Company

Figures in Rand
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

7. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Fees 290 000 190 000 290 000 190 000
The budgeted audit fee for the 2012 financial reporting period is 
R600 000 which excludes disbursements or fees for other services.

Group and Company
2012 2011

8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
8.1 SacOil Share Option Scheme

Number of options outstanding at the beginning of the year 51 817 666 41 986 136
Granted during the year – 10 464 446
Exercised during the year – (632 916)
Outstanding at the end of the year 51 817 666 51 817 666

Exercisable at the end of the year 49 201 455 46 585 443

Outstanding options
Exercise date 

within one year
Options with exercise price of 82,15 (cents) 41 986 135
Options with exercise price of 29 (cents) 9 831 531
Information on options granted during the year
Weighted fair value of options issued during the year – 4 178 928 – 4 178 928
Fair value was determined by using the Black Scholes Merton 
Valuation Model. The following inputs were used:
• Weighted average share price: 45 cents
• Exercise price: 29 cents
• Expected volatility: 116,17%
• Option life: Between 5 and 6 years
• Expected dividends: Nil
• The risk free interest rate: 8%
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8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

8.1 SacOil Share Option Scheme continued

Assumptions to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise:

•  how expected volatility was determined, including an explanation of the extent to which expected volatility was based on historical 
volatility; and

•  how any other features of the option grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value, such as a market condition.

Total expenses of R Nil (2011: R4 178 928) related to equity settled share-based payment transactions were recognised in 2012 and 2011 
respectively.

At 28 February 2011 and 29 February 2012 the directors held 51 817 666 share options as follows:

Name
Number

of options
Option price

(cents)
Fair value

(cents)
Date

granted

R Vela 8 397 227 82,15 57,00 2008/11/21

R Vela 4 198 614 29,00 40,00 2010/07/08

B Christie – Resigned 31 August 2009 8 397 227 82,15 57,00 2008/11/21

C Bird 12 595 841 82,15 57,00 2008/11/21

R Linnell 12 595 841 82,15 57,00 2008/11/21

G Moseneke 3 132 916 29,00 40,00 2010/07/08

C de Beer 2 500 000 29,00 40,00 2010/07/08

Total 51 817 666

On 20 September 2010 the Company adopted a new share option scheme which provides for a maximum aggregate number of 
115 418 366 Ordinary Shares in the authorised share capital of the Company, to be issued in terms of the amended share option scheme 
and a maximum aggregate number of 28 854 541 ordinary shares in the issued capital of the Company to be issued to any one participant.

The Company is proposing certain amendments to its existing share option scheme, including, inter alia, an updated maximum number 
of Ordinary Shares that can be granted as options and to allow non-executive directors, that are not regarded as independent, to 
participate in the Scheme. Refer to Annexure 2 on page 99.

In addition to the above amendments and in compliance with Schedule 14 of the Listings Requirements, the proposed amendments to 
the share option scheme included the following material conditions:

• A participant must be an employee of the Company to qualify;

• Options are granted at the discretion of the Board;

•  If any participant leaves the employment of the Company or resigns as executive director, all of the options that may become 
exercisable on or after the date of termination will lapse immediately;

Details of equity settled transactions for the Group and Company are as follows:

Note
Number of

shares issued

Traded share
price at date
of exchange

Fair
value

2012

Shares issued in lieu of fees paid to Rencap 29.2.2 796 577 R2,16 1 720 606

Shares issued to directors for the successful admission of the 
Company on AIM 29.2.3 9 042 215 R2,14  19 350 340

Call options issued to Rencap in terms of a facility agreement 29.2.4 12 021 122 R1,46 8 891 216

2011

Shares issued for purchase of exploration and evaluation assets 29.2.1 209 456 000 R0,74 154 997 440

 8.2 Other share-based payment transactions concluded during the year include the following:
  8.2.1  The fair value of the exploration and evaluation assets could not be reliably determined at the date of exchange as the exploration 

and evaluation asset is unexplored and unevaluated and no geological data existed on the asset. The Group and Company have 
therefore rebutted the presumption that this fair value can be reliably measured. The exploration and evaluation assets have 
therefore been measured in terms of the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

  8.2.2  On 5 January 2011, SacOil entered into an agreement with Rencap in terms of which Rencap undertook to act as exclusive 
financial adviser to SacOil with respect to any potential investment by Total, in Block III. The fee payable by SacOil for financial 
advisory services rendered by Rencap, in terms of the agreement, is US$0,5 million, of which US$0,25 million was settled 
through the issue of 796 577 of SacOil Ordinary Shares issued at R2,16 per SacOil Ordinary Share being the higher of: (1) the 
30-day VWAP of SacOil’s Ordinary Shares up to the last trading day prior to the announcement of the Block III farm out and 
(2) the closing price of SacOil’s Ordinary Shares on the last trading day prior to the announcement; converted at R6,88 to 
US$1,00, being the closing Rand/US$ exchange rate on the last trading date prior to the announcement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
 8.2 continued
  8.2.3  In terms of their service contracts dated 17 November 2010 and the amendments thereto, dated 24 February 2011 with the 

Company, Mr R Vela and Mr C Bird are entitled to AIM bonuses. Mr R Vela and Mr C Bird are entitled to an amount equal to 
1,5 per cent and 0,5 per cent, respectively, of the increase in the market capitalisation of the Company from 20 September 2010 
to the date of the Admission. The AIM bonuses were payable, at the discretion of the SacOil Remuneration Committee, either:

   •  In cash; or
   •   By the allotment and issue of such number of SacOil Ordinary Shares, credited as fully paid, at the 30-day VWAP of SacOil’s 

Ordinary Shares as at the date of Admission.

    The SacOil Remuneration Committee approved the AIM bonuses. The maximum number of SacOil Ordinary Shares that may be 
issued to Mr R Vela and Mr C Bird on a cumulative basis in terms of the Bonus Issues at each Anniversary Date is limited to 3% 
and 1%, respectively, of the total number of issued SacOil Ordinary Shares in the stated capital of the Company. Mr R Vela and 
Mr C Bird were both executive directors of SacOil at the time that the Company was admitted to AIM. Mr Bird was appointed 
executive director to assist the Company with its application for an admission to AIM and, accordingly, as the AIM Admission 
bonuses were settled through the issue of SacOil Ordinary Shares, the required SacOil shareholder approval was procured at a 
general meeting of shareholders on 31 March 2011.

    The SacOil Ordinary Shares that are the subject of the AIM bonuses will be of a class already in issue. The SacOil Ordinary Shares 
that are the subject of the AIM bonuses were issued at the 30-day VWAP as at the date of the Admission and, therefore, no 
fairness opinion in respect of the AIM bonuses was required in terms of paragraph 5.51(f) of the Listings Requirements.

  8.2.4  In terms of a call option agreement, Rencap had also been granted call options over SacOil’s Ordinary Shares with an expiration 
date of 20 February 2012. The number of options granted in respect of Tranche A is 6 394 888 call options calculated with 
reference to 10 per cent of the US$ value of Tranche A converted at R7,20 to US$1,00, divided by the Tranche A strike price of 
R1,45. These options were exercisable at the Tranche A strike price. The number of options granted in respect of Tranche B is 
5 626 234 call options calculated with reference to 10 per cent of Tranche B converted at R6,97 to US$1,00, divided by the 
Tranche B strike price of R1,48. These options were exercisable at the Tranche B strike price. Both the Tranche A and B call 
options have lapsed and will not be issued in future.

Group Company

Figures in Rand
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

9. TAXATION
Major components of the tax (expense)/income in profit or loss

Current

Foreign dividend tax (10 247 550) – (10 247 550) –

Foreign estimated penalties (10 247 550) – – –

Foreign income tax – current period (40 990 200)  –  – –

(61 485 300) (10 247 550)

Deferred

Arising from the sale of an exploration and evaluation asset (105 304 059) – – –

Arising from the estimated future benefit available to Semliki in relation 
to carried costs of US$3,8 million (R28,9 million) actually spent by Total 
on behalf of Semliki during 2011 11 575 796 – – –

Decrease in tax losses available for set off against future taxable income (95 200) (95 200) (95 200) (95 200)

(155 308 763) (95 200) (10 342 750) (95 200)

Major components of the tax income in other comprehensive income

Originating temporary difference on depreciation of revalued property, 
plant and equipment 95 200 95 200 95 200 95 200

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate

Applicable tax rate (%) 28,00 28,00 28,00 28,00

Permanent differences (%) (5,73) (14,08) (5,73) (14,08)

Deferred tax asset not recognised (%) (23,53) (13,92) (23,53) (13,92)

Average effective tax rate (%) (1,26) – (1,26) –

Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised. 80 926 877 43 481 893 80 926 877 43 481 893
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10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Gross Tax Net

Components of other comprehensive income 
Group and Company – 2012
Movements on revaluation 
Depreciation of fair value gain on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment (340 000) 95 200 (244 800)

Components of other comprehensive income 
Group and Company – 2011
Movements on revaluation 
Depreciation of fair value gain on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment (340 000) 95 200 (244 800)

2012 2011

Group
Cost/

valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT
Buildings 5 369 960 (1 314 379) 4 055 581 5 369 960 (671 185) 4 698 775
Plant and equipment 1 753 000 (337 722) 1 415 278 1 861 718 (219 125) 1 642 593
Furniture and fixtures 129 867 (11 650) 118 217 – – –
Motor vehicles 459 219 (142 324) 316 895 340 000 (68 000) 272 000
Computer equipment 274 473 (50 082) 224 391 19 350 (6 449) 12 901
Mining claims 18 000 – 18 000 18 000 – 18 000

Total 8 004 519 (1 856 157) 6 148 362 7 609 028 (964 759) 6 644 269

Company
Buildings 5 369 960 (1 314 379) 4 055 581 5 369 960 (671 185) 4 698 775
Plant and equipment 1 753 000 (337 722) 1 415 278 1 861 718 (219 125) 1 642 593
Furniture and fixtures 129 867 (11 650) 118 217 – – –
Motor vehicles 459 219 (142 324) 316 895 340 000 (68 000) 272 000
Computer equipment 274 473 (50 082) 224 391 19 350 (6 449) 12 901
Mining claims 18 000 – 18 000 18 000 – 18 000

Total 8 004 519 (1 856 157) 6 148 362 7 609 028 (964 759) 6 644 269

Reconciliation of property, plant and 
equipment – Group and Company – 
2012 Opening balance Additions Depreciation Total

Buildings 4 698 775 – (643 194) 4 055 581
Plant and equipment 1 642 593 – (227 316) 1 415 278
Furniture and fixtures – 129 867 (11 650) 118 217
Motor vehicles 272 000 119 219 (74 324) 316 895
Computer equipment 12 901 255 123 (43 633) 224 391
Mining claims 18 000 – – 18 000

6 644 270 504 209 (1 000 117) 6 148 362

Reconciliation of property, plant and 

equipment – Group and Company – 

2011 Opening balance Depreciation Total

Buildings 5 369 960 (671 185) 4 698 775
Plant and equipment 1 892 737 (250 144) 1 642 593
Motor vehicles 340 000 (68 000) 272 000
Computer equipment 19 350 (6 449) 12 901
Mining claims 18 000 – 18 000

7 640 047 (995 778) 6 644 269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Pledged as security
Carrying value of assets pledged as 

security:
Motor vehicles – 200 000 – 200 000

A motor vehicle with a book value of R NIL (2011: R200 000) is subject to an instalment sale obligation. 
Revaluations
At 29 February 2012, the Company revalued its property, plant and equipment. The valuation was done by an independent valuer, estimating 

the value of the assets using a combination of replacement values, the researched second-hand values, usage values as well as estimated 

liquidation values in order to estimate the current market values.

12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Group 2012 2011

Cost
Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value Cost 

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value

Exploration and evaluation asset 181 995 823 – 181 995 823 394 641 967 – 394 641 967

Reconciliation of exploration and evaluation assets – Group – 2012

Opening balance Additions Disposals Total

Block III DRC 342 967 267 29 448 397 (242 094 541) 130 321 123

OPL281 Nigeria 47 712 172 – – 47 712 172

OPL233 Nigeria 3 962 528 – – 3 962 528

394 641 967 29 448 397 (242 094 541) 181 995 823

Reconciliation of exploration and evaluation assets – Group – 2011

Block III DRC – 342 967 267 – 342 967 267

OPL281 Nigeria – 47 712 172 – 47 712 172

OPL233 Nigeria – 3 962 528 – 3 962 528

– 394 641 967 – 394 641 967

 Block III

  At 29 February 2012, SacOil held 50 per cent of the issued capital of Semliki, which in turn holds the oil concession rights pertaining to Block III 

(“Block III Rights”). SacOil and the other shareholder of Semliki, DIG (collectively “the Initial Shareholders”), have committed to transfer an 

aggregate 15 per cent shareholding in Semliki to the DRC government, leaving the Initial Shareholders with an effective 85 per cent interest in 

Block III. In terms of the Production Sharing Contract signed on 4 December 2007 (the “Block III PSC”), within six months of the issue of 

Presidential Ordinance approving the Block III PSC, the partnership between South Africa Congo Oil Company (Proprietary) Limited and the DRC 

national oil Company, Cohydro (collectively the “Block III Contracting Party”) was required to transfer the rights held by the Block III Contracting 

Party under the Block III PSC to a locally incorporated Company. A Presidential Ordinance approving the Block III PSC was issued in June 2010 

and Semliki was established to hold the Block III Rights in November 2010.

  In March 2011, Semliki disposed of 60% (“Disposed Asset”) of its 85% interest in Block III to Total for a cash consideration of US$15 million and 

future contingent bonus payments of US$108 million. Upon disposal, Semliki derecognised that portion of the exploration and evaluation asset 

that was disposed of leaving a residual value of R100 million. SacOil furthermore received cash proceeds in an amount of US$1,4 million (net of 

costs in relation to Block III) from DIG’s share of the cash consideration in full and final settlement of a loan advanced to DIG in respect of, inter 

alia, the Block III Rights.

  The loss on derecognition of an exploration and evaluation asset of R83,4 million represents the difference between the carrying value of the 

Disposed Asset and the fair value of the consideration receivable at the closing date of the transaction being 31 March 2011.
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS CONTINUED

 Block III continued

  The farm-in agreement between Semliki and Total provides for a cash payment by Total to Semliki upon the occurrence of certain future events 

(“Bonus”). As there is a contractual right to receive cash from Total, Semliki has recognised a financial asset on its statement of financial position. 

The asset is initially recognised at its fair value. Subsequently, the financial asset meets the definition of a loan and receivable, and is accounted 

for at amortised cost taking into account interest revenue and currency movements. At each reporting period SacOil revises its estimate of 

receipts from the financial asset in line with the requirements of IAS 39. Included in profit and loss is a re-measurement gain of R219 million. At 

29 February 2012 the fair value of the financial asset is R263 million and the amount is included in other financial assets. A provision for deferred 

tax on the Bonus in an amount of R105,4 million was recognised in profit or loss.

  Included in exploration and evaluation assets is an amount of R130 million, being the value of Semliki’s share in Block III after derecognising the 

Disposed Asset, and including the carry cost portion detailed below.

  The farm-in agreement also provides for a carry of costs, payable by Total, on behalf of Semliki and constitutes a finance-type carried interest. 

Per the contract between Total and Semliki, Total shall be entitled to recover the accrued aggregate of the carried costs from Semliki’s share of 

future cost and profit oil. This arrangement is considered a secured borrowing in which the underlying asset is used as collateral.

  Semliki has therefore increased the Block III exploration and evaluation asset with the carried costs as incurred by Total up to the reporting date 

in an amount of R28,9 million, together with a corresponding financial liability representing the amount owed to Total. A corresponding deferred 

tax asset in an amount of R11,6 million was recognised in profit and loss.

13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Name of Company
Country of
Incorporation

% holding
2012

% holding
2011

Carrying
amount

2012

Carrying
amount

Restated
2011

SacOil (Proprietary) Limited (Note 3, 27) RSA 50 50 19 818 125 19 818 125

Pioneer Coal (Proprietary) Limited RSA 100 100 318 292 318 292

Baltimore Manganese Mine (Proprietary) Limited RSA 100 100 1 1

RDK Mining (Proprietary) Limited RSA 100 100 100 100

Bushveld Pioneer (Proprietary) Limited RSA 100 100 100 100

Semliki SPRL DRC 50 50 17 476 17 476

SacOil 141 Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 561 561

SacOil 281 Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 561 561

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 561 561

20 155 777 20 155 777

SacOil Holdings Limited holds all the investments, directly and indirectly at the given percentages. SacOil has effective control over the 
financial and operating policies of all subsidiaries in which it holds 50 per cent or more.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

14. LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES
Subsidiaries

SacOil 141 Nigeria Limited 793 044 536 129

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited 5 809 960 3 971 469

SacOil 281 Nigeria Limited 51 048 412 47 160 461

These loans are interest free, unsecured and have no 
repayment terms. The loans are not expected to be repaid 
within the next 12 months. They are all denominated in 
US Dollar.

South African Congo Oil Company (Proprietary) Limited – 16 160 000

Semliki 19 021 856 2 782 524

The loan to Semliki was made by SacOil to fund its obligations 

to the DRC government in terms of the Block III PSC. The loan 

is unsecured, bears no interest and has no repayment terms. 

The loan is not expected to be repaid in the next 12 months. 

The loan is denominated in US Dollar.

Baltimore Manganese Mines (Proprietary) Limited 450 450

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no repayment 

terms. The loan is denominated in Rand.

Bushveld Pioneer (Proprietary) Limited 450 450

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no repayment 

terms. The loan is denominated in Rand.

Non-current assets 76 674 172 70 611 483
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
At amortised cost 
Contingent consideration 12 263 260 148 – – –
Loans
DIG 1 929 982 11 413 375 1 929 982 11 413 375
EER 66 240 733 45 086 969 66 240 733 45 086 969

68 170 715 56 500 344 68 170 715 56 500 344

Total other financial assets 331 430 863 56 500 344 68 170 715 56 500 344

Non-current assets
Loans and receivables 331 430 863 45 086 969 68 170 715 45 086 969

331 430 863 45 086 969 68 170 715 45 086 969
Current assets
Loans and receivables – 11 413 375 – 11 413 375

331 430 863 56 500 344 68 170 715 56 500 344

The financial asset relating to the contingent consideration has been determined based on the following key assumptions:
• Discount rate of 10 per cent which takes into account country risk;
• 21% probability of geological success on a single well; and
• Total’s commitment to:

   o Acquiring gravity and magnetic data over the Northern area of Block III;
   o Acquiring 2D seismic data; and 
   o Committing to drilling two wells on Block III.

Using a binomial distribution to model the probability of successes for a two well scenario, the probability of at least one success is estimated 
at approximately 40% after two wells being drilled in Block III.

Should the probability factor applied to the valuation model be increased or decreased by 10% the impact on profit or loss would be an increase 
of R61 337 257 and a decrease of R61 337 257. 

The outstanding loan from DIG Oil as at 28 February 2011 was settled in cash on 31 March 2011. The loan of R1 929 982 relates to a new loan 
which represents costs paid on behalf of DIG in relation to Block III.

In terms of an agreement entered into between EER and SacOil, all acquisition costs paid by SacOil on behalf of EER bear interest at 25% per 
annum (on a compound basis), calculated daily from the date of incurring such costs to the date of recovery. Interest income of R15,6 million 
was recognised in profit and loss in relation to a loan owed to SacOil by EER in relation to capital costs paid by SacOil on behalf of EER with 
respect to OPL 281 and OPL 233 in Nigeria.

The loan is repayable in three equal annual instalments, the first such instalment becoming due 60 business days after first oil production by 
taking that proportion of EER’s entitlement to petroleum that equals one-third of the outstanding capital plus interest accrued. The second and 
third instalments will become payable on the same principle from EER’s subsequent entitlement to petroleum. The loan is secured by a cession 
and pledge over EER’s equity interests in both OPL 281 and OPL 233 in favour of SacOil.
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

16. DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment net of related 
depreciation (704 257) (704 257) (799 457) (799 457)
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 704 257 704 257 799 457 799 457
Contingent consideration relating to the sale of an exploration and 
evaluation asset (105 304 059) – – –
Arising from the estimated future benefit available to Semliki 
in relation to carried costs of US$3,8 million (R28,9 million) 
actually spent by Total on behalf of Semliki during 2011. 11 575 796

Net deferred tax liability (93 728 263) – – –

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
Decrease in tax losses available for set off against future taxable 
income (95 200) (95 200) (95 200) (95 200)
Originating temporary difference on depreciation of revalued 
property, plant and equipment 95 200 95 200 95 200 95 200
Financial asset at amortised cost (105 304 059) – – –
Exploration and evaluation asset 11 575 796

(93 728 263) – – –

 Included in the deferred tax liability is an amount of 
R105,4 million provided in relation to the contingent bonus 
payments of US$108 million as referred to in note 12 (“Bonus”). 
This amount was reduced by a deferred tax asset of R11,6 million 
which is the estimated future tax benefit available to Semliki in 
relation to carried costs of US$3,8 million (R28,9 million) actually 
spent by Total on behalf of Semliki to the year-end date. This 
resulted in a net deferred liability of R93,7 million.

 In the DRC, in matters of capital gain tax, the global cost of oil 
rights transferred during the exploration period up to first 
investment date are deducted from the overall proceeds of the 
sale of oil rights, and the difference obtained will constitute the 
capital gain on which a tax of 40% on the transfer of interest 
would be levied.

 The current provision therefore excludes future costs to be 
carried by Total on behalf of Semliki up to First Investment Date, 
which costs could further reduce the value of the deferred tax 
liability once these costs have been incurred, and the resultant 
benefit is available to Semliki. The approved joint venture 
budget for the calendar year 2012 is US$30 million of which 
approximately US$3,8 million has been spent by Total to the 
year-end date. 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset
Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 80 926 877 43 481 893 80 926 877 43 481 893

17. INVENTORIES
Raw materials 472 117 457 447 472 117 457 447
Product in process 352 531 321 825 352 531 321 825
Engineering stock 1 129 899 1 111 841 1 129 899 1 111 841
Finished product 585 584 517 363 585 584 517 363

2 540 131 2 408 474 2 540 131 2 408 474
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Trade and other receivables 18.1 3 646 478 5 037 955 3 645 373 5 036 854

Other financial assets 18.2 75 490 000 – 75 490 000 –

Value Added Tax 1 611 041 1 279 891 1 611 041 1 271 721

Other receivables 18.3 4 471 524 – 4 454 048 –

85 219 043 6 317 846 85 200 462 6 308 575

18.1 Trade and other receivables

 The Company’s anchor client maintained their production levels during 

the economic downturn, and orders from them for Manganese Sulphate 

Powder are continuing as normal. During the period under review more 

than 10 per cent of the Company’s revenues were derived from the 

anchor customer. The following revenues were received for the period 

under review from this customer:

Anchor client revenue 19 647 391 19 000 381 19 647 391 19 000 381

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than one month past due 

are not considered to be impaired. At 29 February 2012, R1 932 

(2011: R578 193) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due – 210 945 – –

2 months past due – 243 481 – –

3 months past due 1 932 123 766 – –

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 29 February 2012, no trade and other receivables were impaired 

and provided for.

18.2 Other financial asset

 Included in trade and other receivables is an advance payment of 
R75,4 million made by SacOil in relation to an agreement whereby 
SacOil would be granted an exclusive right to negotiate a potential 
acquisition of certain material oil and gas concessions. Currently, 
constructive negotiations are in progress with all material stakeholders 
in relation to the potential acquisition, and clarification of the Group 
and Company’s potential rights in relation to the agreement are 
ongoing.

 In the event of a successful transaction which results in the Group and 
Company acquiring an interest in potentially material oil and gas 
concessions, the payment may be converted to an exploration and 
evaluation asset. In the event that a transaction is unsuccessful, there 
is a risk that SacOil may not be able to recover the payment but 
recourse to third parties will be open to the Group and Company. 
At year-end and at the date of this report, there were no indicators 
that this receivable is impaired.

18.3 Other receivable

This amount relates to employees tax payable to South African Revenue 
Services in relation to remuneration paid to employees during the 
period October 2010 to February 2012. The non-payment of the tax was 
an administrative oversight and has been rectified.
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances 3 137 098 846 719 2 952 940 681 349
Short term deposits 7 637 200 17 052 115 7 637 200 17 052 115

10 774 298 17 898 834 10 590 140 17 733 464

The Company has no overdraft facilities.

20. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
Number of ordinary shares with no par value 10 000 000 000 10 000 000 000 10 000 000 000 10 000 000 000

Issued
Ordinary 486 184 423 374 029 488 486 184 423 374 029 488

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported as at 1 March 2011 674 090 410 313 291 614 674 090 410 313 291 614
Issue of shares – ordinary shares 158 135 289 142 999 580 – 142 999 580
Issue of shares to acquire assets – 209 456 000 – 209 456 000
Issue of shares to settle loan obligation – 8 343 216 – 8 343 216

832 225 699 674 090 410 674 090 410 674 090 410

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Held at amortised cost

Yorkville Advisers UK LLP 12 496 195 – 12 496 195 –

Total 12 28 939 490 – – –

41 435 685 – 12 496 195 –

SacOil has entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement 

(“SEDA”) with Yorkville Advisers UK LLP (“YA”), an exempt limited 

partnership registered in the Cayman Islands. In terms of this 

agreement, YA approved a facility of US$25 million (“Commitment 

Amount”). 

The SEDA facility is available, unless otherwise terminated earlier in 

accordance with its terms, for a period of three years until 17 

October 2014 and the number and timing of each advance 

drawdown (“Advance”) is at the discretion of the Company provided 

that the Company shall not be entitled to drawdown more than one 

advance every five trading days, unless otherwise approved by YA.

Limitations on the number of Advances as well as the quantum of 

the Advances, ensures a spread of the drawdown amounts over a 

three-year period. In spreading the drawdowns over three years, 

the dilution of existing shareholders is also spread to avoid sudden 

dilution of existing shareholders’ interests in the Company.

Each Advance by the Company will be settled by the issue of 

Ordinary Shares. All Ordinary Shares to be issued in relation to an 

Advance shall be listed on the JSE and admitted to trading on AIM. 

The number of Ordinary Shares to be issued in relation to an 

Advance shall be equal to the Advance amount divided by the 

Purchase Price, where the Purchase Price shall be 94 per cent of the 

lowest of the daily VWAP of the Ordinary Shares of the Company 

during the period of five consecutive trading days, beginning on the 

first trading day after the date of the Advance notice. 

Any issue of shares in terms of the SEDA constitutes a specific issue 

of shares for cash in terms of the JSE’s Listings Requirements. The 

SEDA was approved by shareholders in general meeting on 

17 November 2011. 

Non current liabilities

At amortised cost 28 939 490 – – –

Current liabilities

At amortised cost 12 496 195 – 12 496 195 –

41 435 685 – 12 496 195 –
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

22. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATION
Minimum lease payments due 

within one year – 93 516 – 93 516

Less: future finance charges – (3 008) – (3 008)

Present value of minimum lease payments – 90 508 – 90 508

Present value of minimum lease payments due within one year – 90 508 – 90 508

The Group and Company’s obligations under finance leases are secured 

by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. 

23. PROVISIONS
Reconciliation of provisions – Group and Company – 2012 Opening balance Additions Total

Provision for decommissioning 945 972 120 000 1 065 972 

Reconciliation of provisions – Group and Company – 2011

Provision for decommissioning 825 972 120 000 945 972

The provision for decommissioning represents the estimated cost of 

restoring site damage after the commencement of mining activities. The 

provision for decommissioning costs in an amount of R120 000 is 

charged to profit or loss.

In terms of an environmental evaluation done on the plant, the cost 

decommissioning the Greenhills plant will be approximately R1,6 million 

in order to restore the site damage after completion of mining activities.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 1 871 313 5 833 181 1 871 313 4 765 219

Accruals 5 488 599 – 5 806 941 –

Other payables 5 178 496 7 963 552 5 178 494 8 221 848

12 538 408 13 796 733 12 856 748 12 987.067

Trade and other payables are payable within 30 days of statement. Accruals include invoices received subsequent to year-end, but relating to 

services rendered during the reporting period. Included in other payables for 2011 is an amount of R7,6 million in relation to an additional 

signature bonus payable to the DRC government in terms of its investment in Block III. This amount was paid after the 2011 year-end.
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   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

25. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share (cents) (13,35) (6,67)

Diluted loss per share (cents) (13,24) (6,21)

Basic and diluted loss per share was based on a loss of R95 506 424 

(2011: R29 749 995). 

Weighted average number of shares in issue 717 411 053 449 628 622

Add: Dilutive share options  4 142 477 33 304 511

Weighted average number of shares in issue used to calculate diluted 

loss per share 721 553 230 482 933 133

Headline loss and diluted headline loss per share 

Headline loss per share and diluted headline loss per share are 
determined by dividing headline loss and diluted headline loss by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during a 
period.

Headline loss per share (cents) (4,22) (6,62)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents) (4,19) (6,16)

Reconciliation between basic loss and headline loss

Basic loss (95 506 424) (29 749 995)

Adjusted for:

Loss on sale of exploration and evaluation asset attributable to equity 

holders of the parent  65 254 812 –

Headline loss (30 251 611)  (29 749 995)

Dividends per share

The Board has resolved not to declare any dividend to shareholders for 

this reporting period.

26. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS
Profit (loss) before taxation 65 575 131 (29 654 795) (43 984 148) (171 020 893)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 660 117 655 778 660 117 655 778

Loss on sale of assets 83 446 480 – – –

Financial asset at amortised cost (246 688 928) 2 656 224 (11 557 325) 2 656 224

Dividends received – – (51 237 750) –

Interest received 4 (29 455 933) (1 166 618) (16 030 797) (1 166 618)

Finance costs 5 44 402 672 17 309 44 402 672 17 309

Impairment of investment in subsidiary 3 – – – 141 361 141

Other non-cash items (1 648 888) – – –

Movements in provisions 23 120 000 120 000 120 000 120 000

Share-based payment expense 28 8 891 216 4 175 928 8 891 216 4 175 928

Equity-settled expenses 28 21 070 948 – 21 070 948 –

Changes in working capital:

Increase in inventories (131 655) (103 706) (131 655) (103 706)

Increase in trade and other receivables (78 901 197) (2 547 281) (78 891 891) (2 547 281)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (1 258 328) 3 434 201 (130 319) 3 434 198

(133 918 365) (22 412 960) (126 818 932) (22 417 920)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

27. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
 27.1 Reclassification of Block III acquisition
   The purchase of SacOil (Proprietary) Limited in the 2011 financial year was disclosed as a business combination. On closer reflection, this 

is not a business combination, but rather an acquisition of an exploration and evaluation asset (and related liabilities). The purchase was 

financed through an issue of shares by SacOil Holdings, and therefore constitutes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction. 

The values attributed to this transaction remain unchanged, with the only impact of this reclassification relating to disclosures presented 

in the annual financial statements, IFRS3. In the current year, the purchase of SacOil (Proprietary) Limited has been reclassified from a 

business combination in terms of IFRS3 to an equity-settled share-based payment transaction for an asset acquisition in terms of IFRS2. 

Refer to notes 12 and 29 for the impact of this reclassification on the disclosures. As the reclassification relates to items initially 

recognised in the prior year, no third statement of financial position has been presented.

 27.2 Impairment of investment in subsidiary
   In the prior year, the Company did not recognise the impairment loss on it’s investment in SacOil (Proprietary) Limited. The impairment 

loss was however recognised as a prior period restatement – refer to Note 3 for the impact thereof. As the impairment relates to items 

initially recognised in the prior year, no third statement of financial position has been presented.

   Group    Company

Figures in Rand Note(s)
2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

2012
ZAR

2011
ZAR

28. RELATED PARTIES
Entity of which the directors are also 
directors of that Company

Lonsa Proprietary 
Limited

Johannes de Beer 
Incorporated

Related party transactions

Administration fees paid to related parties

Encha Group Limited – 179 553 – 179 553

Lonsa Proprietary Limited – fees for services by R Vela as 
executive director 6 7 254 166 1 695 000 7 254 166 1 695 000

Johannes de Beer Incorporated – fees for services by 
C de Beer as executive director 6 2 912 500 562 500 2 912 500 562 500

Share Options granted to directors during the period 
under review

Share-based payments 8 – 4 178 928 – 4 178 928
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2012
Loans and

receivables Fair value

Other financial assets 331 430 863 331 430 863

Trade and other receivables 83 608 002 83 608 002

Cash and cash equivalents 10 774 298 10 774 298

425 813 163 425 813 163

Group – 2011

Other financial assets 56 500 344 56 500 344

Trade and other receivables 5 037 955 5 037 955

Cash and cash equivalents 17 898 834 17 898 834

79 437 133 79 437 133

Company – 2012

Loans to Group companies 76 674 172 76 674 172

Other financial assets 68 170 715 68 170 715

Trade and other receivables 83 608 002 83 608 002

Cash and cash equivalents 10 590 140 10 590 140

239 043 029 239 043 029

Company – 2011

Loans to Group companies 70 611 483 70 611 483

Other financial assets 56 500 344 56 500 344

Trade and other receivables 5 036 856 5 036 856

Cash and cash equivalents 17 733 464 17 733 464

149 882 147 149 882 147

30. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2012

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost Fair value

Long-term borrowings 28 939 490 28 939 490

Other financial liabilities  12 496 195 12 496 195

Trade and other payables 7 359 912 7 359 912

48 795 597 48 795 597

Group – 2011

Trade and other payables 13 796 733 13 796 733

Finance lease obligations 90 508 90 508

13 887 241 13 887 241

Company – 2012

Trade and other payables 7 678 254 7 678 254

Other financial liabilities 12 496 195 12 496 195

20 174 449 20 174 449

Company – 2011

Trade and other payables 12 987 067 12 987 067

Finance lease obligations 90 508 90 508

13 077 575 13 077 575
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

31. RISK MANAGEMENT
  The Group and Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise accounts payable, long term borrowing and other financial liabilities. The 

main purpose of these financial instruments is to ensure that the Group and Company’s operations are sufficiently funded through a 

combination of debt and equity. The Group and Company have various financial assets such as other financial assets, trade and other 

receivables, cash and short-term deposits, and loans to Group companies, which arise directly from its operations.

 Risk exposures and responses

  The Group and Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost 

of capital.

  The capital structure of the Group and Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings  disclosed in notes 21 and 22, cash and cash 

equivalents disclosed in note 19 and equity as disclosed in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group and Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

 Consistent with others in the industry, the Group and Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 

  This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current 

borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in 

the statement of financial position plus net debt.

  The Group and Company’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio that is appropriate for the Group and Company’s stage of development and 

growth. Currently this ratio is approximately 10%. As a junior oil and gas Group, the Group (and Company) relies on Shareholder funding as 

well as debt but to a limited extent. Reserve based lending is also carries less risk than resource based lending. As soon as the Group and 

Company are able to book reserves, the gearing between debt and equity will change as debt funding would be supported by reserves on the 

statement of financial position.

 There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

  There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 

requirements from the previous year.

 Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

Market prices comprise the following types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk.  

  The sensitivity analyses are intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market variables on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 

instruments and show the impact on profit or loss.

 Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market 

interest rates. 

 Financial instruments affected by interest rate risk include: cash and cash equivalents, long term borrowings and finance lease obligations.

  The Group and Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s and Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents, and short and long term financial liabilities, although the level of debt currently does not pose significant interest rate risk to 

the Group or Company.

  The Group and Company’s policy is to manage its interest cost using fixed pre-approved interest rates for repayment of its borrowings. The 

South African Reserve Bank also manages and approves only specific interest rates linked to specific currencies.
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

  At 29 February 2012, if interest rates had strengthened/weakened by 10%, post tax profit for the year would have been R54 209 

(2011: R60 980) higher and R54 739 (2011: R60 979) lower, mainly as a result of the Group and Company’s levels of cash and loans at the end 

of the period.

 Foreign currency risk

  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates. Financial instruments affected by foreign currency risk include other financial assets and long term borrowings.

  Management has set up a policy to require group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. Foreign 

exchange risk arises when recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

  At 29 February 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 11% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, post tax 

profit for the year would have been R19,4 million (2011: R10,8 million) lower and R17,6 million (2011: R10,8 million) higher, mainly as a result 

of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US dollar denominated other financial assets and foreign exchange losses or gains on 

translation of US dollar denominated borrowings.

  The group and company review its foreign currency exposure, including commitments if applicable on an on going basis.

 Liquidity risk

  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 

credit facilities and the ability to quickly access these facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group and Company 

treasury maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

  The Group and Company’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group and Company manage 

liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.

  Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group and Company’s financial liabilities at 29 February 2012 based on contractual 

undiscounted payments.

 Group 

< 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Total

Year ended 29 February 2012 R million R million R million R million

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 496 195 – 34 178 494 46 674 689

Accounts payable 7 359 912 – – 7 359 912

Total 19 856 107 – 34 178 494 54 034 601

Group

Year ended 28 February 2011

Accounts payable 5 833 181 – – 5 833 181

Total 5 833 181 – – 5 833 181

Company  

Year ended 29 February 2012

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12 496 195 – – 12 496 195

Accounts payable 7 678 254 – – 7 678 254

Total 20 174 449 – – 20 174 449

Company

Year ended 28 February 2011

Accounts payable 4 765 219 – – 4 765 219

Total 4 765 219 – – 4 765 219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

31. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

 Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument leading to a financial loss. Credit risk arises 

mainly out of all financial assets owned by the Group and Company and the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balances 

included in the consolidated and separate statements of financial position. The Group and Company is exposed to credit risk arising from its 

operating activities (trade debtors) and from its financing activities with third parties and group companies. 

  Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an on going basis. There are no independent ratings for current customers hence 

management’s assessment of the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 

The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored and financing activities are out of contractual terms and conditions including sufficient 

security. 

 Refer to note 18.1 for an analysis of trade receivables.

 Cash & cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise current accounts and call deposits. During the year under review, the call deposits attracted interest at 

rates averaging 6% per annum. 

32. GOING CONCERN
  The consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 

This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
 The following events took place from the period 1 March 2012 to the date of this report.

 33.1  Divestment of 6.66% cent interest in Block III
   On 12 March 2012 Total acquired a further 6.66% effective interest in Block III from DIG, a shareholder in Semliki. Pursuant to the 

acquisition, Total’s holding in Block III increased to 66.66%, whereas SacOil’s effective interest remains unchanged at 12.5%, DIG’s 
holding reduces to 5.84% and the DRC Government retains 15.0%. As a result of this transaction, Semliki, a company incorporated in the 
DRC and through which SacOil and DIG own their interests in Block III, is now owned 68% by SacOil and 32% by DIG.

   SacOil’s effective interest of 12.5%, its entitlement to contingent cash bonuses of US$54 million and a free carry on all exploration 
expenses up to final investment decision (when a development plan is approved) remains unchanged.

DIG OIL

DRC Govt

SEMLIKI Energy SPRL

BLOCK III

SacOil

68%

18.34%

32%

66.66%15%

Farm-in fees
US$10.5m

Bonus payment
US$54m

Carry 100% up
to FID

(bankable
feasibility)

+

TOTAL E&P
OPERATOR

US$70m esti mated work 
programme obligati on
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33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD CONTINUED
 33.2  OPL 233 funding
   SacOil successfully procured a US$25 million Performance Bond (“Bond”), which enables it to assist NIGDEL United Company Limited 

(“NIGDEL”) to fulfil its obligations under the PSC on OPL 233 in Nigeria (“the Concession”). The Bond is posted in favour of the Nigeria 
National Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC”). SacOil entered into a farm-in agreement with NIGDEL and EER dated 30 November 2010 
under which SacOil and EER agreed to assist NIGDEL in the procurement of the Bond as required under the PSC.

   The Bond, which was issued by Ecobank Nigeria PLC (“Ecobank”), was approved on the condition, inter alia, that a cash collateral in the 
amount of US$10 million is delivered in favour of Ecobank. SacOil procured the cash collateral through a combination of debt and equity 
funding as follows:

  •  A facility from Rencap for $6.6 million repayable on 11 October 2012, bearing interest at 21% and secured over SacOil’s 12.5% interest 
in Block III; and

  •  A loan from YA for $3.4 million bearing interest at 15%. The loan was repaid through the issue of SacOil Ordinary Shares.

   The cash collateral of US$10 million is currently held in the SacOil subsidiary’s bank account with Ecobank.

   SacOil provided EER’s 50% share of the obligations under the Bond, secured against EER’s interest in the Concession. EER is obliged to 
repay to SacOil its 50% share of the Bond together with interest and costs associated with the cash collateral and the procurement of 
the Bond prior to the commencement of an agreed work programme on the concession.

   The funds lent by SacOil to its Nigerian subsidiary SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited will bear interest at the same rate as the interest that SacOil 
is obligated to pay to the lenders. All costs related to the provision of the funding will also be recovered from the subsidiary.

34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 The Group and Company have no material commitments or contingent liabilities for the current period nor for the previous reporting period.

35. AUDIT OPINION
  The unqualified audit report includes an “other legal and regulatory requirements” paragraph with respect to a reportable irregularity reported 

to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors in terms of section 45 of the Auditing Profession Act in relation to employees’ tax that was not 
withheld by the Company and paid over to the South African Revenue Services. The error in the employees’ tax withheld was due to an 
administrative oversight. The Company has taken and completed the necessary steps to rectify the oversight. 
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   Group    Company

Reconciliation of profit 2012 2011 2012 2011

Segment profit 1 819 128 4 200 605 1 819 128 4 200 605

Other income 248 612 642      551 150 13 481 039                   –

Other operating costs (161 018 684) (31 376 928) (73 258 974) (172 191 879)

Share-based payment expense (8 891 216) (4 178 928) (8 891 216) (4 178 928)

Investment income 29 455 933 1 166 618 67 268 547 1 166 618

Finance costs (44 402 672) (17 309) (44 402 672) (17 309)

Group loss before tax 65 575 131 (29 654 793) (43 984 148) (171 020 893)

Reconciliation of assets

Segment operating assets 12 334 973 14 090 699 12 333 866 14 089 586

Investment in subsidiaries – – 20 155 777 20 155 777

Loans to Group companies – – 76 674 172 70 611 483

Exploration and evaluation assets 181 995 821 394 641 967 – –

Other financial assets 331 430 863 45 086 969 68 170 715 45 086 969

Other receivables 81 572 565 12 693 266 81 555 089 12 685 109

Cash and cash equivalents 10 774 298 17 898 834 10 590 140 17 733 464

Total assets 618 108 520 484 411 735 269 479 759 180 362 388

Reconciliations of liabilities

Segment operating liabilities 2 487 891 2 279 119 2 487 891 2 279 119

Long-term borrowings 28 939 490 – – –

Deferred tax liability 93 728 263 – – –

Other financial liabilities 12 496 195 – 12 496 195 –

Current tax payable 20 495 100 – 10 247 550 –

Other payables 11 116 489 12 554 094 11 434 829 11 744 428

Total liabilities 169 263 428 14 833 213 36 666 465 14 023 547

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

36. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
  The directors consider manganese product sales to be the only business segment as well as the primary reporting segment for the period 

under review. All primary revenue segment reporting requirements are contained in the Group annual financial statements and originate from 
the Greenhills plant near Graskop, Mpumalanga.

  The directors consider the geographic segment to be the secondary reporting segment. There are two material geographic segments, namely 
local and export sales.

Group and Company
Year ended 

29 February 2012 %
Year ended 

28 February 2011 %

Export sales 20 709 650 56 20 233 436 58

Local sales  16 462 936 44  14 909 683 42

 37 172 586 100  35 143 119 100
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Company: SacOil Holdings Ltd

Register date: 24 February 2012

Issued share capital: 832 225 699

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Number of

shareholdings %
Number of

shares %

1 – 1 000 shares 625 21,96 268 421 0,03

1 001 – 10 000 shares 933 32,78 4 871 027 0,59

10 001 – 100 000 shares 985 34,61 35 911 925 4,32

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 249 8,75 74 116 293 8,91

1 000 001 – 10 000 000 shares 42 1,48 145 007 094 17,42

10 000 001 shares and over 12 0,42 572 050 939 68,74

Totals 2 846 100,00 832 225 699 100,00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Banks/Brokers 32 1,12 97 444 311 11,71

Close Corporations 46 1,62 25 200 043 3,03

Individuals 2 583 90,76 204 375 118 24,56

Insurance Company 1 0,04 91 282 129 10,97

Investment Companies 8 0,28 35 468 131 4,26

Mutual Funds 3 0,11 445 940 0,05

Nominees and Trusts 84 2,95 22 719 256 2,73

Other Corporations 25 0,88 1 059 682 0,13

Private Companies 54 1,90 125 272 340 15,05

Public Companies 8 0,28 70 341 785 8,45

Retirement Funds 2 0,07 158 616 964 19,06

Totals 2 846 100,00 832 225 699 100,00

PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

Non-Public Shareholders 18 0,63 502 573 380 60,39

Directors 3 0,11 20 541 806 2,47

Associates of the Company holdings 10 0,35 91 506 999 11,00

Strategic Holdings 5 0,18 390 524 575 46,93

Public Shareholders 2 828 99,37 329 652 319 39,61

Totals 2 846 100,00 832 225 699 100,00

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE

Government Employees Pension Fund 158 606 964 19,06

Encha Group Limited 140 635 482 16,90

Metropolitan 91 282 129 10,97

Totals 390 524 575 46,93
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ANNEXURE 1 – MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION OF SACOIL HOLDINGS 
LIMITED

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1 In this Memorandum of Incorporation:

(1) a reference to a section number refers to a section of the Act;

(2)  unless inconsistent with the context, words that are defined in 

the Act bear the same meaning in this Memorandum of 

Incorporation;

(3)  the headings to the clauses reference purposes only and do not 

affect the terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation.

1.2  Unless inconsistent with the context, the words and expressions 

set forth below shall bear the following meanings and cognate 

expressions shall bear corresponding meanings:

(1)  Act means the Companies Act, 2008, as amended, together with 

any regulations published in terms thereof;

(2)  Director means a member of the Board of the Company and the 

alternate directors thereof;

(3)  CSD means a central securities depository as defined in section 1 

of the Securities Services Act, 2004, as amended;

(4)  JSE means the JSE Limited (registration number 

2005/022939/06), a company duly registered and incorporated 

with limited liability under the Company laws of the Republic of 

South Africa and licensed as an exchange under the Securities 

Services Act, 2004, as amended;

(5)  Listings Requirements means the Listings Requirements of the 

JSE as amended;

(6)  Participant means a person that has been accepted by a CSD as a 

participant in that CSD;

(7)  Securities has the meaning set out in the Act which includes 

Shares;

(8)  Shareholder means the holder of a share issued by the Company 

and who is registered as such in the Company’s share register;

(9)  Shares means one of the units into which the proprietary interests 

of the Company is divided as contemplated in clause 3.1.

1.3  If any provision in a definition is a substantive provision 

conferring rights or imposing obligations on any person, 

notwithstanding that it is only in the definition clause, effect shall 

be given to it as if it were a substantive provision of this 

Memorandum of Incorporation.

1.4  Unless inconsistent with the context, an expression which 

denotes:

(1) any gender includes the other genders;

(2)  a natural person includes an artificial person (including a trust) 

and vice versa;

(3) the singular includes the plural and vice versa.

1.5  The schedules to this Memorandum of Incorporation, if any, form 

an integral part hereof and words and expressions defined in this 

Memorandum of Incorporation shall bear, unless the context 

otherwise requires, the same meaning in such schedules.

1.6  When, in this Memorandum of Incorporation, a particular 

number of business days is provided for between the happening 

of one event and another, the number of days must be calculated 

by:

(1) excluding the day on which the first such event occurs;

(2)  including the day on or by which the second event is to occur; 

and

(3)  excluding any public holiday, Saturday or Sunday that falls on or 

between the days contemplated in clauses 1.6(1) and 1.6(2), 

respectively.

1.7  Where any term is defined within the context of any particular 

clause in this Memorandum of Incorporation, the term so 

defined, unless it is clear from the clause in question that the 

term so defined has limited application to the relevant clause, 

shall bear the same meaning ascribed to it for all purposes in 

terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation, notwithstanding 

that term has not been defined in this interpretation clause.

2  INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF THE 
COMPANY

2.1 INCORPORATION
1   THE COMPANY WAS INCORPORATED ON 1 FEBRUARY 

1993 AS A PUBLIC COMPANY AND IS A PROFIT 
COMPANY.

(2) The Company is constituted subject to:

 (a) the unalterable provisions of the Act;

 (b)  any provisions imposing on the Company a higher standard, 

greater restriction, longer period of time or any similar more 

onerous requirement, than would otherwise apply to the 

Company in terms of an unalterable provision of the Act;

 (c)  the alterable provisions of the Act, subject to the limitations, 

extensions, restrictions, variations or substitutions set out in 

this Memorandum of Incorporation; and

 (d) the provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation.

2.2  POWERS OF THE COMPANY S 15 2 B  OR C ; 
S 19 1 B II

(1) This Memorandum of Incorporation does not:

 (a)  contain any restrictive conditions applicable to the Company 

and any requirement, in addition to the requirements set 

out in clause 2.3, for the amendment of any such conditions; 

and

 (b)  prohibit the amendment of any particular provision hereof.

(2)  The Company has all of the legal powers and capacity of an individual, 

to the extent possible, subject to any restrictions, limitations or 

qualifications arising from this Memorandum of Incorporation.

2.3  MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION AND COMPANY 
RULES S 16 1 ; S 16 5 ; S 16 7 ; S 16 9 ; S 15 3 ; S 15 5

(1)  This Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company may be 

altered or amended:

 (a)  in compliance with a court order effected by a resolution of 

the Company’s Board; and
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 (b)  by a special resolution of the shareholders but subject to 

that special resolution having been proposed by:

 (i) the Board; or

 (ii)  Shareholders entitled to exercise at least 10 per cent of the 

voting rights that may be exercised on such resolution. [LR 

10.5(d)]

(2)  Despite clause 2.3(1), if any amendment relates to the variation 

of any preferences, rights, limitation and other share terms 

attaching to any class of shares (other than the ordinary shares) 

already in issue (Other Shares), that amendment must not be 

implemented without:

 (a)  firstly, a special resolution, taken by the holders of the Other 

Shares at a separate meeting; and

 (b)  secondly, a special resolution taken at a meeting of ordinary 

shareholders at which the proposed variation is considered, 

at which meeting the holders of the Other Shares will be 

allowed to vote, provided:

 (i) their votes may not carry any special rights or privileges;

 (ii)  they shall be entitled to one vote for each share that they 

hold; and

 (iii)  their total voting right at such a general or annual general 

meeting may never be more than 24,99 per cent of the total 

voting rights of all shareholders at such a meeting. [LR 

10.5(c) and (e)]

(3)  An amendment contemplated in clause 2.3(1)(b) or 2.3(2) may 

take the form of:

 (a)  a new Memorandum of Incorporation in substitution for the 

existing Memorandum of Incorporation; or

 (b)  one or more alterations to the existing Memorandum of 

Incorporation by:

 (i) changing the name of the Company;

 (ii) deleting, altering or replacing any of its provisions; or

 (iii) inserting any new provisions.

(4)  Amendments to this Memorandum of Incorporation include, but 

are not limited to:

 (a) the creation of any class of shares;

 (b)  the variation of any preferences, rights, limitation and other 

share terms attaching to any other class of shares;

 (c)  the conversion of one class of shares into one or more other 

classes;

 (d) the increase of number of securities;

 (e) consolidation of securities;

 (f) sub-division of securities;

 (g) conversion of shares from par value to no par value; and

 (h) making any combination of such alterations. [LR 10.5(d)]

(5)  After amending its Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company 

must file a Notice of Amendment with the Commission in 

accordance with the requirements contemplated in sections 

16(7) and (8).

(6)  An amendment to this Memorandum of Incorporation takes 

effect:

 (a)  in the case of an amendment that changes the name of the 

Company, on the date set out in the amended registration 

certificate issued by the Commission; or

 (b) in any other case, on the later of:

 (i)  the date on, and time at, which the Commission accepts the 

filing of the Notice of Amendment; or

 (ii) the date, if any, set out in the Notice of Amendment.

(7)  Preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any class of 

shares of the Company may not be varied and no resolution may 

be proposed to shareholders for rights to include such variation 

in response to any ascertainable external fact or facts as provided 

for in sections 37(6) and (7) of the Act. [LR 10.5(g)]

(8)  The Board does not have authority to make, amend or repeal 

any rules relating to the governance of the Company in terms of 

section 15(3) of the Act. [LR 10.4]

2.4  ALTERATIONS OF MEMORANDUM OF 
INCORPORATION AND COMPANY RULES, 
TRANSLATIONS AND CONSOLIDATIONS OF 
MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION S 17 1 ; S 17 3 ; 
S 17 6 ; S 152 6 B

(1)  The Company’s Board, or an individual authorised by the Board, may 

alter the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, in any manner 

necessary to correct a patent error in spelling, punctuation, 

reference, grammar or similar defect on the face of the document, 

by filing a notice of the alteration with the Commission.

(2)  At any time after having filed its Memorandum of Incorporation 

with the Commission, the Company may file one or more 

translations of it, in any official language or languages of the 

Republic, provided that every such translation must be 

accompanied by a sworn statement by the person who made the 

translation, stating that it is a true, accurate and complete 

representation of the Memorandum of Incorporation.

(3)  At any time after having filed its Memorandum of Incorporation 

with the Commission, and having subsequently filed one or more 

alterations or amendments to it, the Company may (or if the 

Commission requires it to, must) file a consolidated revision of its 

Memorandum of Incorporation, as so altered or amended, 

provided that every such consolidated revision filed with the 

Commission in terms of clause 2.4(3) must be accompanied by:

 (a) a sworn statement by a director; or

 (b)  a statement by an attorney or notary public, stating that it is 

a true, accurate and complete representation of the 

Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, as altered or 

amended up to the date of the statement.

(4)  To the extent necessary to implement an adopted business 

rescue plan and provided that the business rescue plan was 

approved by the shareholders, as contemplated in section 152(3)

(c), the practitioner may in terms of section 152(6)(b) amend this 

Memorandum of Incorporation to authorise, and determine the 

preferences, rights, limitations and other terms of, any securities 

that are not otherwise authorised, but are contemplated to be 

issued in terms of the business rescue plan, despite any provision 

of this Memorandum of Incorporation or of sections 16, 36 or 37, 

to the contrary.
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2.5 PUBLIC COMPANY PROVISIONS S 8 2
(1) The Company is a public Company listed on the JSE; and

 (a)  Shares for which listing is sought must be fully paid up and 

freely transferable, unless otherwise required by statute; 

[LR 10.2(a)]

 (b)  there is no restriction on the transferability of any securities 

of the Company; and

 (c) it is not prohibited from offering any securities to the public.

(2) The Company, being a public Company:

 (a)  must comply with all of the extended accountability 

requirements contained in Chapter 3 of the Act; and

 (b)  will be and have its securities subject to Part B and Part C of 

the Act, including the Takeover Regulations.

3 SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
3.1  SHARES S 36 2 ; S 38 1 ; S 36 3 ; S 39; S 41; S 44 2 ; S 

47; S 49; S 51
(1) The Company is authorised to issue the following Shares:

Number Class

10 000 000 000 Ordinary Shares

(2)  Each share entitles the holder to the rights attaching to the 

particular class of share set out in this clause 3.1(2).

 (a)  Each ordinary share shall rank pari passu and entitles the 

holder to:

 (i)  vote on any matter to be decided by a vote of the ordinary 

shareholders on the basis contemplated in clause 4.3(1);

 (ii)  participate in any distribution to the ordinary shareholders; 

and

 (iii)  participate in the distribution of the residual value of the 

Company upon its dissolution. [LR 10.5(a)]

(3)  Subject always to the prior approval of the shareholders of the 

Company in general meeting and the JSE, the Company’s Board is 

authorised to issue shares and/or grant options to subscribe for 

unissued shares in accordance with the Listings Requirements at 

any time, but only within the classes, and only to the extent that 

the shares have been authorised by or in terms of this 

Memorandum of Incorporation. Any such approval may be in the 

form of a general authority to the directors, whether conditional 

or unconditional, to allot or issue any shares or grant options in 

their discretion, or in the form of a specific authority in respect of 

any particular allotment or issue of shares or grant of options. If 

any such approval is given in the form of a general authority to 

the directors, it shall be valid only until the next annual general 

meeting but it may be varied or revoked by any general meeting 

of the Company prior to the holding of the next annual general 

meeting. [LR 10.1 and LR 10.9(a)]

(4)  Notwithstanding clause 3.1(3), any issue of shares or any 

securities convertible into shares, or grant of options 

contemplated in terms of section 42, or a grant of any other 

rights exercisable for securities, must be approved by a special 

resolution of the shareholders, if the shares, securities or options 

are issued to a:

 (a)  director, future director, prescribed officer, or a future 

prescribed officer of the Company;

 (b)  person related or inter-related to the Company, or to a 

director or prescribed officer of the Company; or

 (c)  nominee of a person contemplated in clause 3.1(4)(a) and 

3.1(4)(b).

(5)  Subject always to the prior approval of the shareholders by 

ordinary resolution at a shareholders’ meeting and the JSE, the 

Board is authorised to offer shares to existing shareholders at any 

time, but such offer shall be pro rata to their existing 

shareholding, and on the same terms and conditions as have 

been offered to all shareholders of the Company or to all 

shareholders of the class or classes of shares being issued, unless 

issued for the acquisition of assets. [LR 10.1]

(6)  The authority of the Board to increase or decrease the number of 

authorised shares of any class, to reclassify any classified shares 

that have been authorised but not issued, to classify any 

unclassified shares that have been authorised but not issued, or 

to determine the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms 

of any class of shares, is restricted or varied in the manner 

contemplated in clauses 2.3(1)(b) and 2.3(2), and must be 

exercised in accordance with the Listings Requirements. 

[LR 10.9(c)]

(7)  The authority of the Board to authorise the Company to provide 

financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of 

security or otherwise to any person in relation to the purchase of 

any securities or the subscription of any option or security of the 

Company or a related or inter-related Company, subject to the 

provisions of section 44(3), is not restricted or varied by this 

Memorandum of Incorporation.

(8)  Subject to clauses 3.1(3) and 3.1(4), and the provisions of section 

47, the Board may approve the issuing of any authorised shares 

of the Company as capitalisation shares or the issuing of shares 

of one class as capitalisation shares in respect of shares of 

another class and may permit shareholders to elect to receive a 

cash payment in lieu of a capitalisation share. [LR 10.6]

(9)  Subject to the provisions of sections 46 and 48 and the Listings 

Requirements, the Board may determine that the Company will 

acquire a number of its own shares provided that such resolution 

by the Board:

 (a)  is approved by a special resolution of the shareholders, if 

any shares are to be acquired by the Company from a 

director or prescribed officer of the Company, or a person 

related to a director or prescribed officer of the Company; 

and

 (b)  is subject to the requirements of sections 114 and 115 if, 

considered alone, or together with other transactions in an 

integrated series of transactions, it involves the acquisition by 

the Company of more than 5 per cent of the issued shares of 

any particular class of the Company’s shares. [LR 10.9(b)]

(10)  Subject to the provisions of sections 46 and 48 the Company may 

determine that it will acquire shares in its holding Company 

provided that:

ANNEXURE 1 – MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION OF SACOIL HOLDINGS 
LIMITED CONTINUED
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 (a)  not more than 10 per cent, in aggregate, of the number of 

issued shares of any class of shares of the holding Company 

may be held by, or for the benefit of, all of the subsidiaries 

of the holding Company, taken together; and

 (b)  no voting rights attached to those shares may be exercised 

while the shares are held by the Company, and it remains a 

subsidiary of the holding Company whose shares it holds. 

[LR 10.9(b)]

(11)  The Company may not pay commission exceeding 10 per cent to 

any person in consideration for their subscribing or agreeing to 

subscribe, whether absolutely or conditionally, for any securities 

of the Company. [LR 10.14]

(12)  Securities of the Company are to be issued in either certificated 

or uncertificated form.

(13)  A certificate evidencing any certificated securities of the 

Company:

 (a) must state on its face:

 (i) the name of the Company;

 (ii) the name of the person to whom the securities were issued;

 (iii)  the number and class of shares and the designation of the 

series, if any, evidenced by that certificate;

 (iv) a number distinctive for each certificate; and

 (v)  any restriction on the transfer of the securities evidenced by 

that certificate, provided that any certificate issued by the 

Company as a pre-existing Company will not be invalidated 

solely by reason of it failing to comply with these 

requirements;

 (b)  must be signed by two persons authorised by the Board; and

 (c)  is proof that the named security holder owns the securities, 

in the absence of evidence to the contrary.

(14)  A signature contemplated in clause 3.1(13)(b) may be affixed to 

or placed on the certificate by autographic, mechanical or 

electronic means.

(15)  Every person who holds securities in certificated form and whose 

name is entered as a securities holder in the register is entitled, 

without payment, to receive one certificate for all their securities 

of any one class, but the directors are entitled to charge for the 

reasonable costs of every subsequent certificate issued in respect 

of a withdrawal requested in terms of clause 3.1(22). A securities 

holder who has transferred a part of his holding of securities of 

any class, is entitled to receive a certificate free of charge for the 

balance of his securities holding.

(16)  If a securities certificate is defaced, lost or destroyed, it may be 

replaced on payment of any duty payable on the new certificate 

and on such terms (if any) as to evidence, indemnity and 

payment of the out-of-pocket expenses of the Company of 

investigating such evidence and, in the case of loss or 

destruction, of advertising the same, as the Board may think fit 

and, in the case of defacement, on delivery of the old certificate 

to the Company.

(17)  Subject to clause 3.1(18), the Company must enter in its 

securities register every transfer of certificated securities, 

including in the entry:

 (a) the name and address of the transferee;

 (b) the description of the securities or interest transferred;

 (c) the date of the transfer; and

 (d)  the value of any consideration still to be received by the 

Company on each security or interest, in the case of a 

transfer of securities contemplated in sections 40(5) and (6).

(18)  The Company may make an entry contemplated in clause 3.1(17) 

only if the transfer:

 (a)  is evidenced by a proper instrument of transfer in a form 

and substance satisfactory to the Board that has been 

delivered to the Company; or

 (b) was effected by operation of law.

(19)  The provisions of the Act will apply in respect of the issuance and 

transfer of uncertificated securities. In particular:

 (a)  the holders of uncertificated securities in the Company shall 

not be entitled to securities certificates and the Company 

shall not issue certificates evidencing or purporting to 

evidence title to uncertificated securities of the Company, 

subject to clause 3.1(22);

 (b)  in the event of a withdrawal referred to in clause 3.1(22), 

securities certificates shall be issued in terms of the 

provisions of this clause 3.1;

 (c)  upon entry of the name of a person into the sub-register, 

that person shall become a securities holder and will be 

recognised as such in respect of the uncertificated securities 

registered in their name;

 (d)  transfer of ownership and securities holding in accordance 

with clauses 3.1(19)(b) and 3.1(19)(c) will occur 

notwithstanding any fraud or illegality which may affect the 

uncertificated securities in respect of which the transfer was 

effected or which may have resulted in the transfer being 

effected provided that a transferee who was party to or had 

notice of such fraud or illegality may not rely on the 

provisions of this clause 3.1(19)(d);

 (e)  the Company shall be liable to the participant for the fee 

prescribed from time to time in terms of the provisions of 

the Act in respect of the transfer of ownership in 

uncertificated securities;

(20)  The Company shall be entitled to allow the dematerialisation of any 

of its securities. Once such dematerialisation has been allowed:

 (a)  any new securities that are issued may be issued in 

uncertificated form if so requested by the subscriber to 

those securities; or

 (b)  securities holders may dematerialise securities already 

issued into uncertificated securities, in such manner as may 

be decided by the directors from time to time.

(21)  Securities that are dematerialised as contemplated in clause 

3.1(20) will have the same rights as attached to such securities 

prior to their dematerialisation.

(22)  If a securities holder wishes to rematerialise all or part of his 

uncertificated securities held by the participant and to obtain a 

certificate in respect of such uncertificated securities they should 

notify the participant accordingly.
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(23)  The participant shall, within seven days of receipt of the 

notification referred to in clause 3.1(22), notify the Company to 

provide a certificate and shall remove the uncertificated 

securities so rematerialised from the sub-register.

(24)  The Company shall immediately upon receipt of the notification 

from the participant, enter the necessary details of the securities 

holders and their securities holding into the register and indicate 

in the register that the uncertificated Securities so rematerialised 

are no longer held in uncertificated form.

(25)  The Company will within, ten days if the relevant securities 

holder is a resident of the Republic and 20 days if the relevant 

securities holder is not a resident of the Republic, of receipt of 

the notification from the participant, prepare and deliver to the 

relevant securities holder a certificate and notify the participant 

that those securities are no longer held in uncertificated form.

(26)  Where two or more persons are registered as the holders of any 

securities, in either certificated or uncertificated form, they shall 

be deemed to hold those securities jointly, and:

 (a)  notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 

Memorandum of Incorporation, on the death, 

sequestration, liquidation or legal disability of any one of 

such joint holders, the remaining joint holder(s) may be 

recognised, at the discretion of the directors, as the only 

person(s) having title to such securities;

 (b)  any one of such joint holders may give effectual receipts for 

any distributions, bonuses or returns of capital or other 

accruals payable to such joint holders;

 (c)  only the joint holder whose names stands first in the 

register shall be entitled to delivery of the certificate 

relating to those securities, or to receive notices from the 

Company. In case of the legal incapacity of any one or more 

of the joint registered holders of any security, the survivor 

then named first in the register will be the only person 

recognised by the Company as being entitled to such 

certificate, or any new certificate which may be issued in its 

place. Any notice given to such joint holder shall be deemed 

to be notice to all the joint holders;

 (d)  any one of the joint holders of any securities conferring a 

right to vote may vote either personally or by proxy at any 

meeting in respect of such securities as if he were solely 

entitled thereto, and if more than one of such joint holders 

is present at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, the 

joint holder who tenders a vote and whose name stands in 

the register before the other holders who are present in 

person or by proxy, shall be entitled top vote in respect of 

those securities; and

 (e)  the Company shall be entitled but not obliged to refuse to 

register more than two persons as the joint holders of a 

securities.

(27)  All authorities to sign transfer deeds granted by holders of 

securities in the Company for the purpose of transferring 

securities that may be lodged, produced or exhibited with or to 

the Company at any of its transfer offices shall as between the 

Company and the grantor of such authorities, be taken and 

deemed to continue and remain in full force and effect, and the 

Company may allow the same to be acted upon until such time 

as express notice in writing of the revocation of the same shall 

have been given and lodged at the Company’s transfer office at 

which the authority was lodged, produced or exhibited. Even 

after the giving and lodging of such notice, the Company will be 

entitled to give effect to any instruments signed under the 

authority to sign, and certified by any officer of the Company, as 

being in order before the giving and lodging of such notice. 

[LR 10.2(b)]

(28)  Shareholders may provide the Company with an address either in 

the Republic of South Africa or elsewhere to be inserted in the 

securities register. [LR 10.18]

(29)  The Company is prohibited from claiming a lien on any securities 

issued by the Company. [LR 10.12]

3.2 DEBT INSTRUMENTS S 43
(1)  The authority of the Company’s Board to authorise the Company 

to issue secured or unsecured debt instruments at any time, is 

not restricted or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(2)  The Board will not grant special rights to holders of debt 

instruments relating to attending and voting at general meetings 

and the appointment of directors or any rights of a similar 

nature. [LR 10.10]

3.3 REGISTRATION OF BENEFICIAL INTERESTS S 56 1
The authority of the Company’s Board to allow the Company’s issued 

securities to be held by, and registered in the name of, one person for 

the beneficial interest of another person, is not restricted or varied by 

this Memorandum of Incorporation.

4 SHAREHOLDERS
4.1 SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO INFORMATION S 26
Other than the rights to access information set out in section 26, a 

shareholder has no additional rights to information pertaining to the 

Company.

4.2 SHAREHOLDERS’ AUTHORITY TO ACT
1   SHAREHOLDERS’ RESOLUTIONS MAY NOT BE VOTED 

ON IN WRITING BY SHAREHOLDERS ENTITLED TO 
EXERCISE VOTING RIGHTS AS CONTEMPLATED IN 
SECTION 60 OF THE ACT. LR 10.11 C

4.3  VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS S 63 4 , 5 , 6  AND 7 ; S 
57 5  AND 6

(1)  Subject to the Act and subject to any special terms as to voting 

upon which any share may be issued or may for the time being 

be held, if voting on a particular matter is:

 (a)  by a show of hands, any person present and entitled to 

exercise voting rights has one vote, irrespective of the 

number of voting rights that person would otherwise be 

entitled to exercise; and
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 (b)  by polling, any person who is present at the meeting, 

whether in person or by proxy, and is entitled to exercise 

voting rights has one vote per ordinary share. [LR 10.5(b)]

(2)  The holders of any other securities other than ordinary Shares or 

any special shares created for the purposes of Black Economic 

Empowerment shall not be entitled to vote on any resolution 

taken by the Company save as expressly provided for in clauses 

2.3(2) and 3.1. In such instances, their votes may not carry any 

special rights or privileges and they shall be entitled to one vote 

for each share that they hold, provided that their total voting 

right at such a general or annual general meeting, may never be 

more than 24,99 per cent of the total voting rights of all 

shareholders at such a meeting. [LR 10.5(c)]

(3)  A polled vote must be held on any particular matter to be voted 

on at a meeting if a demand for such a vote is made by:

 (a)  at least five persons having the right to vote on that matter, 

either as a shareholder or a proxy;

 (b)  a person who is, or persons who together are, entitled, as a 

shareholder or proxy, to exercise at least 10% of the voting 

rights entitled to be voted on that matter; or

 (c) the Chairperson of the meeting.

(4)  In the case of joint holders of a share, only the vote of the senior 

holder shall be accepted, whether in person or by proxy. For the 

purpose of this clause, seniority shall be determined by the order 

in which the names appear in the register or in the case of 

persons entitled to a share by transmission, the order in which 

their names were given in the notice to the Company of that 

transmission.

(5)  Any entity holding shares conferring the right to vote may, by 

resolution of the directors or other governing body of that entity, 

authorise one person to act as its representative at any 

shareholders’ meeting. The representative shall be entitled to 

exercise the same powers as that entity could exercise if it were 

an individual shareholder. The Board may require proof to their 

satisfaction of the appointment or authority of a representative 

to act.

4.4  PROXIES AND VOTING UNDER POWER OF ATTORNEY 
S 58

1   A SHAREHOLDER MAY, AT ANY TIME, APPOINT ANY 
INDIVIDUAL, INCLUDING AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS 
NOT A SHAREHOLDER, AS A PROXY TO:

 (a)  participate in and speak and vote at, a shareholders meeting 

on behalf of the shareholder; or

 (b)  give or withhold written consent on behalf of the 

shareholder to a decision by shareholders acting other than 

at a meeting.

(2) the instrument that appoints a proxy must:

 (a)  be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder;

 (b)  be given by the person appointing such proxy or by their 

attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a 

corporation, given by a representative so authorised.

(3)  The holder of a power of attorney from a shareholder may, if so 

authorised by the power of attorney, vote for and represent such 

shareholder at any meeting of the Company.

(4)  Every instrument of proxy, whether for a specified meeting or 

otherwise, must comply with section 58 of the Act and subject 

thereto be in following format or in such other form as the 

Company’s Board may approve, and the Board may, if they think 

fit, send out with the notice of any meeting proxy forms for use 

at the meeting:
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4.5 REPRESENTATION BY CONCURRENT PROXIES S 58 3
A

The right of a shareholder to appoint two or more persons concurrently 

as proxies, and to appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights 

attached to different securities held by the shareholder is not restricted 

or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

4.6 AUTHORITY OF PROXY TO DELEGATE S 58 3 B
The authority of a shareholder’s proxy to delegate that proxy’s 

authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, subject to any restriction 

set out in the instrument appointing that proxy, is not restricted or 

varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

4.7  REQUIREMENT TO DELIVER PROXY INSTRUMENT TO 
THE COMPANY S 58 3 C

The instrument of proxy or power of attorney appointing a proxy for 

any particular meeting must be delivered to the Company at its 

registered address or to the Company’s transfer secretary not less than 

forty-eight hours (or such lesser period as the directors may determine 

in relation to any particular meeting) before such meeting is due to 

take place, or the instrument of proxy or power of attorney shall not be 

treated as valid.

4.8 DELIBERATIVE AUTHORITY OF PROXY S 58 7
The authority of a shareholder’s proxy to decide without direction from 

the shareholder whether to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any 

voting right of the shareholder, except to the extent that the 

instrument appointing that proxy provides otherwise, is not restricted 

or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

4.9 VALIDITY OF APPOINTMENT
(1)  The proxy appointment remains valid only for its intended 

purpose, provided that it may be revoked at any time by 

cancellation in writing, or the making of a later inconsistent 

appointment of another proxy, and delivering a copy of the 

revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the Company or to the 

Company’s transfer secretary.

(2)  The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the 

extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person 

in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

(3)  A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of 

proxy or power of attorney appointing a proxy shall be valid 

notwithstanding the legal incapacity of the shareholder or 

revocation of the instrument or power of attorney or of the 

transfer of the securities in respect of which the vote is given, 

unless notice in writing of such legal incapacity, revocation or 

transfer is received by or on behalf of the Company not less than 

twenty-four hours (or such lesser period as the Board may 

determine in relation to any particular meeting) before the time 

appointed for holding the meeting.

I/We  of

being a shareholder/shareholders of the Company appoint of 

or failing him or her  of

or failing him the Chairman of the Company or failing him or her the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to:

[participate in, and speak and vote for me/us at a shareholders’ meeting of the Company to be held at _______________ on ________________ 20___

at (time appointed) and at any adjournment thereof]/[participate in, and speak and vote for me/us at any shareholders’ meeting held by the Company 

between the date of this proxy instrument and _________________ on _____________________ 20___].*

Dated this day of   20  .

Name (in full)

Address

Signature

* Delete as applicable

I/We desire to vote as follows: For Against Abstain

Resolution Number 1

Resolution Number 2

(Set out the numbers of the resolutions if more than one)

Indicate voting preference by placing a mark (either a tick or a cross) in the 

appropriate block.
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4.10 RECORD DATE FOR EXERCISE OF SHAREHOLDER 
RIGHTS S 59 3
Subject to the Listings Requirements, if, at any time, the Company’s 

Board fails to determine a record date for any action or event, the 

record date for the relevant matter is :

(1)  in the case of a meeting, the latest date by which the Company is 

required to give shareholders notice of that meeting; or

(2)  in any other case, the date of the action or event. [LR 10.15]

5 SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
5.1 REQUIREMENT TO HOLD MEETINGS S 61
The Company is not required to hold any shareholders’ meetings other 

than those specifically required by section 61 and this clause 5, but may 

do so.

5.2  SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO REQUISITION A MEETING 
S 61 1 ; S 61 3

(1)  The right of shareholders to requisition the Company’s Board to 

call a shareholders’ meeting may be exercised if, in aggregate, 

written and signed demands for a meeting with substantially the 

same purpose are made by the holders of at least 10 per cent of 

the voting rights entitled to be exercised in relation to the matter 

to be considered at the meeting, provided that each such demand 

describes the specific purpose for which the meeting is proposed.

(2)  In addition, any general meeting may be called by two or more 

shareholders holding not less than 20 per cent of the Company’s 

issued shares.

5.3 LOCATION OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS S 61 9
The authority of the Company’s Board to determine the location of any 

shareholders’ meeting and the authority of the Company to hold any 

such meeting in the Republic or in any foreign country, is not restricted 

or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

5.4 CALLING A SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING S 61 11
If the Company is unable to convene a shareholders’ meeting because 

it has no directors or because all of its directors are incapacitated, any 

shareholder may convene a meeting.

5.5  NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS S 62 1 A ; S 
62 3  AND S 63 3

(1)  The minimum number of days for the Company to deliver a 

notice of a shareholders’ meeting to the shareholders who are 

entitled to vote is [LR 10.11(e)]:

 (a) in accordance with regulation 7(2); and

 (b)  15 business days before the meeting is to begin, if it is 

proposed that an ordinary or special resolution be passed at 

such meeting. [LR 10.11(a), LR 10.11(b) and LR 10.16(h)]

(2)  A notice of a meeting must be in writing and include the 

information set out in sections 62(3) and 63(3).

(3)  All notices of meetings of shareholders issued by the Company 

must simultaneously be sent to the JSE and announced on the 

official news service of the JSE. [LR 10.11(f)]

5.6  ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION IN SHAREHOLDERS 
MEETING S 63 2 ; S 61 10

(1)  Every shareholders’ meeting of the Company must be reasonably 

accessible within the Republic for electronic participation by 

shareholders, irrespective of whether the meeting is held in the 

Republic or elsewhere.

(2)  The authority of the Company to conduct a shareholders’ 

meeting entirely by electronic communication is not restricted or 

varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(3)  The electronic communication employed at a shareholders’ meeting 

shall ordinarily enable all persons participating in that meeting to 

communicate concurrently with each other without an intermediary, 

and to participate reasonably effectively in the meeting.

5.7  QUORUM FOR SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS S 64 1 ; S 
64 2 ; S 64 3 ; S 64 4 ; S 64 5 ; S 64 8 ; S 64 9

(1)  Subject to the provisions of clause 5.7(2) to clause 5.7(6) (both 

inclusive), the quorum for:

 (a)  a shareholders’ meeting to begin is sufficient persons 

present at the meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least 

25 per cent of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be 

exercised in respect of at least one matter to be decided at 

the meeting; and

 (b)  a matter to begin to be considered at the meeting is 

sufficient persons present at the meeting to exercise, in 

aggregate, at least 25 per cent of all of the voting rights that 

are entitled to be exercised on that matter at the time the 

matter is called on the agenda. [LR 10.11(h)]

(2)  Notwithstanding clause 5.7(1), a meeting may not begin, or a 

matter begin to be considered, unless at least three shareholders 

are present at the meeting and the requirements of clause 5.7(1) 

are satisfied. [LR 10.11(h)]

(3)  If, within one hour after the appointed time for a meeting to 

begin, the requirements of clauses 5.7(1) and 5.7(2):

 (a)  for that meeting to begin have not been satisfied, the 

meeting is postponed without motion, vote or further 

notice, for one week; and

 (b)  for consideration of a particular matter to begin have not 

been satisfied:

 (i)  if there is other business on the agenda of the meeting, 

consideration of that matter may be postponed to a later 

time in the meeting without motion or vote; or

 (ii)  if there is no other business on the agenda of the meeting, 

the meeting is adjourned for one week, without motion or 

vote.

(4)  The person intended to preside at a meeting, where the quorum 

requirements in clause 5.7(1) and clause 5.7(2) are not satisfied, 

may extend the 30 minute limit allowed for a reasonable period 

on the grounds that:

 (a)  exceptional circumstances affecting weather, transportation 

or electronic communication have impeded, or are 

impeding, the ability of shareholders to be present at the 

meeting; or
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 (b)  one or more delayed shareholders have communicated an 

intention to attend the meeting, and those shareholders, 

together with others in attendance, would satisfy the 

quorum requirements; or

 (c)  any other reason such person considers appropriate.

(5)  After a quorum has been established for a meeting, shareholders 

constituting the quorum must remain present at the meeting for 

all matters that must be considered at the meeting. [LR 10.11(h)]

(6)  If the quorum requirements in clause 5.7(1) and clause 5.7(2) 

have not been satisfied at the time appointed for a postponed 

meeting to begin or for an adjourned meeting to resume, the 

shareholders present in person or by proxy will be deemed to 

constitute a quorum.

5.8  ADJOURNMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS S 
64 10 ; S 64 11 ; S 64 12

(1)  Subject to clauses 5.7, 5.8(2) and 5.8(3), a shareholders’ meeting 

or the consideration of any matter at the meeting, may be 

adjourned from time to time, on a motion supported by persons 

entitled to exercise, in aggregate, a majority of the voting rights 

held by all of the persons who are present at the meeting at the 

time and that are entitled to be exercised on at least one matter 

remaining on the agenda of the meeting, or on the matter under 

consideration, as the case may be.

(2)  An adjournment of a meeting or the consideration of a matter at 

the meeting, in terms clause 5.8(1), may be either to a fixed time 

and place or until further notice, as agreed at the meeting.

(3) A meeting may not be adjourned beyond the earlier of:

 (a)  120 business days after the record date determined in 

accordance with clause 4.10; or

 (b)  60 business days after the date on which the adjournment 

occurred.

5.9 SHAREHOLDERS’ RESOLUTIONS S 65 7 ; S 65 9
(1)  For an ordinary resolution to be approved by shareholders, it 

must be supported by the holders of more than 50% of the 

voting rights exercised on that resolution.

(2)  For a special resolution to be approved by shareholders, it must 

be supported by the holders of at least 75% of the voting rights 

exercised on that resolution. [LR 10.11(a)]

5.10 RATIFICATION OF ULTRA VIRES ACTS
  Unless otherwise approved by the JSE, no resolution may be 

proposed to shareholders in terms of section 20(2) or section 

20(6) of the Act 17. The adoption of any such resolution would 

lead to the ratification of an action that is in contravention of the 

Listings Requirements. [LR 10.37]

5.11 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING S 61 7  AND 8
(1) The Company must hold an annual general meeting:

 (a)  initially, no more than 18 months after its date of 

incorporation; and

 (b)  thereafter, once in every calendar year, but no more than 

15 months after the date of the previous annual general 

meeting.

(2)  In addition to the requirements of clause 5.5, the notice calling 

an annual general meeting must include:

 (a)  the financial statements to be presented, or a summarised 

form thereof; and

 (b)  directions for obtaining a copy of the complete annual 

financial statements for the preceding financial year.

(3)  The agenda at an annual general meeting shall include but not 

be limited to:

 (a)  presentation of the directors’ report, audited financial 

statements for the preceding financial year and, if required, 

an audit committee report;

 (b)  election of directors, to the extent required by the Act or 

this Memorandum of Incorporation;

 (c)  appointment of an auditor for the ensuing financial year, 

and, if required, an audit committee; and

 (d)  any matters raised by shareholders, with or without advance 

notice to the Company.

6 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
6.1  COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD S 66 2 ; S 67 1 ; 

S 68 1 ; S 68 2 A ; S 68 2 B ; S 66 4 A II ; S 68 3 ; 
S 69 3  AND 4 ; S 69 7 ; S 69 8 A ; S 69 8 B

(1)  The Company’s Board must comprise not less than five directors, 

elected by the shareholders provided that any shareholder 

may nominate any Director for the purposes of such election. 

[LR 10.16(a) and 10.16(b)]

(2)  Subject to clause 6.1(6), each director, other than the first 

directors and any directors appointed in this Memorandum of 

Incorporation, must be elected by the persons entitled to 

exercise voting rights in such an election, provided that no 

director may be appointed for life or for an indefinite period. 

[LR 10.16(k)]

(3)  In any election of directors, the election is to be conducted as a 

series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single 

individual to fill a single vacancy.

(4)  In each vote to fill a vacancy, each voting right entitled to be 

exercised may be exercised once and the vacancy is filled only if a 

majority of the voting rights exercised support the candidate.

(5)  There are no ex officio directors in addition to any directors 

appointed in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation and 

the elected directors.

(6)  The authority of the Board to fill any vacancy on the Board on a 

temporary basis is not restricted or varied by this Memorandum 

of Incorporation. A director appointed on a temporary basis must 

be a person who satisfies the requirements for election as a 

director and has all the powers, functions and duties, and is 

subject to all the liabilities, of any other director.
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(7)  The appointment of a director, whether to fill a casual vacancy, or 

as an addition to the Board (or otherwise), must be confirmed by 

shareholders at the annual general meeting following such 

appointment. [LR 10.16(b) and LR 10.16(c)]

(8)  If the number of directors falls below the minimum provided in 

clause 6.1(1), the remaining directors must as soon as possible 

and, in any event not later than three months from the date that 

the number of directors falls below the minimum, fill the 

vacancies or call a general meeting for the purpose of filling the 

vacancies, provided that the failure by the Company to have the 

minimum number of directors during the three month period 

does not limit or negate the authority of the Board of directors or 

invalidate anything done by the Board of Directors or the 

Company. After the expiry of the three month period the 

remaining directors shall only be permitted to act for the purpose 

of filling vacancies or calling general meetings of shareholders. 

[LR 10.16(d)]

(9)  To become or to continue to act as a director or a prescribed 

officer of the Company, a person must not be:

 (a) a juristic person;

 (b)  an unemancipated minor, or a person under a similar legal 

disability;

 (c)  a person who has been declared a delinquent or placed 

under probation by a court in terms of section 162 or 

section 47 of the Close Corporations Act, 1984, except to 

the extent permitted by the order of probation;

 (d) an unrehabilitated insolvent;

 (e) prohibited in terms of any public regulation to be a director;

 (f)  removed from an office of trust, on the grounds of 

misconduct involving dishonesty;

 (g)  a person who has been convicted, in the Republic or 

elsewhere, and imprisoned without the option of a fine or 

fined more than the prescribed amount for theft, fraud, 

forgery, perjury or an offence:

 (i) involving fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty;

 (ii)  in connection with the promotion, formation or 

management of a Company;

 (iii)  in connection with having been appointed or elected as a 

director or acting as a director whilst ineligible or 

disqualified, or whilst having been placed under probation 

by a court; or

 (iv)  under the Act, the Insolvency Act, 1936, the Close 

Corporations Act, 1984, the Competition Act, 1998, the 

Financial Intelligence Centre Act, 2001, the Securities 

Services Act, 2004, or Chapter 2 of the Prevention and 

Combating of Corruption Activities Act, 2004.

(10)  A person need not satisfy any further eligibility requirements or 

qualifications.

6.2 ROTATION OF DIRECTORS
At least one-third of non-executive directors must retire at the 

Company’s annual general meetings or other general meetings on an 

annual basis, provided the meeting is not conducted in terms of section 

60 of the Act. These retiring members of the Board of Directors may be 

re-elected, provided they are eligible. The Board of Directors, through 

the Nomination Committee, should recommend eligibility, taking into 

account past performance and contribution. [LR 10.16(g)]

6.3 ALTERNATE DIRECTORS S 66 4 A III
(1)  Each director may, subject to shareholder approval in accordance 

with the Act, appoint and remove any person, including another 

director, to act as an alternate director in such director’s place 

and during their absence, provided that such person has been 

approved for that purpose by a resolution of the Company’s 

Board. Any appointment or removal of an alternate director shall 

be effected by written notice to the Company signed by the 

person appointing or removing that alternative. [LR 10.16(b)]

(2)  An alternate director shall, except as regards the power to 

appoint an alternate (if applicable) and to receive remuneration, 

be subject in all respects to the terms and conditions applicable 

to the director appointing them, and each alternate director shall 

be entitled:

 (a)  to receive notice of all meetings of the directors or of any 

committee of the directors of which the alternate’s 

appointor is a member;

 (b)  to attend and vote at any such meetings at which the 

alternate’s appointor is not personally present;

 (c)  to furnish written consent to adopt a decision which could 

be voted on at a Board meeting;

 (d)  to be appointed as an alternate to more than one director 

and shall have a vote for each director for whom such 

alternate acts, in addition to their own vote as director, if 

any; and

 (e)  generally, to exercise and discharge all the functions, powers 

and duties of the alternate’s appointor in such appointor’s 

absence as if such alternate were a director.

(3)  An alternate director shall cease to be an alternate director if the 

alternate’s appointor ceases for any reason to be a director, but if 

any director retires and is re-elected at the same meeting, any 

appointment made by such director shall remain in force as 

though the director had not retired.

6.4 AUTHORITY OF THE BOARD S 66 1 ; S 57 3
(1)  The authority of the Company’s Board to exercise all of the 

powers and perform any of the functions of the Company and to 

manage and direct the business and affairs of the Company, is 

not restricted or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(2)  If, at any time, the Company has only one director, the authority 

of that director to act without notice or compliance with any 

other internal formalities, is not restricted or varied by this 

Memorandum of Incorporation.
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6.5  DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS S 73 1 ; S 73 3 ; S 73 4 ; S 
73 5 A ; S 73 5 B ; S 73 5 C  AND D ; S 73 5  E ; S 
74

(1) A director authorised by the Board of the Company:

 (a) may call a meeting of the Board at any time; and

 (b) must call such a meeting if required to do so by at least:

 (i)  25 per cent of the directors, in the case of a Board that has 

at least 12 members; or

 (ii) two directors, in any other case.

(2)  Notwithstanding clause 6.5(1), any director may call a meeting of 

directors if such director considers there is good reason to do so.

(3)  The authority of the Board to conduct a meeting entirely by 

electronic communication, or to provide for participation in a 

meeting by electronic communication, so long as the electronic 

communication facility employed ordinarily enables all persons 

participating in that meeting to communicate concurrently with 

each other without an intermediary, and to participate effectively 

in the meeting, is not restricted or varied by this Memorandum 

of Incorporation.

(4)  The authority of the Board to adopt a decision, that could be 

voted on at a Board meeting, by way of written consent of a 

majority of the directors, given in person or by electronic 

communication, provided that each director has received notice 

of the matter to be decided, is not restricted or varied by this 

Memorandum of Incorporation. Any decision made in the 

manner contemplated in this clause 6.5(4):

 (a)  has the same effect as if it had been approved by voting at a 

meeting; [LR 10.16(j)]

 (b)  must be inserted into the minute book of the Company; and 

[LR 10.16(j)]

 (c)  may consist of several documents and will be deemed to 

have been passed on the date on which it was signed by the 

last director who signed it (unless otherwise stated in the 

resolution). [LR 10.16(j)]

(5)  The Board may determine the form and time for giving notice of 

its meetings, but such a determination must comply with any 

requirements set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation, 

provided that no meeting of the Board shall be convened without 

notice to all of the directors subject, however, to the provisions 

of clause 6.5(6).

(6)  The authority of the Board to proceed with a meeting even if 

there was a failure to give the required notice or there was a 

defect in the giving of such notice, provided that all of the 

directors acknowledge actual receipt of the notice or are present 

at the meeting or waive notice of the meeting, is not restricted or 

varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(7) The quorum requirement for a meeting is a majority of directors.

(8)  Each director has one vote on a matter and a majority of votes 

cast on a resolution is sufficient to approve that resolution.

(9)  The Board is entitled to elect a chairman, deputy chairman and/

or any vice-chairman from one of its number and may determine 

the period for which such persons will hold office. In the case of a 

tied vote, the chairman or vice-chairman will not have a deciding 

vote and the resolution will fail. [LR 10.16(i)]

6.6 DIRECTORS’ POWER TO AFFECT BORROWING
The Company’s Board may raise or borrow from time to time for the 

purposes of the Company or secure the payment of such sums as they 

think fit and may secure the repayment or payment of any such sums 

by guarantee, bond or mortgage upon all or any of the property or 

assets of the Company or by the issue of debt instruments or otherwise 

as they may think fit.

6.7 DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION S 66 8  AND 9
(1)  The authority of the Company to pay remuneration to the 

directors, in accordance with a special resolution approved by 

the shareholders within the previous two years, is not restricted 

or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(2)  A director may be employed in any other capacity in the 

Company or as a director or employee of a Company controlled 

by, or itself a subsidiary of, this Company, provided that their 

appointment and remuneration in respect of such other office is 

determined by:

 (a)  a disinterested quorum of directors in the case of executive 

directors; and [LR 10.16(e)]

 (b)  the shareholders, within the previous two years, in the case 

of non-executive directors.

(3)  The directors may be paid all their travelling and other expenses 

properly and necessarily incurred by them in and about the 

business of the Company, and in attending meetings of the 

directors or of committees thereof. If any director is required to 

perform extra services or to reside abroad or will be specifically 

occupied about the Company’s business, they shall be entitled to 

receive such remuneration as is determined in accordance with 

clause 6.7(2). [LR 10.16(f)]

6.8 FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE S 44 2 ; S 45 2
(1)  The authority of the Company’s Board to authorise the Company 

to provide financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the 

provision of security or otherwise to any person for the purpose 

of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any 

securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or 

inter-related Company, or for the purchase of any securities of 

the Company or a related or inter-related Company, subject to 

the provisions of sections 44(3) and 44(4), is not restricted or 

varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(2)  The authority of the Company’s Board to authorise the Company 

to provide financial assistance to a director or prescribed officer 

of the Company or a related or inter-related Company, or to a 

related or inter-related Company or corporation or to a member 

of a related or inter-related Company or corporation, or to a 

person related to any such person or entity, subject to the 

provisions of sections 45(3) and 45(4), is not restricted or varied 

by this Memorandum of Incorporation.
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6.9  INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS S 78 1 ; S 78 3 ; 
S 78 4 ; S 78 5 ; S 78 7 ; S 78 8

(1)  For purposes of this clause 6.9, director includes a former 

director, an alternate director, a prescribed officer or a person 

who is a member of a committee of a Board of the Company, or 

of the audit committee of the Company, irrespective of whether 

or not the person is also a member of the Board.

(2)  The authority of the Company to advance expenses to a director 

to defend litigation in any proceedings arising out of the 

director’s service to the Company and to directly or indirectly 

indemnify a director for such expenses if those proceedings are 

abandoned or exculpate the director or arise in respect of any 

liability for which the Company may indemnify the director, is not 

restricted or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(3)  The authority of the Company to indemnify a director in respect 

of any liability for which the Company may indemnify a director, 

is not restricted or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(4)  The authority of the Company to purchase insurance to protect:

 (a)  a director against any liability or expenses for which the 

Company may indemnify a director as contemplated in 

clause 6.9(2) or clause 6.9(3); or

 (b)  the Company against any contingency including but not 

limited to any expenses that the Company is permitted to 

advance or for which the Company is permitted to 

indemnify a director as contemplated in clause 6.9(2) or any 

liability for which the Company is permitted to indemnify a 

director as contemplated in clause 6.9(3), is not restricted or 

varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

(5)  The Company shall be entitled to claim restitution from a director 

or a related Company for any money paid directly or indirectly by 

the Company to or on behalf of that director in any manner 

inconsistent with this clause 6.9 or the Act.

6.10 COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD S 72 1 A ; S 72 1 B
(1)  The authority of the Company’s Board to appoint any number of 

committees of directors for managing any of the affairs of the 

Company and to delegate to any such committee any authority of 

the Board, is not restricted or varied by this Memorandum of 

Incorporation

(2)  Subject to the powers and authorities granted by the Board to 

any such committee, the authority of:

 (a)  the Board to include persons who are not directors of the 

Company, provided that such persons are not ineligible or 

disqualified from being a director as contemplated in clause 

6.1(9) and the Act, and that no such person shall vote on a 

matter to be decided by the committee;

 (b)  the committee to consult with or receive advice from any 

other person; and

 (c)  the committee to exercise the full authority of the Board in 

respect of a matter referred to it, is not restricted or varied 

by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

6.11 AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS
(1)  Any director or any person appointed by the directors for this 

purpose shall have power to authenticate any resolutions passed 

by the shareholders or the directors, and any books, records, 

accounts and other documents relating to the Company, and to 

certify copies or extracts from those documents as true copies or 

extracts and where any books, records, documents or accounts are 

elsewhere than at the registered office, the local manager or other 

officer of the Company having the custody of the documents at 

such other place shall be deemed to be the person so appointed.

(2)  A document purporting to be a copy of a resolution of the 

directors or shareholders or an extract from the minutes of a 

meeting of the directors or shareholders which is certified in 

accordance with clause 6.11(1) is prima facie evidence in favour 

of all persons dealing with the Company that such resolution has 

been duly passed or, as the case may be, that such extract is a 

true and accurate record of a duly constituted meeting of the 

directors or shareholders.

6.12 AUDIT COMMITTEE S 94
(1)  If required in terms of the Act, the Company must, at each annual 

general meeting of the Company, elect an audit committee 

comprising at least three members, each of which member must:

 (a)  be a director of the Company, who satisfies any applicable 

requirements prescribed in terms of section 94(5) of the Act;

 (b) not be:

 (i)  involved in the day-to-day management of the Company’s 

business or have been so involved at any time during the 

previous financial year;

 (ii)  a prescribed officer or full-time employee of the Company 

or another related or inter-related Company, or have been 

such an officer or employee at any time during the previous 

three financial years; or

 (iii)  a material supplier or customer of the Company, such that a 

reasonable and informed third party would conclude in the 

circumstances that the integrity, impartiality or objectivity of 

that director is compromised by that relationship; and

 (c)  not be related to any person who falls within any of the 

criteria set out in clause 6.12(1)(b).

(2)  The audit committee shall be appointed in accordance with, and 

its duties regulated by, section 94.

6.13 SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE S 72 4
(1)  If required in terms of the Act, the Company must, at each annual 

general meeting of the Company, elect a social and ethics 

committee comprising at least three directors or prescribed 

officers of the Company, at least one of whom must be a director 

who is not involved in the day-to-day management of the 

Company’s business, and must not have been so involved within 

the previous three financial years.
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6.14 COMPANY SECRETARY S 86; S 87
(1)  The Board shall appoint a Company secretary in accordance with 

sections 86 and 87 of the Act.

(2)  Should any vacancy arise in the office of Company secretary, the 

Board shall, within sixty business days after a vacancy arises, fill 

such vacancy.

7 GENERAL PROVISIONS
7.1 DISTRIBUTIONS S 46
(1)  Subject to the provisions of the Listings Requirements and the 

Act, and particularly section 46, the Company may from time to 

time make a proposed distribution if that distribution is:

 (a)  pursuant to an existing legal obligation of the Company, or a 

court order; or

 (b)  authorised by a resolution of the Company’s Board and the 

solvency and liquidity test is complied with in the manner 

contemplated in the Act. [LR 10.17(a)]

(2)  Distributions that are dividends must be paid to the shareholders 

according to their respective rights and interest in proportion to 

the number of Shares held by them in each class in respect of 

which the dividend is payable. If any share is issued on terms 

providing that it shall rank for dividends as from a particular date 

or for all dividends declared after a particular date, such share 

shall rank for dividends accordingly.

(3)  Dividends are payable to shareholders that are registered as at a 

date subsequent to the date of declaration of the dividend or the 

date of confirmation of the dividend, whichever is the later. 

[LR 10.17(b)]

(4)  A dividend may be declared out of the profits or reserves of the 

Company, whether realised or unrealised, whether of a revenue 

or a capital nature and whether designated distributions or not, 

and no dividend carries interest as against the Company, except 

as otherwise provided under the conditions of issue of the shares 

in respect of which such dividend is payable. Dividends may be 

declared either free of or subject to the deduction of income tax 

and any other tax or duty for which the Company may be 

charged.

(5)  Subject to the laws of prescription, unclaimed distributions 

(including dividends) must be settled by the Company upon 

trustees to be held in trust for a period of three years for the 

benefit of the relevant shareholders, whereupon the liability of 

the Company in relation thereto shall be extinguished.  

[LR 10.17(c)]

(6)  Any distribution may be paid and satisfied, either wholly or in 

part, by the distribution of specific assets, or in Shares or debt 

instruments of the Company or of any other Company, or in cash, 

or in any one or more of such ways as the Board or Company in 

general meeting may at the time of declaring the dividend 

determine and direct, provided that the right of election to 

receive either scrip dividends or cash dividends (as contemplated 

in the Listings Requirements) is not prohibited in any way. 

[LR 10.7]

(7)  The Board may, before authorising any dividend whether 

preferential or otherwise, set aside out of the profits of the 

Company whether realised or unrealised and whether of a 

revenue or of a capital nature such sum as they think proper as 

reserves which shall, at the discretion of the Board, be applied 

for any purpose to which the profits of the Company may be 

properly applied and pending such application may, at the 

Board’s discretion, either be employed in the business of the 

Company or be invested in such investments as the Board may 

from time to time think fit. The Board may also without placing 

the same to reserve, carry forward any profits of the Company 

which they may think prudent not to declare as a dividend.

(8)  Subject to the provisions of section 47 and any other requirements 

imposed by the Act, the shareholders may (if authorised by the 

Board) and the Board may resolve that it is desirable to capitalise 

all or any part of the amount standing to the credit of any of the 

Company’s reserves or of any share premium account or capital 

redemption reserve fund or to the credit of the income statement 

or otherwise available for distribution and not required for the 

payment of the fixed dividends on any preference Shares of the 

Company, and accordingly that such amount be set free for 

distribution among the shareholders or any class of shareholders 

who would be entitled thereto if distributed by way of dividend 

and in the same proportions on the footing that the same be not 

paid in cash, but be applied in paying up unissued shares of the 

Company to be issued to such shareholders as fully paid 

capitalisation shares. [LR 10.6]

(9)  Without derogating from the provisions of this clause 7.1 and 

subject to any requirements which may be imposed by the Act 

and the Listings Requirements, the shareholders may, upon the 

authorisation of the Board, resolve to distribute or deal with, in 

any way authorised by the Act, all or any part of the amount 

standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserves or any 

share capital of the Company. [LR 10.8]

7.2 ACCOUNTS S 25; S 28; S 30; S 31
(1)  The Company’s Board must keep accurate and complete 

accounting records required or prescribed by the Act.

(2)  The accounting records must be kept at the registered office of 

the Company or (subject to the provisions of section 25 of the 

Act) at such other location within the Republic as the Board think 

fit, and shall at all times be accessible and open to inspection by 

the Board. Except as provided by the Act or the authority of the 

Board, no shareholder (other than a shareholder who happens to 

be a director) has any right to inspect any accounting record or 

document of the Company.

(3)  The Board must, in accordance with sections 30 and 31 of the Act, 

cause to be prepared and laid before the Company at its annual 

general meeting those annual financial statements and reports and 

Group annual financial statements and reports, if any.
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(4)  Subject to the provisions of the Act, a copy of the annual financial 

statements and reports referred to in clause 7.2(3) must be 

delivered or sent by post to the registered address of each 

shareholder and debt instrument holder at least 15 business days 

before the annual general meeting. A shareholder or debt 

instrument holder may give the Company an address for the 

purposes of receiving electronic communications, in which case a 

copy of such documents may be delivered electronically to that 

shareholder or debt instrument holder at that address. This 

clause 7.2(4) does not require the Company to send or deliver a 

copy of such documents to any person who is not entitled to 

receive notice of general meetings of the Company or whose 

address the Company is not aware of, or to more than any one of 

the joint holders of any securities. [LR 10.19]

7.3 AUDITORS S 90; S 91; S 92; S 93
  If required by the Act, auditors must be appointed, and their 

duties regulated in accordance with the provisions of sections 90, 

91, 92 and 93 of the Act.

7.4 WINDING UP
  If the Company is wound-up the liquidator may, with the sanction 

of a special resolution of the shareholders, distribute among the 

shareholders in specie the whole or any part of the assets of the 

Company, and the liquidator may for such purpose set a value 

that the liquidator deems fair upon any asset and may determine 

how the distribution will be carried out as between the 

shareholders or different classes of shareholders. The liquidator 

may, after discharging all liabilities and with like sanction, vest 

the whole or any part of such assets upon trustees to be held in 

trust for the benefit of the shareholders or any of them as the 

liquidator deems fit.

  This Memorandum of Incorporation will be adopted by special 

resolution at a Shareholders’ meeting to be held on 

30 November 2012.
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ANNEXURE 2 – AMENDED SHARE OPTION SCHEME

1. DEFINITIONS

  In this Scheme, unless the context indicates otherwise, the words 

and expressions set out below shall have the meanings assigned to 

them and cognate expressions shall have a corresponding 

meaning, namely:

1.1 “Act” the Companies Act, as amended;

1.2 “Board”  the board of Directors of the Company 

from time to time;

1.3 “Auditors”  the auditors of the Company from time 

to time;

1.4  “Capitalisation 

Issue”

 the issue of Shares on a capitalisation of 

the Company’s profits and/or reserves, 

including its share premium account 

and/or capital redemption reserve fund;

1.5 “Company”  SacOil Holdings Limited, Registration 

number: 1993/000460/06, a public 

company with limited liability and listed 

on the JSE;

1.6 “Convertible 

Securities”

 “convertible securities” as defined in the 

Listings Requirements;

1.7 “Date of 

Appointment”

 the relevant date of appointment of new 

Employees or non-executive Directors, as 

the case may be;

1.8 “Date of 

Approval”

 the relevant date of approval of a grant 

of an Option to a Participant by a 

resolution of the Directors;

1.9 “Date of Grant”  the relevant date of grant of an Option 

to a Participant in accordance with this 

Scheme;

1.10 “Directors”  the directors of the Company from time 

to time including non-executive directors 

but excluding independent non-

executive directors;

1.11 “Employees”  a person in the permanent employment 

of the Company, including executive 

Directors, and executive management in 

a consulting capacity;

1.12 “JSE”  the JSE Limited, Registration number: 

2005/022939/06), a public company 

with limited liability, which owns and 

operates the securities exchange 

licensed under the Securities Services 

Act, as amended;

1.13 “Listings 

Requirements“

 the listings requirements of the JSE;

1.14 “Option”  an option granted to each of the 

Participants pursuant to the Scheme;

1.15 “Participants”  Employees and Directors of the 

Company for the time being who are 

nominated by the Remuneration 

Committee of the Board to be 

Participants;

1.16  “Remuneration 

Committee”

 the appointed remuneration committee 

of the Board from time to time;

1.17 “Rights Offer”  any offer for subscription, with a right to 

renounce in favour of other persons, of 

any Shares to all holders of equity Shares 

pro rata to their shareholdings in the 

Company as at the date of such offer;

1.18 “Scheme”  the share option scheme contained in 

this document;

1.19 “Shares”  ordinary no par value shares in the 

stated share capital of the Company. The 

voting, dividend, transfer and other 

rights, including those arising on a 

liquidation of the issuer, attaching to the 

shares and to any options rank pari 

passu with all the remaining ordinary no 

par value shares in the stated share 

capital of the Company;

 [Schedule 14.1(e)];

1.20 “Strike Price”  the strike price in 5.1.3 of the Scheme.

2. PURPOSE
 2.1 The Scheme is intended:

  •  as an incentive to the Participants to identify themselves 

more closely with the activities of the Company and to 

promote its continued growth by giving them the 

opportunity of acquiring Shares through the grant of 

Options and is not intended to be utilised for trading 

purposes;

  •  as an incentive to attract and recruit suitable directors 

with the necessary skills and experience to add value to 

the Company; and

  •  as an incentive to each of the Employees, to render 

on-going services to the Company.

   The terms and conditions attaching to Options provided for 

in this Scheme have been agreed to and are recorded in this 

document.

3. ELIGIBILITY [Schedule 14.1(a)]

 3.1  The terms and conditions of the Scheme shall only apply to 

the Participants.

 3.2  To qualify for Options to be granted in terms of this 

Scheme, a Participant must be either an Employee or a non-

executive Director of the Company. Options are granted at 

the discretion of the Remuneration Committee of the Board 

taking into consideration:
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  • performance,

  • value added services,

  • commitment,

  •  diligence and performing at levels above and beyond 

the call of duty, and

  •  the need to incentivise suitable candidates to accept 

appointments to the Board as non-executive Directors. 

[Schedule 14.1f]

 3.3  The persons identified in 3.1 shall be eligible to and shall 

participate in the Scheme only if and to the extent that 

Options are granted to them in terms of this Scheme.

4. GENERAL CONDITIONS
 4.1  No Options granted to any Participant in terms of the 

Scheme shall exceed a number of Shares, which, together 

with any Shares granted in terms of the Scheme, would 

exceed 124 833 855 Shares. [Schedule 14.1(b)]

 4.2  The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be 

issued or transferred to any one Participant and accordingly 

in respect of which Options may be granted to any one 

Participant in terms of this Scheme shall be limited to 

41 611 285 Shares. [Schedule 14.1(c)]

 4.3  The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be 

issued or transferred to any one non-executive director 

shall be limited to a maximum of 41 611 285 Shares.

 4.4  Cumulatively, all Shares forming the subject matter of any 

share option scheme or share incentive scheme of the 

Company, including this Scheme, shall not exceed 

124 833 855 Shares.

5. OPTIONS
 5.1  Terms and Conditions attaching to the Options granted in 

terms of this Scheme

  • Each Option referred to in 5.1.3:

 5.1.1  shall be subject to the provisions of this Scheme;

 5.1.2  shall be personal to the grantee to whom it is addressed, 

and may only be accepted by him/her and may not be 

ceded or otherwise assigned by him/her;

 5.1.3  shall be an option to purchase the number of Shares 

specified by the Directors at the Strike Price, payable in 

terms of the Scheme; [Schedule 14.1(d(i))]

 5.1.4  shall be exercised by notice in writing delivered to the 

Company secretary; and

 5.1.5  may be exercised in part (but only for 100 Shares or 

multiples thereof) or in full;

  •  An Option shall constitute the whole contract between 

the Company and a grantee and the Company shall 

prior to their allotment and issue, apply for a listing on 

the JSE of all shares forming the subject matter of such 

Option.

  •  Each of the Participants shall have the irrevocable right 

and option to accept Options granted in terms of this 

Scheme at a strike price consisting of:

 5.1.6  at the Date of Appointment, the 15 day volume weighted 

average price per Share on the JSE as at the Date of 

Appointment; and

 5.1.7  thereafter, for any subsequent Options granted in terms of 

this Scheme, the 15 day volume weighted average price per 

Share on the JSE as at the Grant Date. [Schedule 14.1(d)(ii)]

  •  Options are exercisable, cumulatively, on or after the 

Date of Appointment or the subsequent Date of Grant 

as follows:

 5.1.8  on or after the Date of Appointment or subsequent Date of 

Grant (as to 50%);

 5.1.9  on or after the first anniversary of the Date of appointment 

or the subsequent Date of Grant (as to 25%); subject to 

each of the relevant Participants, as the case may be, still 

remaining as Participants of the Company respectively; and

 5.1.10  on or after the second anniversary of the Date of 

Appointment or the subsequent Date of Grant (as to 25%), 

subject to each of the relevant Participants, as the case may 

be, still remaining as Participants of the Company 

respectively.

 5.2  Termination of employment or relationship with the 

Company [Schedule 14.1(h)]

   On the date of termination of the employment of a 

Participant who is an Employee or, in the case of a 

Participant who is a non-executive Director, the termination 

of such non-executive Director’s appointment to the Board, 

in circumstances other than in the circumstances 

contemplated in 5.2.1 or 5.2.2, all share Options not yet 

exercised shall lapse;

  •  if any Participant who is an Employee ceases to be an 

Employee, or in the case of any Participant who is a 

non-executive Director of the Company, the non-

executive Director’s appointment is terminated, for any 

reason not approved by the Directors from time to time 

(including without being limited to summary dismissal, 

proven dishonesty, fraudulent or grossly negligent 

conduct), then all of the Options that may become 

exercisable on or after the date of termination will lapse 

immediately on the date of termination and may not be 

exercised by the Participant thereafter.

  •  if any Participant who is an Employee ceases to be an 

Employee, or in the case of any Participant who is a 

non-executive Director of the Company, the non-

executive Director’s appointment is terminated, as a 

result of his death, the executors or administrators of 
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his estate or his heirs shall be entitled to exercise all of 

the Participant’s share Options within a period of 2 

(two) years from the date of the death of the 

Participant. A share option shall lapse upon the 

sequestration, whether provisionally or finally, of a 

Participant’s estate or upon the voluntary surrender by 

any Participant of his estate.

  •  if any Participant who is an Employee ceases to be an 

Employee, or in the case of any Participant who is a 

non-executive Director of the Company, the non-

executive Director’s appointment is terminated, as a 

result of his retirement, permanent disability or 

permanent incapacity, the Participant shall have a 

period of (two) years in which to exercise all or any 

multiple of 100 (one hundred) of his share Options.

  •  if any Participant who is an Employee who leaves the 

employment of the Company, or in the case of any 

Participant who is a Director, resigns as a Director, then 

all of the Options that may become exercisable on or 

after the date of termination will lapse immediately on 

the date of termination and all of the options must be 

exercised by the Participant within 30 calendar days 

after the date of termination.

  •  all or any of the Options granted in terms of this Scheme 

may be exercised immediately by any Participant if at 

any time whilst any Option remains unexercised, there 

is a “change in control” in the Company (within the 

meaning of the Companies Act), as amended or 

substituted from time to time, and causing the 

termination of the Participant’s position as Employee or 

Director. [Schedule 14.1(g)]

 5.3  Registration and release of Shares pursuant to the exercise 

of an Option

   Within 30 days after the exercise of an Option, whether in 

part (in which case only in multiples of 100 Shares) or in 

full, and on payment of the Strike Price, the Directors shall 

allot and issue Shares represented by the exercised Options 

on the terms and conditions detailed in 5.1, provided that 

except where the Directors in their absolute discretion 

decide otherwise, a grantee shall not be entitled to exercise 

part or the whole or his/her Option except on a cumulative 

basis, to an extent exceeding the limits in 5.1.5. [14.1(d)(iii)]

 5.4 Rights Offers [Schedule 14.3b]

   In the event of a Rights Offer by the Company of any Shares 

for subscription (“Rights Offer Shares”), then:

 5.4.1  the Directors shall include in the Options held by each 

Participant, a further Option to acquire such additional 

number of Shares as would have been offered to each 

Participant in terms of such Rights Offer, if he/she had been 

the registered holder of the Shares forming the subject 

matter of the Options previously granted to such 

Participant, at a price equal to the Rights Offer price thereof 

(“Additional Option”); and

 5.4.2  the Additional Options will be continued to be governed by 

the provisions of the Scheme as if the Additional Options 

had been included in the option as granted in terms of 5.1, 

and in particular the provisions of 5.2 shall apply to the 

Additional Options, the date for the purposes of calculating 

the relevant anniversaries being the date on which such 

Additional Options were granted to each Participant.

  •  Likewise, if in the event of a Rights Offer by the 

Company of Convertible Securities, then the provisions 

of 5.4.1.1 and 5.4.1.2 shall apply with the necessary 

changes so that each Participant will acquire a further 

Option to acquire such Convertible Securities as would 

have been offered to each Participant in terms of the 

Rights Offer if he/she had been the registered holder of 

the Shares forming the subject matter of the Options 

previously granted to such Participant.

 5.5 Capitalisation Issues [Schedule 14.3b]

   In the event of the allotment and issue of any Shares by the 

Company to its shareholders by way of a Capitalisation 

Issue, the number of Shares in respect of which an Option is 

held by each Participant at the date of such Capitalisation 

Issue, will automatically be increased with effect from the 

Date of Appointment or subsequent Date of Grant of the 

Option so held, by a number of Shares equal to the number 

of capitalisation shares which would have accrued to each 

Participant in terms of such Capitalisation Issue in respect 

of the Shares, subject to his/her Options as if he/she had 

been the registered holder thereof, but the Strike Price for 

each such increased number of Shares, shall be reduced to 

a price equal to a pro rata proportion of the total price 

payable by such grantee in respect of all Shares for which 

such grantee held that Option immediately prior to that 

Capitalisation Issue.

 5.6  Sub division or consolidation of shares in issue

 [Schedule 14.3a]

   In the event of a sub division or consolidation of the 

number of Shares in issue, the number of Shares in respect 

of which an Option is held by each Participant at the date of 

such sub division or consolidation will automatically be 

adjusted with effect from the Date of Appointment or 

subsequent Date of Grant of the Option so held, by a 

number of Shares equal to the number of shares which 

would have accrued to each Participant in terms of such 

sub division or consolidation issue in respect of the Shares.

 5.7  Issue of securities for an acquisition, issue of securities for 

cash and issue of securities for a vendor consideration 

[Schedule 14.3c]

  

ANNEXURE 2 – AMENDED SHARE OPTION SCHEME CONTINUED
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   The issue of securities for an acquisition, the issue of 

securities for cash and the issue of securities for a vendor 

consideration will not be regarded as a circumstance 

requiring adjustment to a Participant’s entitlement to share 

Options in terms of this Scheme.

 5.8 Expiry

   If, on the expiry of 10 years after the Date of Appointment 

or the subsequent Date of Grant of any Option to a 

Participant, such Participant has not exercised his/her 

options in full, then the Directors shall be obliged and 

authorised to call upon him/her in writing to do so within 

30 days after the date of such request, and if such 

Participant fails to comply with such request, or exercises 

his/her option in respect of only 100 Shares or any multiple 

thereof, that part of the relevant Option not exercised will 

automatically lapse.

6. DISPUTES
  Any dispute arising under the Scheme shall be referred to the 

senior partner of the Auditors of the Company or his nominee, 

who shall act in accordance with the Arbitration Act, 1965, and 

whose decision shall be final and binding.

7. AMENDMENT OF SCHEME [Schedule 14.2]

  The Directors may, from time to time, subject to the approval of 

the JSE or any other recognised exchange on which the Shares may 

be listed at the relevant time, by resolution, amend all or any of 

the provisions of the Scheme, whether retrospectively or 

otherwise, provided that no such amendment affecting:

 7.1  the category of persons entitled to participate in the 

Scheme;

 7.2  the total number of Options and Shares subject to the 

Scheme;

 7.3  the maximum number of Options and Shares which may be 

allocated to any Participant;

 7.4  the amount payable on exercise of an Option;

 7.5  the basis for determining the Strike Price;

 7.6  the provisions relating to the payment of the Strike Price;

 7.7  the basis on which the award of Options are made;

 7.8  the treatment of Options (vested and unvested) in instances 

of a merger, takeover or other corporate action;

 7.9  the provisions relating to termination of employment or 

retirement of a Participant; and

 7.10  the voting, dividend, transfer and other rights attaching to 

the Options,

  shall be made, unless approved by members of the Company in 

general meeting by not less than 75 per cent majority of the votes 

cast by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 

general meeting to approve such resolution.

8. ADMINISTRATION
  The Company and its subsidiaries will bear all costs of and 

incidental to the implementation and administration of the 

Scheme including any securities transfer tax payable in respect of 

the issue or transfer of any Shares forming the subject matter of 

the Options.

9. DURATION OF THE SCHEME
  The Scheme shall continue for an indefinite period of time until 

terminated by a resolution of the Directors provided that such 

termination shall not affect or modify any existing accrued or 

vested rights or obligations of any Participant, the Scheme shall 

continue to be administered by the Company for so long as it may 

be necessary to give effect thereto.

10. LISTING OF SHARES
  The Board shall, on registration of any Shares in the name of the 

Participants, make application for a listing, quotation and 

permission to deal in such Shares on the JSE.

11. SUMMARY IN ANNUAL REPORT [Schedule 14.8]

  A summary of the number of Shares in respect of which Options 

have been granted to the Participants as at the beginning of the 

financial year, the number of Shares in respect of which Options 

have been granted to the Participants during the year, the number 

of Shares in respect of which Options have been exercised by the 

Participants during the year, the number of Shares in respect of 

which Options have lapsed and the number of Shares in respect of 

which the Participants can still exercise options as at the year end, 

shall be included in the annual financial statements in the annual 

report to members of the Company. The valuation model used, 

including inputs used for fair valuing Options granted, shall also be 

disclosed in the annual financial statements.

12. INTERPRETATION
 12.1 Unless the context requires otherwise:

  •  words importing any one gender shall include the other 

two genders;

  •  the singular shall include the plural and vice versa;

  •  a reference to natural persons shall include created 

entities (corporate or unincorporated) and vice versa.

 12.2  The headings have been inserted for convenience only and 

shall not be used for nor assist or affect its interpretation.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that an annual general meeting of shareholders of 
the Company will be held on 30 November 2012 at 10:00 at 2nd Floor, 
The Gabba Dimension Data Campus, 57 Sloane Street, Bryanston, to deal 
with such business as may lawfully be dealt with at the annual general 
meeting and to consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without 
modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out hereunder in 
the manner required by the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended 
“(the Companies Act”), the memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”) of 
the Company and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE 
Listings Requirements”).

The record date on which members must be recorded as such in the 
register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the Company for the 
purpose of being entitled to attend and vote at the annual general 
meeting is 23 November 2012.

Annual general meeting participants (including shareholders and 
proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification 
before being entitled to attend or participate at the annual general 
shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
  ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2012
  “Resolved that the annual financial statements of the Company 

and its subsidiaries, which includes the directors’ report and audit 
committee report for the year ended 29 February 2012 be and are 
hereby adopted.“

  The consolidated audited annual financial statements of the 
Company (as approved by the board of directors of the Company), 
incorporating the external auditor, audit committee and directors’ 
reports for the year ended 29 February 2012, have been 
distributed as required and will be presented.

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

  The complete annual financial statements are set out on pages 46 
to 84 of the integrated annual report posted to shareholders on 31 
August 2012.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
  RE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS WHO RETIRE BY 

ROTATION
  “Resolved that shareholders re-elect each by way of a separate 

vote, the following directors who retire by rotation in terms of 
article 15.1 of the Company’s MOI, and who, being eligible, have 
offered themselves for re-election:

2.1 Gontse Moseneke
2.2 Richard Linnell
  Brief biographies in respect of each director offering himself for 

re-election are contained on pages 16 to 19 of the integrated 
annual report.

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
 RE APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
  “Resolved that shareholders authorise the Board of Directors of 

the Company (‘the Board’) to re-appoint Ernst & Young Inc., 
Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, Johannesburg, 
2196, South Africa as the independent external auditors and Iwan 
Grobler as the individual designated auditor of the Company for 
the ensuing year and to determine the remuneration of the 
auditors.”

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
  RE ELECTION OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

MEMBERS
  “Resolved that shareholders re-elect, each by way of a separate 

vote, the following independent, non-executive directors, as 
members of the SacOil Audit and Risk committee, with effect from 
the end of this annual general meeting until the conclusion of the 
next annual general meeting of the Company:

4.1 Bill Guest (Chairman)
4.2 Richard Linnell
4.3 John Bentley
  Brief biographies of these directors offering themselves for 

re-election as members of the SacOil Audit and Risk committee 
are enclosed in the report on pages 16 to 17 of the integrated 
annual report.

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
 ENDORSEMENT OF SACOIL REMUNERATION POLICY
  “Resolved that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding 

advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy (excluding the 
remuneration of the non-executive directors and the members of 
board committees for their services as directors and member of 
committee), as set out in the integrated annual report on page 38.”

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO DIRECTORS TO ALLOT AND 

ISSUE AUTHORISED BUT UNISSUED ORDINARY 
SHARES

  “Resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the 
control and authority of the directors of the Company and that the 
directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised and 
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empowered to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such ordinary 
shares to such person or persons on such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the directors of the Company may from time 
to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE 
Listings Requirements, when applicable, such authority to remain 
in force until the next annual general meeting.”

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
 GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES FOR CASH
  “Resolved that subject to the general authority proposed in terms 

of ordinary resolution number 6 above and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the directors be and are hereby granted a general 
authority to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, for cash, as and 
when they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies 
Act, the MOI of the Company, the JSE Listings Requirements, when 
applicable, and the following limitations, namely that:

 •  the equity securities which are the subject of the issue for cash 
must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are 
convertible into a class already in issue;

 •  any such issue will only be made to “public shareholders” as 
defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not related 
parties, unless the JSE otherwise agrees;

 •  the number of ordinary shares issued for cash shall not in the 
aggregate in any one financial year exceed 15% (fifteen 
percent) of the Company’s issued share capital of ordinary 
shares. The number of ordinary shares which may be issued 
shall be based on the number of ordinary shares in issue, 
added to those that may be issued in future (arising from the 
conversion of options/convertibles) at the date of such 
application, less any ordinary shares issued, or to be issued in 
future arising from options/convertible ordinary shares issued 
during the current financial year, plus any ordinary shares to 
be issued pursuant to a rights issue which has been announced, 
is irrevocable and fully underwritten, or an acquisition which 
has had final terms announced;

 •  this authority be valid until the Company’s next annual general 
meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) 
months from the date that this authority is given;

 •  a paid press announcement giving full details, including the 
impact on the net asset value and earnings per ordinary share, 
will be published at the time of any AIM requires every issue to 
be announced; and

 •  in determining the price at which an issue of shares may be 
made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average 
traded price on the JSE of those ordinary shares over the 
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the 
issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the Company.”

  In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the approval of 75% 
majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or represented 

by proxy at this annual general meeting will be required for this 
authority to become effective.

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
 AUTHORITY TO SIGN ALL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
  “Resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and special 

resolutions at the annual general meeting, any director of the 
Company or the Company Secretary shall be and are hereby 
authorised to sign all documents and perform all acts which may 
be required to give effect to such ordinary and special resolutions.”

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9
  APPROVAL OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE 

SACOIL SHARE OPTION SCHEME
  “Resolved that, the SacOil Share Option Scheme be and is hereby 

amended as follows:

 DEFINITIONS
 1.  By deleting the definition of “Directors” in its entirety and 

replacing it with: 
  “Directors”   the directors of the Company 

from time to time including non-
executive directors but excluding 
independent non-executive 
directors;

 2. By adding the following definition:
  “Listings Requirements”  the listings requirements of the 

JSE;

 3. By adding the following definition:
  “Option”   an option granted to each of the 

Participants pursuant to the 
Scheme;

 4.  By deleting the definition of “Participants” in its entirety and 
replacing it with: 

  “Participants”  Employees and Directors of the 
Company for the time being who 
are nominated by the 
Remuneration Committee of the 
Board to be Participants;

 CLAUSES
 5.  By deleting the body of clause 2. in its entirety and replacing 

it with:
  The Scheme is intended:
  5.1  as an incentive to the Participants to identify 

themselves more closely with the activities of the 
Company and to promote its continued growth by 
giving them the opportunity of acquiring Shares 
through the grant of Options and is  not intended to 
be utilised for trading purposes;

  5.2   as an incentive to attract and recruit suitable Directors 
with the necessary skills and experience to add value 
to the Company; and

  5.3   as an incentive to each of the Employees, to render 
on-going services to the Company.

   The terms and conditions attaching to Options provided for 



106
SACO

IL H
O

LD
IN

G
S LIM

ITED
 

IN
TEG

RATED
 A

N
N

U
A

L REPO
RT 2012

in this Scheme have been agreed to and are recorded in this 
document.

 6.  By deleting the body of clause 3. in its entirety and replacing 
it with:

  6.1  The terms and conditions of the Scheme shall only 
apply to the Participants;

  6.2  To qualify for Options to be granted in terms of this 
Scheme, a Participant must be either an Employee or 
a non-executive Director of the Company. Options are 
granted at the sole discretion of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Board after taking 
into consideration:

   6.2.1 performance, 
   6.2.2 value added services, 
   6.2.3 commitment, 
   6.2.4  diligence and performing at levels going above 

and beyond the call of duty, and 
   6.2.5  the need to incentivise suitable candidates to 

accept appointments to the Board as non-
executive Directors. 

  6.3  Participants shall be eligible to and shall participate in 
the Scheme only if and to the extent that Options are 
granted to them in terms of this Scheme.

 7.  By deleting the body of clause 4. in its entirety and replacing 
it with :

  7.1   No Options granted to any Participant in terms of the 
Scheme shall exceed a number  of Shares, which, 
together with any Shares granted in terms of the 
Scheme, would exceed 124 833 855 of Shares. 

  7.2   The maximum aggregate number of Shares which 
may be issued or transferred to any one Participant 
and accordingly in respect of which Options may be 
granted to any one Participant in terms of this Scheme 
shall be limited to 41 611 285 of Shares.

  7.3  The maximum aggregate number of Shares which 
may be issued or transferred to any one non-executive 
director shall be limited to a maximum of 41 611 285 
Shares.

  7.4   Cumulatively, all Shares forming the subject matter of 
any share option scheme or share incentive scheme 
of the Company, including this Scheme, shall not 
exceed 124 833 855 of Shares.”

10. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ACQUIRE REPURCHASE  

SHARES
  “Resolved that the Company be and is hereby authorised by way 

of a general authority as contemplated in section 48 of the 
Companies Act, and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, to 
acquire from time to time any or all of the issued ordinary shares 
of the Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such 
amounts as the directors of the Company may from time to time 
determine, but subject to the MOI of the Company and the 
provisions of the Companies Act, when applicable and provided 
that:

 •  Any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected 
through the order book operated by the JSE trading system 
and done without any prior understanding or arrangement 
with the counterparty;

 •  This general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the 
Company’s next annual general meeting or the variation or 
revocation of such general authority by special resolution at 
any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided 
that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of 
passing of this special resolution number 1;

 •  An announcement will be published as soon as the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries have acquired ordinary shares 
constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of 
ordinary shares in issue and for each 3% in aggregate of the 
initial number acquired thereafter, in compliance with 
paragraph 11.27 of the JSE Listings Requirements;

 •  Acquisitions of ordinary shares in aggregate in any one 
financial year may not exceed 20% of the Company’s ordinary 
issued share capital, as the case may be, as at the date of 
passing of this special resolution number 1;

 •  Ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater than 
10% above the weighted average of the market value at which 
such ordinary shares for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date the transaction is effected. The JSE should 
be consulted for a ruling if the Company’s securities have not 
traded in such five business day period;

 •  The Company has been given authority by its MOI;
 •  At any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries may 

only appoint one agent to effect any such acquisition;
 •  The Company and/or its subsidiaries undertaking that they will 

not enter the market to so acquire the Company’s shares until 
the Company’s sponsor has provided written confirmation to 
the JSE regarding the adequacy of the Company’s working 
capital in accordance with Schedule 25 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements;

 •  A resolution has been passed by the board of directors 
confirming that the Board has authorised the general 
repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency and 
liquidity test and that since the test was done, there have been 
no material changes to the financial position of the Group; and

 •  The Company and/or its subsidiaries not acquiring any shares 
during a prohibited period, as defined in the JSE Listings 
Requirements unless a repurchase programme is in place, 
where dates and quantities of shares to be traded during the 
prohibited period are fixed and full details of the programme 
have been disclosed in an announcement over the Securities 
Exchange News Service prior to the commencement of the 
prohibited period.”

 •  The directors undertake that they will not effect a general 
repurchase of shares as contemplated above unless the 
following can be met:

  o  the Company and the Group would in the ordinary course 
of their business be able to pay their debts for a period of 
12 months after the date of the notice of the annual 
general meeting;

  o  the consolidated assets of the Company and the Group 
would exceed the consolidated liabilities of the Company 
and the Group, for a period of 12 months after the date of 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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the notice of the annual general meeting respectively, such 
assets and liabilities being fairly valued and recognised and 
measured in accordance with the latest accounting policies 
used in the financial statements contained in the integrated 
annual report;

  o  the issued share capital and reserves of the Company and 
the Group would be adequate for a period of 12 months 
after the date of the notice of the annual general meeting for 
the purposes of the Company and the Group’s business; and

  o  the Company and the Group’s working capital would be 
adequate for the requirements for a period of 12 months 
after the date of the annual general meeting.

  The JSE Listings Requirements require, in terms of section 11.26, 
the following disclosures, which appear in the integrated annual 
report:

 •  Directors and management – refer to pages 16 to 19 of the 
integrated annual report.

 •  Major shareholders – refer to page 85 of the integrated annual 
report.

 •  Directors’ interests in securities – refer to pages 33 and 85 of 
the integrated annual report.

 •  Share capital of the Company – refer to page 74 of the 
integrated annual report.

 LITIGATION STATEMENT
  In terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the 

directors, whose names appear on pages 16 to 19 of the integrated 
annual report of which this notice of annual general meeting 
forms part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings 
that are pending or threatened, that may have or had in the recent 
past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect on 
the SacOil group’s financial position.

 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
  The directors, whose names appear on pages 16 to 19 of the 

integrated annual report, collectively and individually accept full 
responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to 
this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted 
which would make any statements false or misleading, and that all 
reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and 
that this special resolution contains all information required by 
law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

 MATERIAL CHANGES
  Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 

integrated annual report, there have been no material changes in 
the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries 
since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date 
of the notice of annual general meeting.

  The directors have no specific intention, at present, for the 
Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the Company’s 
shares but consider that such a general authority should be put in 
place should an opportunity present itself to do so during the year, 
which is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

  The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best 
interests of the Company to extend such general authority and 
thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in a 
position to acquire the shares issued by the Company through the 
order book of the JSE, should the market conditions, tax 
dispensation and price justify such an action.

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

  REASON AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1

  The reason and effect for special resolution number 1 is to grant 
the Company general authority to acquire its own issued ordinary 
shares on such terms, conditions and such amounts determined 
from time to time by the directors of the Company by the 
limitations set out above.

  Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
directors of the Company hereby state:

 •  The directors of the Company have no specific intention to 
effect the provisions of special resolution number 1 but will, 
however, continually review this position having regard to 
prevailing circumstances.

 •  The intention of the Company and/or its subsidiaries is to utilize 
the general authority to repurchase if at some future date the 
cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements.

 •  The method by which the Company and any of its subsidiaries 
intends to repurchase its securities and the date on which such 
repurchase will take place, has not yet been determined.

11.  SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2: 
REMUNERATION OF NON EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

  “Resolved that the Board and committee fees for non-executive 
directors for the financial year ending 28 February 2013, as set out 
in the note below, be and are hereby authorised, in accordance 
with section 66 (8) – (9) of the Companies Act and that the 
Company may continue to pay directors’ fees at the annual rates 
specified in the note below, for the period from 28 February 2013 
until the Company’s 2013 annual general meeting.”

Name of director Annual Fee (paid monthly in arrears)

Richard Linnell R350 000
John Bentley £30 000
Bill Guest £30 000
Colin Bird £30 000
Gontse Moseneke R200 000

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

REASON AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 2
The Companies Act requires shareholder approval of directors’ fees prior 
to payment of such fees.
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12. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
  FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN TERMS OF SECTION 44 

AND 45 OF THE COMPANIES ACT
  “Resolved that the board of directors of the Company be and is 

hereby authorised subject to section 44 and 45 of the Companies 
Act, the Company’s MOI and the JSE Listing Requirements, 
authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the Company or of 
a related or interrelated Company, to a related or interrelated 
Company or corporation, or to a member of a related or 
interrelated corporation, or to a person related to any such 
Company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or member, 
provided that no such financial assistance may be provided at any 
time in terms of this authority after the expiry of two years from 
the date of the adoption of this special resolution number 3.”

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

  REASON AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 3

  The reason for, and effect of, the special resolution referred to 
above, is to permit the Company to provide direct or indirect 
financial assistance to the entities referred to above.

  “This notice constitutes notice in terms of section 45 (5) of the 
Companies Act that the Board has passed the same resolution, 
which resolution will take effect on the passing of special 
resolution number 3 set out above.”

13.  SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4: ADOPTION 
OF THE MOI

  It is RESOLVED, by way of a special resolution, that a new 
Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”), attached to this notice of 
annual general meeting, will supersede the current Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the Company, the complete MOI 
having been initialled by the chairman of this meeting for 
identification purposes and tabled at this meeting, be and is 
hereby ratified and approved.

  The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes exercised 
on the resolution.

 REASON AND EFFECT
  The reason and effect of the special resolution is that the Company 

wishes to adopt a new Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) to 
replace the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association 
before 1 May 2013, as required by the Companies Act.

VOTING INSTRUCTIONS
In terms of the Companies Act, any member entitled to attend and vote 
at the above annual general meeting may appoint one or more persons 
as proxy, to attend and speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be 
a member of the Company. Forms of proxy must be deposited at the 
office of the transfer secretaries not later than 48 hours before the time 

fixed for the annual general meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 
public holidays).

If your SacOil ordinary shares have been dematerialised and are held in 
a nominee account, then your Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, should contact you to ascertain 
how you wish to cast your vote at the annual general meeting and 
thereafter cast your vote in accordance with your instructions.

If you have not been contacted it would be advisable for you to contact 
your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, and furnish them with your 
instructions. If your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, does not obtain 
instructions from you, they will be obliged to act in terms of your 
mandate furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in this regard to 
abstain from voting.

Dematerialised shareholders whose ordinary shares are held in a 
nominee account must not complete the attached form of proxy. Unless 
you advise your CSDP or broker timeously in terms of the agreement 
between yourself and your CSDP or broker by the cut-off time advised by 
them that you wish to attend the annual general meeting or send a 
proxy to represent you at the annual general meeting, your CSDP or 
broker will assume you do not wish to attend the annual general meeting 
or send a proxy. If you wish to attend the annual general meeting, your 
CSDP or broker will issue the necessary letter of representation to you to 
attend the annual general meeting.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a 
CSDP or broker, other than “own name” registered dematerialised 
shareholders, who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with a letter of representation, 
or they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the relevant custody agreement/mandate entered into 
between them and the CSDP or broker.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
It is requested that forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the 
Company’s transfer secretaries at the address given below by no later 
than Wednesday, 28 November 2012.

In terms of section 63 (2) and 63 (3) of the Companies Act, shareholders 
or their proxies may participate at the annual general meeting by way of 
telephone conference call and, if they wish to do so:
•  Must contact the Company Secretary (by email to the address 

melinda@fusioncorp.co.za) by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 
28 November 2012 in order to obtain a pin number and dial-in details 
for that conference call;

•  Will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification; 
and

•  Will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for 
their telephone call to participate at the annual general meeting.

Melinda Gous
By order of the Board
24 August 2012

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
AND PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS

1. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
  The ordinary business to be considered at the annual general 

meeting of the Company is more fully governed in terms of the 

MOI of the Company. In short, the ordinary business at an annual 

general meeting is to receive and consider the annual financial 

statements, to declare or sanction dividends (where applicable), 

to elect directors, auditors and other officers in the place of those 

retiring by rotation or otherwise and to elect the audit committee. 

No special business shall be transacted at an annual general 

meeting unless due notice thereof has been given.

2. ROTATION OF DIRECTORS
  The rotation of directors is fully governed in terms of articles 15.1 

of the MOI of the Company, which requires one-third of the 

directors to retire from office at the annual general meeting. The 

retiring directors at each annual general meeting shall be those 

who have been longest in office since their last election or 

appointment. If at the date of the annual general meeting any 

director will have held office for a period of three years since his 

last election or appointment he shall retire at such meeting either 

as one of the directors to retire in pursuance of the foregoing or 

additionally thereto. A retiring director shall act as a director 

throughout the meeting at which he retires. The retiring directors 

shall be eligible for re-election. Gontse Moseneke and Richard 

Linnell offer themselves for re-election.

3. RE APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
  The Audit and Risk Committee considered and assessed the 

independence of the external auditor, Ernst & Young Inc., 

Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, Johannesburg, 

2196, South Africa in accordance with section 90 of the Companies 

Act. The Audit and Risk Committee were satisfied with Ernst & 

Young Inc.’s independence. Furthermore, the SacOil Audit and Risk 

committee has, in terms of paragraph 3.86 of the JSE Listings 

Requirements, considered and satisfied itself that Iwan Grobler 

the reporting accountant and individual auditor, is accredited to 

appear on the JSE List of Accredited Auditors, in compliance with 

section 22 of the JSE Listings Requirements. The Audit and Risk 

committee nominated the reappointment of Ernst & Young Inc. as 

registered auditor for the 2012/2013 financial year, with Iwan 

Grobler as the individual designated auditor of the Company for 

the ensuing year. The Board has accepted the recommendation of 

the Audit committee subject to shareholder approval as required 

in terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act.

  The auditors will remain the appointed auditors until the 

conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company. 

The remuneration of the auditors shall be fixed by agreement with 

the Company.

4.  RE ELECTION OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS

  In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Company must 

elect an Audit and Risk committee comprising at least three 

members. The Audit and Risk committee is no longer a committee 

of the Board, but a committee elected by the shareholders at each 

annual general meeting. The proposed members of the Audit and 

Risk committee have experience in audit, accounting, economics, 

human resources, commerce and general industry, among others.

  The Board confirms that Bill Guest, Richard Linnell and John 

Bentley are independent non-executive directors as contemplated 

in the King III Code of Governance Principles for South Africa and 

the JSE Listings Requirements. Each member of the Audit and Risk 

committee of the Company is a suitably qualified and skilled 

director of the Company. The members of the committee are not 

involved in the day-to-day management of the business or have 

not been so involved at any time of the previous financial year. 

None of the members is a prescribed officer or full-time employee 

of the Company or another related or inter-related company, or 

have been such an officer or employee at any time during the 

previous three financial years. None of the members were a 

material supplier or customer of the Company.

5.  ENDORSEMENT OF SACOIL’S REMUNERATION 
POLICY

  The endorsement of SacOil’s remuneration policy is of an advisory 

nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not 

have any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements. 

However, the Board will take the outcome of the vote into 

consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration 

policy in the remuneration of executive directors.

6.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO DIRECTORS TO ALLOT 
AND ISSUE AUTHORISED BUT UNISSUED 
ORDINARY SHARES

  In terms of the Company’s MOI, the Board might, with the prior 

approval of the Company in general meeting, subject to the 

Statutes and the approval of the Listings Division of the JSE (where 

necessary) issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the 

Company to such person or persons on such terms and conditions 

and with such rights or restrictions attached thereto as the 

directors may determine.

  The existing general authorities granted by the shareholders at the 

previous annual general meeting, held on 17 November 2011, will 

expire at the annual general meeting to be held on 30 November 

2012, unless renewed. The authorities will be subject to the 

Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. The aggregate 

number of ordinary shares able to be allotted and issued in terms 

of this authority is limited as set out in the respective resolutions.
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  The directors request shareholder approval for the renewal of this 

authority as it would be advantageous for the business to make 

use of the authority if opportunities arise.

7.  GENERAL AUTHORISATION TO ISSUE SHARES 
FOR CASH

 This enables the directors to issue shares for cash.

8.  AUTHORITY TO SIGN ALL REQUIRED 
DOCUMENTS

  This requests authority to be given to any director or the Company 

Secretary to sign such documents and execute such actions as will 

be required to register and give effect to the resolutions passed.

9.  APPROVAL OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 
THE SACOIL SHARE OPTION SCHEME

  To authorise the proposed amendments to the current SacOil 

Share Option Scheme.

10.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ACQUIRE 
REPURCHASE  SHARES

  This is to grant the Company and its subsidiaries a general 

authority to facilitate the acquisition by the Company and/or its 

subsidiaries of the Company’s own shares, which general authority 

shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual general meeting 

of the Company, provided that this general authority shall not 

extend beyond 15 months from the date of the passing of this 

special resolution number 1.

11.  REMUNERATION OF NON EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

  In terms of section 66(8) – (9) of the Companies Act, 

remuneration may only be paid to directors, for their service as 

directors, in accordance with a special resolution approved by 

the shareholders within the previous two years and if not 

prohibited in terms of a Company’s MOI.

12.  FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN TERMS OF SECTION 
44 AND 45 OF THE COMPANIES ACT

  This general authority will greatly assist the Company inter alia 

with making inter-company loans to subsidiaries as well as 

granting letters of support and guarantees in appropriate 

circumstances. The existence of a general shareholder authority 

will avoid the need to refer each instance to members for 

approval which might impede the negotiations and add time and 

expense. If approved, this general authority will expire at the end 

of two years.

  This general authority also authorises financial assistance to any 

of the Company’s directors, or prescribed officers or to any other 

person who is a beneficiary of the share incentive scheme in 

order to facilitate their participation.

  The Board must when considering such assistance either for the 

specific recipient, or generally for a category ensure that:

 •  The company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test 

immediately after providing the financial assistance; and

 •  The terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to 

be given are fair and reasonable to the company.

13.  ADOPTION OF MOI
  The Company wishes to adopt a new Memorandum of 

Incorporation (MOI) to replace the existing Memorandum and 

Articles of Association before 1 May 2013, as required by the 

Companies Act

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
AND PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS
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FORM OF PROXY

SACOIL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1993/000460/06)
(“SacOil” or “the Company”)
ISIN Code: ZAE 000127460 JSE Share Code: SCL AIM Share Code: SAC

FORM OF PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD AT 10:00 AT 2ND FLOOR, THE GABBA 
DIMENSION DATA CAMPUS, 57 SLOANE STREET, BRYANSTON, ON 30 NOVEMBER 2012  

FOR USE BY CERTIFICATED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 
WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION ONLY

Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares other than “own name” registration must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or 
broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend the 
annual general meeting in person or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general 
meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat.

I/We
(Please print)

Of (address)

Being the registered holder(s) of   ordinary shares in the capital of the Company do hereby appoint

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

The chairman of the annual general meeting as my/our proxy to act on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company which will be held 
on 30 November 2012 for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat 
and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the shares registered in my/our 
name/s, in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

 For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Adopting the financial statements

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of directors who retire by rotation

2.1 Gontse Moseneke

2.2 Richard Linnell

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Reappointment of external auditors

4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of Audit and Risk committee

 4.1 Bill Guest (Chairman)

4.2 Richard Linnell

4.3 John Bentley

5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Endorsement of SacOil’s remuneration policy

6. Ordinary resolution number 6: General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares

7. Ordinary resolution number 7: General authority to issue shares for cash

8. Ordinary resolution number 8: Authority to sign all required documents

9. Ordinary resolution number 9: Approval of the proposed amendments to SacOil Share Option Scheme

10. Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

11. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of non-executive directors

12. Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance in terms of section 44 and 45 of the Companies Act

13. Special resolution number 4: Adoption of the MOI

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, the proxy will be 
entitled to vote or abstain as he/she deems fit.

Signed at on  2012

Signature

Assisted by me (where applicable)
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FORM OF PROXY CONTINUED

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

•  a shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual 

(including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such 

shareholder;

•  a proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument 

appointing such proxy;

•  irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the 

relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;

•  any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise;

•  if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 

appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company;

•  a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except 

to the extent that the relevant company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise; and

•  if the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that appointment remains in 

effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder 

must be delivered by such company to:

 –  the relevant shareholder; or

 –  the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: (i) directed such company to do so, in writing and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by 

such company for doing so.

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
1.  An ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares by “own name” registration, or who holds shares that are not dematerialised, may insert 

the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting 

“the chairman of the annual general meeting”. The person whose name stands first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual general 

meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Should a proxy not be specified, this will be exercised by the 

chairman of the annual general meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

2.  An ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, to that proportion of the total votes in the Company which the 

aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held by him/her bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all the shares issued 

by the Company. An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by 

the ordinary shareholder in the appropriate box(es). An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum number of votes exercisable by that 

shareholder. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general 

meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of the entire shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. An ordinary shareholder or his/her proxy is not 

obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder, or to cast all those votes exercised in the same way, but the total of the votes 

cast and in respect whereof abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder.

3.  If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain 

from voting, or give contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may be properly put before the 

annual general meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

4.  The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and speaking 

and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms thereof.

5.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the proxy form in a representative capacity must be attached to this form, 

unless previously recorded by the Company or waved by the chairman of the annual general meeting.

6.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed and/or received other than in compliance 

with these notes.

7.  A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, to another person.

8.  It is requested that this proxy form should be completed and returned to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa 

(Proprietary) Limited, 13th Floor, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000), so as to reach them 

by no later than 28 November 2012.

9.  Should a shareholder lodge the proxy form with the transfer secretaries less than 24 hours before the annual general meeting, such shareholder 

will also be required to furnish a copy of such proxy form to the chairman of the annual general meeting before the appointed proxy exercises any 

such shareholder’s rights at the annual general meeting

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER SECRETARIES ON REQUEST
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ELECTION FORM

SACOIL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number:1993/000460/06)
(“SacOil” or “the Company”)
ISIN Code: ZAE 000127460 JSE Share Code: SCL AIM Share Code: SAC

To:

The Directors

SacOil Holdings Limited

I/We,  the undersigned

(please print)

of address

being the registered holder(s) of:  ordinary shares in the capital of the Company and/or

do hereby elect to receive any documents or notices from SacOil, by electronic post, to the extent that the Company is permitted to so distribute any 

notices, documents, records or statements in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and any and every other statute, ordinance, 

regulation or rule in force from time to time, including the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, concerning companies and affecting SacOil.

I/We hereby furnish the following email address and/or fax number for such electronic communication:

Email address

Fax number

Any written amendment or withdrawal of any such notice of consent by me/us, shall only take effect if signed by me/us and received by the Company.

Signed at on  2012

Signature

Assisted by me (where applicable)

1.  Please complete, detach and return this election form to SacOil’s 

Company Secretary, 

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd, 43 Sovereign Drive, 

Route 21 Office Park, Irene, 0157 (PO Box 68528, Highveld, 0169) 

by no later than 10:00 on 28 November 2012.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION:
The Republic of South Africa
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Public interested entity
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SHARE CODES:
JSE code: SCL Primary listing

AIM code: SAC Secondary listing
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REGISTERED OFFICE, DOMICILE AND PHYSICAL ADDRESS:
2nd Floor, The Gabba

Dimension Data Campus

57 Sloane Street

Bryanston

2021

POSTAL ADDRESS:
PostNet Suite 211

Private Bag X75

Bryanston

2021

CONTACT DETAILS:
Tel: +27 (0) 11 575 7232

Fax: +27 (0) 11 576 2258

Email: info@sacoilholdings.com

Website: www.sacoilholdings.com

ADVISERS:
Company Secretary Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Proprietary) Limited

Transfer Secretaries (SA) Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited

Transfer Secretaries (UK) Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited

Corporate Legal Advisers (SA & UK) Norton Rose

Auditors Ernst & Young Inc.

JSE Sponsor (SA) Nedbank Capital Limited
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ABOUT
THIS REPORT AND
SCOPE OF REPORTING

By reporti ng on the fi nancial and non-fi nancial performance of 
the Group, SacOil Holdings Limited’s integrated report aims to 
provide an understandable and complete view of the business for 
the Group’s shareholders, potenti al investors and stakeholders.

SacOil Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in South Africa in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and complies with the 

principles of King III, unless otherwise stated, the Companies Act and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and other legislative requirements. The 

Company subscribes to high ethical standards and principles of corporate governance. In addition, the Company also adheres to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) in compiling its annual financial statements. Accordingly, we will report not only on our financial performance for the year 

under review but also on all other non-financial indicators, including sustainability by disclosing information on safety, social, environmental and 

economic impacts and influences, both positive and negative, internal and external on all our stakeholders.

Considerable effort has been expended on presenting concise, focused information – the content of this integrated report is deemed to be useful and 

relevant to our stakeholders, enabling them to evaluate the ability of SacOil Holdings Limited to create and sustain stakeholder value. A combined 

Chairman and CEO’s report is provided, offering the reader a comprehensive, integrated, high level overview of the Group’s performance and outlook.

SCOPE OF REPORTING
This integrated report covers the financial year  ended 
29 February 2012 and is released within 2012. It 
provides an overview of the operations, financial 
performance and integrated sustainability across all 
operating subsidiaries.

More detailed additi onal informati on is provided on the Group’s website: www.sacoilholdings.com.
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INTEGRATED BUSINESS
SacOil Holdings’ commitment to an integrated and sustainable business 
approach is illustrated by its vision and mission as well as the deepening  
management resources in health, safety, environment, transformation 
and risk, aiding economic, social and environmental sustainability.
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